
Kermit Williams, District 7 
President 
Randy Carter, District 4 
President Pro Tern 

PONTIAC CITY COUNCIL 

Patrice Waterman, District 1 
Don Woodward, District 2 
Mary Pietila, District 3 
Gloria Miller, District 5 
Dr. Doris Taylor Burks, District 6 

It is this Council's mission "To serve the citizens of Pontiac by committing to help provide an enhanced quality of life 
for its residents, fostering the vision of afamily-ji-iendly community that is a great place to live, work and play." 

Call to order 

Invocation 

Pledge of Allegiance 

Roll Call 

Authorization to Excuse Councilmembers 

FORMAL MEETING 
January 22, 2019 

12:00P.M. 
67 th Session of the 10th Council 

Amendments to and Approval of the Agenda 

Approval of the Minutes 

I. Meeting of January 15, 2019 

Subcommittee Reports 
2. Community Development- January 15, 2019 

3. Finance- January 8, 2019 

4. Public Safety- January 11, 2019 

Recognition of Elected Officials 

Agenda Address 

Agenda Items for Consideration 

Resolutions 
Community and Economic Development 

Garland S. Doyle 
Interim City Clerk 

5. Resolution Requesting the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority to Review 140 South 
Saginaw Street 



6. Resolution Concurring with the Provisions of a Brownfield Plan Adopted by the Oakland County 
Brownfield Redevelopment Authority for 140 South Saginaw Street 

Controller 
7. Resolution to Approve Budget Amendment in the Amount of$3,550,000 for the Fiscal Year 2018-2019 for 

the Phoenix Center Litigation Payment as Requested by the Mayor and Detailed in the Attachment Labeled 
Exhibit A. 

Public Comment 

Mayor, Clerk and Conncil Closing Comments 

Adjournment 



MINUTES 



January 15, 2019 

Official Proceedings 
Pontiac City Council 

66th Session of the Tenth Council 

A Study Session of the City Council of Pontiac, Michigan was called to order in City Hall, Tuesday, 
January 15, 2019 at 6:00 p.m. by Council President Kermit Williams. 

Call to Order 

Roll Call 

Members Present: Caiter, Miller, Pietila, Waterman, Williams and Woodward. 
Members Absent: Taylor-Burks. 
Mayor Waterman was present. 
Clerk announced a quorum. 

19-12 Excuse Councilperson Doris Taylor-Burks for personal reasons. Moved by 
Councilperson Waterman and second by Councilperson Pietila. 

Ayes: Miller, Pietila, Waterman, Williams, Woodward and Catter 
No:None 
Motion Cal'l'ied. 

19-13 Amendments to move public comment after the presentations, table items #6 & 7 for 
one week, make agenda item #9 a part of the F1·iends of the Clinton Rivet· Trial Presentation and 
approve the agenda. Moved by Councilperson Woodward and second by Councilperson Pietila. 

Ayes: Pietila, Waterman, Williams, Woodward, Carter and Pietila 
No:None 
Motion Canied. 

Mayor ask for point of privilege to introduce the new Youth Recreation Staff. Jason Crute as the new 
Youth Recreation Manager and Robert Burch as the Assistant Youth Recreation Manager. 

19-14 Approve minutes of January 8, 2019. Moved by Councilperson Waterman and second 
by Councilperson Woodward. 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Woodward, Miller and Pietila 
No:None 

1 



January 15, 2019 

Abstain: Carter 
Motion Carried. 

Presentation - Friends of the Clinton River Trail 

19-15 
Waterman. 

Suspend the Rules. Moved by Councilperson Woo1o/ard and second by Councilperson 
. >· 

Ayes: Waterman, Williams, Woodward, Carter'.MillerandPietila 
No: None · 
Motion Carried. 

19-16 Proclamation in honor of the 15th ~miversary of the Clinton River Trail. Moved by 
Councilperson Woodward and second by Councilperson Waterman.·) 

WHEREAS, The City of Pontiac did work~vllh the connnuni;ies of;ylvah Lake, Auburn Hills, 
Rochester Hills, and Rochester to create, ariain2003,jointly adopted a master plan for a five city multi
use recreational trail to be known as the Clinton RiverTrai], and >\ .. . 

WHEREAS, in 2004 th~ City of Pontiac joined thqse same cities )J;l signing a Memorandum of 
Understanding agreeing tq.cooperatively establish;maint~in, and op~n,1te a 16-mile long recreational 
trail, to be known as the C~ton River tiail, primarily lo6ated on the abandoned Grand Trunk Western 
rail c01Tidor that passes through the five~ommunities, hµd 

j . • 

WHEREAS, Pontiac then acquired and const~cted. a 1.5 riiile section of trail from Old Telegraph Road to 
Bagley Street through funding provided by grants from the Michigan Depmiment of Natural Resources 
(MDNR) _a11d the Michigan Economic Development Coiporation (MEDC), and 

"·· ·,_--.:,. --"· • ..• ' ·\ 

WHEREAS,ii2009 Pontiac com~leted al.2mile eastward extension of the trail along sidewalks from 
Bagley Street to ilie,M-59/Noiihbouhd Woodward intersection, and 

' 
WHEREAS, in 2011 ;~htiac obtained a federal stimulus grant through the Michigan Department of 
Transp01tation (MDOT)tobuild a pedestrian bridge over Telegraph Road linking the Clinton River Trail 
in Pontiac to the City of Sy!vanLakf, and 

WHEREAS, Friends of the Clinton River Trail, in cooperation with the five Clinton River Trail cities, 
funded the design and pi"ototyping of trail amenities and signage to provide a consistent look and feel 
along the full length of the trail and subsequently some portions of the completed trail in Pontiac have had 
such amenities and signage installed, and 

2 



January 15, 2019 

WHEREAS, in 2017 Pontiac via a Michigan Natural Resources Trust Fund grant purchased a 4.5 mile 
section of abandoned rail line from Opdyke Road to Jaycee Park that will allow the Clinton River Trail to 
be developed closer to the downtown connection and will provide trail access to citizens on the north side 
of the city, and 

WHEREAS, other similar trails across the nation have shown how rec.reational trails enhance the quality 
of life and enhance property values in their community thus Pontiac continues to seek funding 
opportunities to allow the Clinton River Trail to evolve and imwove; 

NOW, THEREFORE, BE IT RESOLVED, that on this d~y; January 15, 201~the Mayor and City 
Council of the City of Pontiac hereby proclaims 2019 .1:>e recognized as the year of the 15th Anniversary 
of the Clinton River Trail and applauds the dedicatiop; hard work and on-going effmts of City staff, 
community volunteers and all entities responsible for implementing the original visfon of the Clinton 
River Trail master plan. · 

'·\, ' 

Ayes: Williams, Woodward, Carter, Miller, Pietila and Waterman 
No:None 
Proclamation Adopted. 

Presentation - Tameka Ramsey and ,\ssociates regarding a Grant from Genisys Credit Union for Main 
Street Pontiac/Main Street Oakland Coi,mty ·. / · •. · 

•,/ ' 

Presentation - Medical Mai:ihuana upd~:~ on working [;~ups and recent Legislation by the Planning 
Division · \ 

Presentation~ Medical :Marihuana A6~1ication Prncess by the Office of the City Clerk. The Interim City 
' / ,'' ', ' ' ', ' \ 

Clerk introq:iced Mr. Matthe,v-Neale, Esq., Miller, Canfield, Paddock and Stone, P.L.C. to serve as 
professional expert to assist the Jntelim Clerk with the medical marihuana application process. 

'··•, >,, 

Ten (10) individ~alsaddressed the bqdy during public cmmnent. 
~,, " 

Resolution to Approve the Budget Amendment for Fiscal Year 2018-2019 as Requested by the 
Mayor · · · 

Council President Williams riqult~d that the administration separate the Phoenix Center settlement 
payment from the rest of the Budget Amendment request. He referred the additional Budget Amendments 
(rollovers) from fiscal year 2017-2018 to the relevant subcommittee. 

Council President Kermit Williams adjourned the meeting at 7:35 p.m. 
3 



January 15, 2019 

4 

GARLAND S. DOYLE 
INTERIM CITY CLERK 



SUB 
COMMITTEE 

REPORTS 



In attendance: 

COMMUNITY DEVELOPMENT SUB-COMMITTEE NOTES 
January 15, 2019 

Council members: Chairperson Don Woodward, Kermit Williams and Gloria Jv1iller 
Economic Development Director: Rachel J. Loughrin 
Code Enforcement Manager: Patrick Brzozowski 
City Planner: Vernon Gustafsson 
City Attorney: Anthony Chubb 
Building Official: Mike Wilson 

Start time: 9:34am 

A. 140 South Saginaw Brownfield Request 
• At the request of the Developer, the item will be tabled. 

B. Rehab Agreements 
• The Executive along with the City Attorney are reviewing the ordinance and the agreement. 
The applications need to be "tightened up" and there needs to be language allowing for recourse. 

C. Medical Marihuana Update 
• Special presentation will be given at the Council meeting by the Planning Manager. 
• T11ere are working groups that are having discussions regarding zoning. 

D. Additional Items for Discussion 
1. City of Pontiac Apartments 

• T11ere needs to be more accountability as it relates to the apartment owners and or landlords 
that are not adhering to the ordinance requirements and are circumventing inspections. 
• Mike Wilson will review other multi-family dwelling ordinances in order to assist with creating 
additional requirements that could be placed in the ordinance. 
• Implementing verifications for non-compliance were also suggested. 

2. Fee Schedules 
•At the next meeting, the fee schedule will be discussed and recommendations provided as to 
whether there should be adjustments. 

Adjourned: 10:26am 



FINANCE SUBCOMMITTEE NOTES 

January 8, 2019 

In attendance: 
Council members: Chairperson Patrice Waterman and President Kermit \'\'illiams 
llfayor: Deirdre \Vaterman 
Deputy l\fayor: Jane Bais-DiSessa 
Economic Development Director: Rachel Loughrin 
Plante I\'1oran: Brian Camiller and Danielle Kelley 
Rehmann: :Mark Tschirhart, Principal and Tracey Kasparek, Senior I\fanager 
Start time: 4:05 p.m. 

AGENDA 

New Business 
Review of2018 audited financial statements-Rehmann 

The audit covers financial statements ending June 30, 2018. 
Accounting practices are applied year to year and the books are compared. 
Independent Auditor's Report dated December 19, 2018. 
The responsibility of the Independent Auditor is to express opinions on the financial statements which include 
all activities of the primary government and its component. 
Reported on the full accrual basis of accounting. 
The financial statements of the General City Employee's Retirement System, the Police and Fire Retirement 
System VEBA and Police and Fire Retirement System were not audited. 
An audit involves performing procedures to obtain audit evidence about the amounts and disclosures in the 
financial statements. The procedures selected depend on the auditor's judgment. 
Information was requested prior to the deadline and there were several meetings in which information was 
exchanged. 
Includes long-term assets and liabilities not included in the fund financial statements (capital assets, long term
debt, net pension asset/liability and net other postemployment benefit liability). 
Management is responsible for the preparation and fair representation of the financial statements in accordance 
with accounting principals. 
The documents of the audit were uploaded to the State of lvlichigan on December 19, 2018, as the documents 
were due on December 31, 2018. 
The City implements the provisions of GASE Statement No. 75, Accounting and Financial Reporting for 
Postemployment Benefits Other than Pensions, in the current year. 
Accounting principles require that management's discussion and analysis, the budgetary comparison schedules 
for the general fund, major streets special revenue fund, local streets special revenue fund, sanitation special 
revenue fund and district court special revenue fund and the schedules for the pension and other 
postemployment benefit plans, be presented to supplement the basic financial statements. 

Managements Discussion and Analysis 
Financial Highlights: total net position $253,689,651, change in net position 1,759,853 
There was one small audit adjustment of $22,000, an unrecorded audible-not significant. 
Received information from management as requested, no disagreements. 
Schedule of Adjustments, smaller items that could have been adjusted. 
Parking Fund- $28,000 in liabilities were not recorded, but not significant to the Parking Fund. 
Open Bond Variance, there is a difference of $15,000. 
Ivfanagement discussion was written by City Ivfanagement. 

Financial Statements 
Independent Auditor's Report reflects a clean, unmodified opinion. 

1 



General Fund Balance Classifications: Nonspendable, Committed, Assigned and Unassigned. 

GASB 68 requires recording. Net Pension asset required in 2015, GASB 75 requirement is different from last 
year, but the numbers do not change. 

Fund Financial Statements 
General Fund and other funds including major streets special revenue fund, local streets special revenue fund, 
sanitation special revenue fund and district court special revenue fund. 
The Youth Recreation Center has a committed assigned amount and money was paid out for the Phoenix 
Center (unassigned from fund balance). 
Deferred inflow of resources, revenue expected next year. 
Net Change in Fund Balance: revenue exceeded expenditures 
Parking Ente1prise Fund is where the Phoenix Center expenses will be taken from. 

Busincss-t:ype activities: Parking Enterptise Fund, Internal Service Funds. 
Fiducia1y Funds: Pension and Other Postemployment Trust Funds and Agency Funds. 
Component Units: Tax Increment Finance Authority and Brownfield Redevelopment Authority. 
Component Units of the City include TIFF A's and Brownfields. 
The 'I1FFA's are projected to be paid off in 2031. 

Long Term debt $7.3 million for Phoenix Center settlement and attorney fees, Fiscal Year 2019. 
The Phoenix Center is paid for, not recorded \vith current market value, historical cost basis and expenses are 
included. 
Once the CPREA settlement is approved by the IRS, some variances will be created. 
Other revenues were better than anticipated. There was money that was not spent for designated projects that 
was rolled over as well as money not spent on salaries, the most significant, the Finance Director. 

District Court had a significant deficiency, as invoices were not ptoperly booked. 
The Hierarchy: Material Weakness, Significant Deficiency and Control Deficiencies. 

Tuesday, January 22, 2019 the audit will be presented at the Council meeting. 

*No findings were considered to be material weaknesses and there was no management letter 
comments included as other matters. 

Development Agreement (Community Benefits) 
The Executive wotked with the Developet to create a community benefits agteement. 
Unclear if the developer still wants to move forward with the project. 

Update on stats for Village of Broomfield Development Agreement 
$2,386.040.46 are actual dollars spent to date. 
Nowak & Fraus Qandscape and design) 
TKMS 
Pontiac Ceiling & Partition (carpentry installed safety rail) 
TKMS 
Nowak & Fraus $33,329.00 
Pontiac Ceiling & Partition ( carpentry) 
Auch Consttuction (general contracting setvices) 

$400,000.00 
$57,207.00 
$28,000 
$192,018.46 

$102,250.00 and $488,686.00 
$1,084,550.00 

The question was asked about income tax, information to be provided 

2 



Response to Councilwoman Patrice Waterman inquiry about "escrow account" regarding Fed-Ex 
development 
Having difficulty in implementing fiduciary agreement. 
'I11e City will not be involved in the agreement, but will follow-up on the deliverables. 

Income Tax impact of General Motors transfer of 3,000 jobs from Pontiac to Warren 
GM estimate is 1.1-1.3 million less, but will be offset by United Shore which is replacing HP and Williams 
Inte111ational. 

Top Ten Tax Payers and estimated impact of GM transfer of employees to Warren Tech Center 
In 2018 

Vendor 

GM 
Trinity Health 
United Shore 
Oakland County 
United States Postal Service 
Mclaren Oakland 
State of Michigan 
Williams International 
Pontiac School District 
:Michigan Bell 

Industry 

automotive 
health care 
financial 
government 
government 
health care 
government 
defense 
government 
communications 

Income Tax Revenue 

1,548,351.90 
824,330.46 
747,834.84 
702,753.20 
398,523.21 
229,269.79 
204,363.68 
126,252.00 
115,229.26 
109,096.92 

13,450,000.00 FY 19 
37% 

• A budget amendment will be forthcoming for the Phoenix Center settlement. 

Adjourned: 5:36pm 

3 



January 11, 2019 Public Safety Subcommittee Minutes 

Present was Rachel Loughrin, Economic Development Director, Sgt Todd Hunt, OCSD. Brian, 
Long, Starr EMS, Waterford Regional Fire Chief, John Lyman and Deputy Chief, Matt Covey, 
Councilman Don Woodward and Chair Councilwoman Mary Pietila, Absent was ProTem Carter. 

Meeting started at 9:30 adjourned a 10:45 

Due to the increase in recent accidents involving pedestrians, Jaywalking and 
traffic impediment (walking in the middle of the streets) was one of the matter Sgt 
Hunt was asked to bring to the attention of the new LT upon his being appointed 
which will after supervisors settle their contract. Young Mr. Nolte, who was hit 
while riding his bike on Baldwin near Montcalm, is still in the Beaumont hospital. 

Starr brought to our attention that Response times have decreased, significantly, 
When there is a vehicle damaged by an accident as happens. The Body shop 
certifies their work, Medi X replaces all cabinets, and restocks all items, and there 
are no other inspections, until the Annual State inspection. 

AT&T First net App installation corrections has been pushed back to February, this is an app which will 
allow Dispatch to communicate with those in the field. 

Driver supplemental training with the simulator will start DTBD at Star. 

4 new hires will start Orientation Jan 22, 2019 Experienced new hires. 3 basics, 1 Medic. 

Fire 
Calls Up by 300 however Fires are down by 10% contributing factors are demolitions and County Sheriff 
Patrols. With the Grant monies new 1 ¾ inch hoses have replaced old hoses new masks will be in by the 
end of the month. 

Waterford Regional did assist with the Petroleum Tanker accident on Telegraph 
and Dixie the beginning of the month. Only 150 gallons of the 800 spilled. 

Minutes recorded by the Chair. 



WATERFORD REGIONAL 
FIRE DEPARTMENT 

2495 Crescent Lake Road • Waterford, MI 48329 
Phone: 248.673.0405 • Fax: 248.674.4095 

www.waterfordmi.gov 

John H. Lyman, Fire Chief• Matthew J. Covey, Deputy Fire Chief• Carl J. Wallace, Fire Marshal 

MONTHLY FIRE DEPARTMENT REPORT 

For the City of Pontiac 

December 2018 

Total calls - month: 336 Fires: 11 EMS: 223 Other: 102 

Total calls - YTD: 4,745 Fires: 272 EMS: 2,757 Other: 1,716 

Month Count Response Times YTD Count Response Times 

FS-6 Fires - 2 6.23 62 6.13 

EMS- 40 5.58 558 5.27 

FS-7: Fires- 4 4.59 124 5.22 

EMS- 94 5.06 1,136 4.56 

FS-8: Fires- 2 4.37 35 5.13 

EMS- 51 5.01 590 5.17 

FS-9: Fires- 3 5.02 51 4.51 

EMS- 38 4.33 473 4.33 

Fire Injuries to personnel: 0 Fire Injuries to civilian: 0 

Notable events/incidents for month: 
Gasoline Tanker rollover on Dixie and Telegraph. 
Grant equipment received and placed on fire trucks - nozzles, foam eductors 



DISPATCH 18-Jan Feb-18 Mar-18 Apr-18 May-18 Jun-18 Jul-18 18-Aug 18-Sep Oct-18 Nov-18 18-Dec 
Abdominal Pain 45 19 31 24 25 30 16 42 26 30 28 37 
airmedical transport 1 
Allergies 3 4 13 7 5 1 8 4 9 6 6 3 
ALTERED MENTAL STATUS 1 6 5 0 11 11 8 8 13 12 14 
Animal bites 1 0 0 4 0 0 0 3 4 2 1 0 
Assault 21 14 17 30 25 29 23 40 44 40 28 31 
Invalid assist 2 0 0 1 2 3 2 5 0 2 3 
Pedestrian struck by Auto 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Back Pain 16 12 6 8 13 10 10 11 11 6 9 6 
Breathing Problems 113 94 107 102 96 94 104 120 88 108 139 110 
Burns 3 0 2 5 4 0 3 1 1 4 2 1 
Cardiac Arrest 14 14 13 14 20 11 20 14 17 14 13 25 
Chest pain 77 60 72 70 69 51 63 73 77 78 88 80 
Choking 4 1 4 6 3 0 5 5 4 3 2 5 
CO poisoning 2 0 0 0 4. 0 0 1 1 1 3 1 
Seizures 37 43 46 45 36 64 45 52 56 57 69 35 
Diabetic Issues 18 22 23 21 15 24 27 22 15 28 34 25 
Drowning 1 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Electrocution 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Eye issues 0 0 1 1 0 1 0 0 1 1 1 1 
Fainting 0 0 0 0 49 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Fall Victim 71 68 72 56 73 47 69 63 71 69 56 54 
Fever 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Fire 0 0 1 1 2 0 0 0 1 4 3 1 
Headache 4 1 2 1 6 2 7 5 4 8 3 4 
Heart Problems 9 14 10 14 5 11 9 13 17 8 7 7 
Heat/Cold Exposures 3 2 0 0 4 2 0 1 0 0 3 0 
Hemorrhage from Laceration 22 15 14 15 21 16 20 12 27 14 19 17 
Industrial Accident 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 1 0 
Medical alarms 19 21 7 15 22 11 8 5 8 8 19 9 
MCI 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Ingested Poison 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Non Emergent requests 13 0 5 11 12 0 0 5 6 8 0 0 



Overdose 48 39 36 28 41 38 52 37 45 31 39 29 
Pregnancy/Childbirth 1 7 8 7 8 11 9 10 11 10 20 13 

· Psychiatric Problems 38 29 24 31 30 31 31 31 25 19 34 30 
Respiratory Arrest 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
11 Sick11 Person 192 153 157 179 183 184 205 207 190 139 132 162 
Standby 1 1 1 0 0 1 0 0 2 0 0 1 
stab/Gunshot Wound 8 3 2 1 3 2 6 4 4 9 14 4 
Stroke/CV A 15 14 21 21 13 11 8 10 21 18 15 13 
Traffic Accidents 37 30 29 36 33 57 47 38 37 56 42 45 
Palliative care 22 19 13 15 16 21 22 28 19 16 27 18 
Traumatic Injury 7 12 6 9 14 22 17 13 12 24 16 16 
Unconscious/unknown cause 54 57 52 46 0 55 47 37 38 50 48 45 
UNKNOWN 37 14 17 30 10 20 15 44 0 8 13 36 
"Person DOWN" 0 26 8 0 51 20 22 15 32 24 30 0 
Sexua I Assa u It 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 0 
Well Person Ck 0 1 1 1 1 0 2 2 2 1 0 1 

total 957 810 827 860 914 892 933 981 934 915 978 883 



AVERAGE RESPONSE TIMES BY ZIP CODE 

Nov-18 18-Dec 

48340 6 5.5 
48341 s 5 
48342 5 5 
48343 5 4.8 

Monthly 5.25 5.07 



RESOLUTION 
#5 



MEMORANDUM 

To: 

From: 

Through: 

Meeting: 

Regarding: 

Honorable City Council 

Rachel Loughrin 
Economic Development Director 

Jane Bais-DiSessa 
Deputy Mayor 

January 08, 2019 

Request for Brownfield Plan Approval and the approval of two concurring 
Resolutions for 140 South Saginaw Street (Former IRS Building) 
Parcel Number 64-14-32-235-001 a Mixed-Use Development 

C 

--
J.: 
( 

C 
I 

J.::". 

140 South Saginaw Patiners, LLC respectfully requests the approval of a brownfield plan for the remediation 
and renovation of a propetiy located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac. The propetiy is pati of the interior 
of the Woodward Loop and is comprised of 1.3 acres. It is a predominant architectural feature in the 
downtown, has been vacant for 10 years and is tax revetied, meaning, it currently does not produce any tax 
revenue for the City of Pontiac. 

The historic record shows that the property originally consisted of multiple parcels and that the northern and 
eastern areas were used for gasoline and service station purposes from the mid-1920's to the 1950's. In 1972 
the multiple parcels were combined and the seven-story 145,000 square foot building was constructed. 

The current very poor condition of the propetiy is an impediment to its redevelopment. The propetiy is 
contaminated at concentrations exceeding the MDEQ Generic Residential Clean-up Criteria which qualifies it 
for 'facility' status. This means that this brownfield request for the remediation of this property falls within the 
requirements of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, PA 3 81 of 1996. Exceeding the GRCC 
requirements means that the site is contaminated and requires the mitigation of numerous environmental 
conditions such as petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination, asbestos containing materials, lead
based paint, several types of hazardous mold, and electrical equipment that may contain polychlorinated 
bi phenyl (PCB' s ). 

The proposed renovations will include not only the mitigation of the environmental concerns within the 
building, but also those that affect the parcel itself. The building and improvements will be used to encapsulate 
the known existing petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination and act as engineering controls to 
prevent contact with the soil, soil vapor and groundwater contamination. Appropriate environmental measures 
will be implemented to prevent exposure of hazardous materials to human health, safety and the environment. 
The developer is in the process of unde1iaking additional Due Care Phase II Environmental Site Assessment 
activities to assess soil, groundwater and vapor phase contamination as part of the redevelopment process. 



The estimated amount of investment for environmental due diligence, soil mitigation and infrastructure 
improvements, site remediation/engineering controls, site development, building renovation, and addition of 
fixtures will exceed $16,047,100.00. This large amount of capital investment will be necessary to completely 
renovate the seven-story commercial building, provide maintenance for the adjacent parking lot, and provide 
continuous and on-going maintenance for the engineering controls. In addition, vittually all interior mechanical 
components of the building will need to be replaced. 

In light of the recently approved settlement of the Ottawa Towers Phoenix Center lawsuit, the clean-up and 
renovation of this building will not only help add value to the area that surrounds the Phoenix Center but will 
also provide revenue to the city in the form of paid parking for the 400 jobs that will be created or moved into 
the city as an element of this mixed-use/office development. 

These permeant jobs will have a typical annual salary of $62,400.00 creating a new project related payroll of 
$24,960,000 that will be taxed by the city at a rate of either .5 percent or I percent, depending on the residency 
status of the employee. In addition, this project will create 90 temporary construction jobs for a total project 
related temporary payroll of$13,384,800.00. This amount will also be taxed at the city's income tax rate as 
appropriate. 

This brownfield request is for an estimated total of 18 years and will collect $3,064,660. Following the 
completion of the project, the tax revenue will increase from zero to $245,081 per year. 

Of the $3,064,660 to be captured $1,412,802 will be captured from the city's portion of the taxes paid by 
this new development project. The rest will be captured from the other taxing jurisdictions, 

The Administration recommends the approval of this request as it will rid the city of another contaminated and 
blighted property, will provide 400 new tax paying jobs and will help to provide parking revenue for the 
Phoenix Center garage. The developer will hold a workforce symposium here in Pontiac where they will discuss the 
positions available and help local Pontiac residents find work on their project. 



Resolution Requesting the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority to Review the 
140 South Saginaw Street 

WHEREAS the City of Pontiac has a Brownfield project known as 140 South Saginaw Street that it would like 
to have reviewed and processed by the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority; 

WHEREAS the City of Pontiac has a Brownfield Authority but desires to have the Oakland County Brownfield 
Redevelopment Authority handle the 140 South Saginaw Street; 

WHEREAS the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority was created by Oakland County 
pursuant to MCL 125.2651 et seq. to assist jurisdictions like the City of Pontiac; 

WHEREAS the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority is prepared to assist the City of Pontiac 
by reviewing the proposed 140 South Saginaw Street, provided that the City of Pontiac acknowledges certain 
rights that the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority has, to wit: 

• OCBRA intends to collect an administrative fee of $5,000.00 per year for the length of the Brownfield 
plan; and 

WHEREAS the City of Pontiac will have the opportunity to provide public comment on any Brownfield plan 
(including the amount of the administrative fee to be collected) before it is finally adopted by the OCBRA 
and/or the Oakland County Board of Commissioners; 

NOW BE IT THEREFORE RESOLVED that the City of Pontiac requests that the OCBRA undertake review of 
the 140 South Saginaw. 



Proposed Mixed-use Office Development 
Brownfield Plan 

For the 

Southwest Corner of W. Judson Street and S. Saginaw Street 
140 S. Saginaw Street 

Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 48342 

fOAKIAND: 
C O U N T Y ~, I II 17 N 

Brownfield Redevelopment Authority 

Pre ared for 

140 South Saginaw Paitners, LLC 
c/o Walbridge 
777 Woodward Avenue, Suite 300 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 
Attn: Mr. Adorno Piccinini, Asst. V.P./Associate 
Broker, Real Estate Development/ Asset 
Management 
T (313) 442-1298 
F(313)234-0614 
M (313) 466-9117 
E apiccinin i@walbridge.com 
W www.walbrid e.com 

Pre ared B 

Mr. Nicholas G. Maloof, RPG 
President and General Counsel 
Associated Environmental Services, LLC 
600 I North Adams Road, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, MI 48304 
T (248) 203-9898 
F (248) 647-0526 
M (248) 250-2525 
E ng111@associatedenvironmental .net 
W www.associatedenvironmental.ne1 

Plan Preparation Date: AJlril 20, 20.18 (Revised 011 June 6, 2018 per Authority Approval on May 7, 2018) 

Approved by the Brownfield Redevelopment Authority on: May 7, 2018, Final August 21, 20 18 

Approved by the County Commission on: 



Environmental Services 

Land Development 

Real Estate Consulllng 

6001 North Adams Road, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 

June 6, 20 18 

Oakland County Brown_field Redevelopment Authority 
2 100 Pontiac Lake Road 
Building 41 W 
Waterford, Ml 48328 
Attn: Mr. Brad Hausen 

Associated Environmental Se1vices, LLC P l'ojcct No. 2017011601.0 L 

. ~s:s,.o C l1A1T':E D 

RE: Proposed Mixed-use Office Development Brownfield Plan for the properly located at the southwest corner of W. 
Judson Street and S. Saginaw Street. Commonly known as 140 S. Saginaw Street in Pontiac, Oakland County, 
Michjgan 48342 

Dear Mr. Hansen: 

Pursuant to the revisions and clarifications requested by the OCBRA Board when approving this Plan on May 7, 2018, 
enclosed is the revised and updated Brownfield Plan for the above referenced redevelopment. Note that, as requested by 
OCBRA, I/tis versio11 of tlte Brown.fie/ti Plan: (1) does not i11c/11de lite Simple Interest calc11/alio11 inclutled In /1,e 
original version; mu/ (2) htcltules a flat $5,000.00 anmwl Administrative Fee. The property is tax reverted and have 
been unoccupied for an estimated ten years or more. The property has been identified as containing soil contamination 
exceeding the MDEQ Generic Residential Criteria (GRCC) and therefore qualifies a "facility" in accordance with Part 20 I 
of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended. T herefore, this 
Brownfield Plan is based on a "facility" s tatus determination. 

As we discussed, please review the attached Brownfield Plan, Tables and Attachments and provide your feedback regarding 
the proposed project and captm e of Tax Increment Revenue (Tffi) to reimburse both the Oakland County Local Site 
Remediation Revolving Fund {LBRF) and 140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC for eligible activities. The Plan incorporates: 
(I) the estimated cost and expenses of the eligible activities; (2) the estimated value of new conslructiou investment into 
tbe City of Pontiac; and (3) the estimated Cflpture of Tax Lncremeut Revenue (TIR) from the both Local and State taxing 
jurisdictions. 

The intent of this Brownfield Plan is to present the proposed project, outline the substantial new investment in the City of 
Pontiac, Oak.land County, Michigan and describe the eligible activities on behalf of the developer, 140 South Saginaw 
Partners, LLC, whlcb has the property under contract via a Purchase Agreement with Oakland County. 

Should you have any questions or comments, please contact the undersigned at (248) 203-9898. 

Sincerely, 
ASSOCLATED ENVrRONMENTAL SERVrCES, LLC 

Nicholas G. Maloof, RPG 
Project Manager 

NGM/bd 

Tel: 248-203-9898 / Fax: 248-647-0526 
email: associatedenv@comcast.net 
web: www.associatedenvironmenlal.net 



TABLE OF CONTENTS 

I. INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE ............................ ........... ......................... ... ......... ........ I 

TT. GENERAL DEFlNlTIONS AS USED IN THIS PLAN .. ......... ............ ... .. ....... ............ ....... 2 

Ill . DES CR lPTJ ON OF PROJECT ...... ... .... ........................ ...... ......... ...... ................................. .. 2 

rv. THE PROPERTY ADDRESSED IN THIS PLAN IS ELIGIBLE PROPERTY ................. 7 

V. BROWNFIELD PLAN REQUIREMENTS OF M.C.L. § 125.2663(1) ........................ .... . 11 
A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax l ncrement Revenues .................. .......... I I 

B. Brief Summary of the Eligible Activities .... ..................... .... .... .................................... 14 

C. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues ............................ 15 

D. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipality ..................... 15 

E. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness ................................................... l 6 

F. Duration of Brownfield Plan .................. ..... .......... ..................... ........ ............... .......... .. 16 

G. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing Jurisdictions. 17 

H. Legal Description, Property Map and Personal Property ................... .......................... 17 

I. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families .. ................... .. ...... .................... 17 

J. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons ................... ... ................................... .. .......... 17 

I(. Provisions for Relocation Costs ..... ............................................................................... J 7 

L. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan's Relocation Assistance Law ....................... J 8 

M. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund .................. 18 

N. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent.. ............... 18 

ATTACHMENTS 

Attachment A 
Attachment B 
Attachment C 
Attachment D 

Legal Description of Eligible Property 
Site Plan/General Concept Plan 
Estimated Eligible Activities and Tax Increment Revenues 
Executive Summary of Phase I ESA Report and Phase II ESA 
Report Data Tables with BEA Description of Site Conditions and 
Determination of "facility" Status 

Page i ofi 



PROJECT SUMMARY* 

Project Name: Proposed 140 S. Saginaw Street project being 
developed by 140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC 
("Developer") c/o Walbridge LLC 

Estimated Eligible Developer Reimbursable Costs: $3,064,660.00 

Estimated Years to Complete LBRF/Developer Principal Payback: 15 Years 

Estimated Years to Complete LBRF/Developer Interest Payback: 0 Years1 

Estimated Years to Complete LBRF Capture: 1 Partial and 3 Full Years 

Estimated Total Years to Complete All Capture: 18 Years 

Estimated Investment (Construction Costs plus Eligible Activities) by Developer: 
$16,047,100.00 

Annual Tax Revenue Before Project: Taxes - Local and School Tax ID # 64- 14-32-235-001 

Estimated 2018 Tax $245,081 
Estimated Current Tax Revenue $0.00 
Estimated Tax Revenue Increase $245,081 

Estimated Total Annual Local Tax Revenue Eligible for Capture After Project: $211,141.00 in 
Year I (the l ''ycnrof fully complctcd project. SccTnblc3 
of the TIR Tnblc.s in Appendix C for a complete breakdown 
between the districts) 

Estimated Tm Capture for Developer Principal: 
Estimated Developer Interest Capture: 
Estimated BRA Administrative Capture: 
Estimated State BRF Capture: 
Estimated Capture for BRA LBRF: 

Estimated Total Tm Capture: 

1 Interest is not being supported by OCBRA or City of Pontiac 

$3,064,660.00 
$ 0.001 

$ 90,000.00 
$ 229,184.00 
$ 869,476.00 

$4,253,319.00* 

* Due to the calculation decimal point rounding operations of the TIR Tables, the totals of some estimated values may not 
match exactly 

Page i ofi 



Project Overview 

The property is located at 140 South Saginaw Street (the "Property"), which is part of the interior of the 
Woodward Loop thoroughfare, the area that makes up the downtown district of the City of Pontiac. The 
Property is comprised of one legal parcel that is approximately 1.3 acres in size and its predominant 
architectural feature is a tax reverted and unoccupied seven-story building formerly used for commercial 
purposes. The Property is a prominent feature and southern gateway into downtown Pontiac. 

The proposed project being developed by 140 South Saginaw Partners, LLC (the "Developer") would 
completely transform the Property by mitigating known environmental issues, rehabilitating 
infrastructural elements, and completing renovating the seven-story commercial building into a state-of
the-att mixed-use office development (the "Project"). Once completed, the proposed Project would 
return one of Pontiac's key architectural assets to the tax rolls, create jobs and activate a largely vacant 
part of downtown Pontiac serving as a catalyst for additional development. These goals also are 
supported by "Congress for New Urbanism (CNU) - Legacy Charrefle "Vision for Revitalized and 
Transit Ready Downtown Pontiac" Published Spring 2016 ("CNU Report"), as that report 5pecifical~y 
includes the Property in District 4, the southern gateway lo downtown Pontiac. 

The proposed Project would requires mitigation of numerous enviromnental conditions on the Property, 
including: petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination, asbestos containing materials, lead
based paint, several types of hazardous mold, and electrical equipment that may contain polychlorinated 
biphenyl (PCBs). 

The historic record shows that d1e Property initially consisted of multiple parcels, and that the northern 
and eastern areas were used for gasoline and service station purposes from the mid-l 920s through the 
1950s. The scope of the environmental impact due to this past use is not clear- more investigation will 
be necessary to determine the full scope of impact. In 1972, the multiple parcels were combined, and 
the seven-story 145,000 square foot building currently on the Property was constructed. The Property 
has been vacant for over a decade and is currently tax reverted property owned by Oakland County. 

A Phase f ESA conducted in accordance with ASTM El527-13 and All Appropriate Inquiry (AAI) 
requirements was conducted by Atwell, LLC on behalf of the Developer. As prospective owner of the 
Property, the Developer intended to explore the possibility of redeveloping the Property for mixed-use. 
Atwell' s Phase I ESA identified several previous environmental assessments filings with the both the 
applicable state (MDEQ) and federal (EPA) environmental agencies. 

The MDEQ records showed two past Baseline Environmental Assessments (BEAs): Filed by LFR 
Levine Frank (LFR) dated November l I, 2005 and McDowell and Associates (McDowell) dated April 
22, 2008. Also, the Property held an EPA RCRA Non-Generator Facility classification between I 991-
2005. 

Taken together, these records indicate that: (l) USTs were historically present on the Property; (2) 
historic uses of the Property warranted subsurface investigation (which revealed soil/groundwater 
contamination; further testing was recommended); and (3) the Property was a listed RCRA Facility 
between 199 l and 2005. 

Page i ofiv 



In addition, a Phase II ESA Subsurface Investigation conducted by Hillman Environmental Group dated 
October 6, 2004 indicates that the subsurface soil and groundwater at the Property are impacted by 
elevated concentrations of Volatile Organic Compounds (YOCs) and metals exceeding the MDEQ 
Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) and therefore the site qualifies as a "facility" under Pat1 
201 oftheNREPA, P.A. 451 of 1994, as amended. 

Developer has undertaken, and is in the process of undertaking, Additional Due Care Phase ll 
Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) activities to assess soil, groundwater and vapor phase 
contamination as part of the redevelopment process. 

The Property also would qualify as "functionally obsolete1" as well as "blighted2" under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act. P.A. 381 of 1996, as amended, due to the generally poor condition of the 
Property, aspects of the infrastructure, as well as mechanical aspects of the building itself, as stated in a 
Property Condition Assessment Reporl prepared for the Developer by Atwell, LLC under date of 
November 30, 2015. 

The Project will serve to revitalize the City of Pontiac's downtown district by reducing vacancy in the 
heart of tbe City. The seven-story commercial building on the Property is a key architectural feature of 
Pontiac's downtown district and is generally one of the first images visitors see as they approach Pontiac 
via northbound Woodward Avenue. The project will also significantly increase the tax base of the City 
of Pontiac by placing a blighted and vacant piece of prime real estate back on the tax rolls, as well as 
providing employment opportunities for many of the local residents. 

The eligible activities described in this Brownfield Plan are related to the specific activities necessary to 
complete the proposed re-development. The Developer is seeking reimbursement through Tax 
Increment Financing (TIF) for specific Brownfield activities that pose a substantial impediment to the 
redevelopment of the Property and the development of the Project. 

The Project wiJI involve a complete renovation of the seven-story commercial building. In addition, the 
building and improvements wiJI be used to encapsulate the known existing petroleum hydrocarbon and 
heavy metal contamination and act as engineering controls to prevent contact with the soil, soil vapor 

1 Under MCI.A § 125.2652(s) 'Functionally obsolete' means, 'U1al Iha property is unable lo ba used to adequately perform the function for which ii was intended due lo a 
substantial loss in value resulting from factors such as overcapacity, changes in technology, deficiencies or superadequacias in design, or other similar factors that affect 
the property Itself or the property's relationship with other surrounding property.' 

2 Under MCI.A § 125.2652(c) 'Blighted' means property that meets any of the following criteria as dalem1ined by Iha governing body: 
(I) Has been declared a public nuisance in accordance with a local housing, building, plumbing, fire, or other related code or ordinance. 
(ii) Is an altlaclive nuisance lo children because of physical condition, use, or occupancy. 
(iIT) Is a fire hazard or is otherwise dangerous lo the safety of persons or property. 
(iv) Has had /he utilities. plumbing, healing, or sewerage permenenlly disconnected, destroyed, removed, or rendered ineffec/ive so Iha/ /he property Is unfit 
for its Intended use. 
(v) Is tax reverted property owned bye qualified locel governmen/al uni/, by a counly, or by this state. The sale, lease, or /ransfer of lax reverted property by a 
qualified local governmental unit, county, or /his stale after /he property's inclusion in a brownfield plan shall no/ ,esu/1 in /he loss lo the property of /he slalus 
as blighted property for purposes oflhis acl 
(vi) Is property owned by or under the control of a land bank fast track authority, whether or not located within a qualified local governmental unil Property 
included within a brownfield plan prior to the date it meets the requirements of lhis subdivision lo be eligible property shall be considered to become eligible 
property as of the dale the property is determined to have been or becomes qualified as, or is con1bined with, other eligible property. The sale, lease, or 
transfer of lhe property by a land bank fast track authority after the property's inclusion in a brownfield plan shall not result in the loss to the property of the 
status as blighted property f01 purposes of this act. 
(vii) Has substantial buried subsurface demolition debrts presenl so that the property is unfit for its intended use. 

Page ii ofiv 



and groundwater contamination. Appropriate environmental measures wi ll be implemented to prevent 
exposure of hazardous materials to human health, safety, and the environment. 

The renovation activities will be undertaken after completion of the necessary soil mitigation activities, 
infrastructure improvements and site preparation activities. 

Estimated Amount of Investment 

The Developer estimate that total investment for the environmental due diligence, soil mitigation 
infrastructure improvements, site remediation/engineering controls, site development, building 
renovation, and addition of fixtures will exceed $16,047,100.00 comprised of a minimum of 
$12,982,500.00 of Construction Costs plus an estimated $3,064,600.00 of Eligible Activities. This 
capital investment will be necessary to completely renovate the Property's seven-story commercial 
building, provide maintenance for the adjacent parking lot, and provide continuous and on-goi.ng 
maintenance for the engineering controls, as necessary. 

The interior of the bui lding is in such a state of disrepair that a total renovation will be necessary to make 
the Property suitable for use. According to a Property Condition Assessment prepared by Atwell, 
virtually all interior mechanical components of the bui lding will need to be replaced. 

Full-time Jobs 

According to Developer, the proposed redevelopment will create up to an estimated 400 new Full Time 
Equivalent (FTE) jobs within the City of Pontiac described as follows: 

Phase of Job Typical Typical Typical Number of Total Annual Duration Total Prnjcct 
Operation Classification Hourly II ours Annual Direct Payroll Related of Jobs Related Payroll 

Rate Worked Salary Jobs to Project Created by (salary/wages 
(Weekly) Related to Project only) 

Prnjcct 
(Average 
per year) 

Project Ofl1ce workers, $30.00 40 $62,400.00 400 $24,960,000.00 Permanent $24,960,000.00 
Completion building 

management, 
grounds 
keeping, 
security and 
other jobs 

New 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 

Total Estimated Jobs and Project Payroll 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 
(A1umallv) 

Page iii of iv 



The proposed job creation will benefit the City of Pontiac as the current reported U3 unemployment rate 
for Pontiac is 8. 1% as of September 2017 compared to 4.7% for Michigan overall, 5.J% for the 
Detroit/Dearborn/Livonfa SMSA and 4.1 % nationally as of January 2018. 

Construction Related Jobs 

According to the General Contractor for Developer, in addition to lhe full-time jobs created by the 
project, the proposed redevelopment will create up to 90 FTE construction jobs within the Cily of Pontiac 
comprised as follows: 

Phase of Joh Typical Typical Typical Number Total Duration of Total Project 
Construction Classification Hourly Hours Annual of Johs Annualized Johs in \'ears Related Payroll 

ll.atc Worl1ed Snlary Related Payroll Related Created by (salnry/wngcs & 
(Wceldy) to Project lo Project Project (in benefits only) 

(Average years based 
11cr year) on# months 

construction) 
Site Construction $55.00 40 $ I I 4,400.00 90 $10,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Preparation Tradesmen and 

affiliated 
& Vertical workers 
Construction 
Constmcfiou 90 $ I 0,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Phase Total 

Brownfield Incentives 

This Plan has been prepared to provide for Tax Increment Financing, from Local and State School Tax 
Capture, for reimbursement of eligible activities necessary to redevelop the Properly. This Plan also 
incorporates collection ofTIR by the Oakland County Local Remediation Revolving Fund (LBRF) after 
repayment to Developer for the eligible activities. The eligible activities including but not limited to 
Phase I ESA, Phase fl ESA, BEA, 7a Due Care Plan, Additional Due Care Phase II ESA activities, 
remediation and engineering controls, Post-development 7a Due Care Plan, Brownfield and Act 381 
Work Plan preparation and development related Hazardous Materials (Asbestos, Lead Paint, Mold, 
PCBs, etc.) Abatement, Demolition, Site Preparation and Infrastructure. The Developer wil l advance 
the entire cost of the eligible activities being performed on the Property under this Plan. All TfR 
generated by the Property through the Plan will be used to (I) reimburse Developer for a ll eligible 
activities, (2) pay up to I 0% of the TIR toward BRA Management Fees and up to five (5) years of Local 
Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) TIR Capture. Developer reserves the right to apply for additional 
incentives including Oakland County and MDEQ Grants & Loans, Oakland County PACE, Community 
Revitalization Program (CRP) grants & loans and other programs/ sources that may lessen the total TJR 
required to be captured. 

Page iv ofiv 



I, INTRODUCTION AND PURPOSE 

Oakland County, Michigan has established a Brownfield Redevelopment Authority pursuant to 
the provisions of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, M.C.L. §125.2651 et seq. Based 
upon a referral from the City of Pontiac to the Oakla•d County Brownfield Redevelopment 
Authority (hereinafter the "Authority"), this Brownfield Plan ("Plan") applies to the proposed 
Mixed-use Office Redevelopment Project within the boundaries of the City of Pontiac, Oakland 
County, Michigan (the "Project"). The proposed Project is being developed by J 40 South Saginaw 
Partners, LLC ("Developer"), c/o Walbridge, LLC; Attn: Mr. Adorno Piccinini. 

The Property is located at 140 South Saginaw Street in Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 48342 
and is generally located west of S. Saginaw Street, north of Whittemore Street, east of Woodward 
A venue, and South of W. Judson Street ("Property"). The Property is comprised of one tax parcel 
identified as Tax Parcel No.: 63-J 4-32-235-00 l. 

Historic records show that the n011hern and eastern portions of the Property were used for gasoline 
and automotive service station purposes between the tnid- I 920s through the 1950s. The parcels 
comprising the Property were combined in 1972, at which point a seven-sto1y commercial building 
was constructed. The Property has been vacant and unoccupied for over a decade as of early-2018 
and is currently tax reverted and owned by Oakland County. Developer has entered into a Real 
Estate Purchase Agreement and a Development Agreement with Oakland County to acquire and 
redevelop the Property. 

As part of the redevelopment process, the Developer conducted preliminary environmental due 
diligence activities comprised ofa Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA), Asbestos, Lead 
Based Paint and Mold Assessment and Property Condition Assessment (PCA). 

Based on the results, the Property is contaminated at concentrations exceeding the MDEQ Generic 
Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC). la addition, two prior BEAs were filed with the MDEQ: 
McDowell and Associates ( dated April 22, 2008) and LFR Levine Frank ( dated November 11, 
2005). 

The parcel information obtained from Oakland County Records is outlined below: 

Parcel Address Parcel Number Facili er Pal't 201? 
140 S. Sa inaw 64-14-32-235-00 I Yes 

Please see Attachment A for Legal Description information and Attachment B for Location Maps 
and Aerial Site Plan/General Concept Plans. 

As the parcel qualifies as a "facility", the entire development is eligible for Tax Increment 
Financing (TIF) reimbursement of eligible activities as a "Brownfield" under P.A. 381 of 1996, as 
amended. See MCLA 125.2663(13)(1) Brownfield plan; provisions. 

[t is anticipated that 2018 will be the base year of the Brownfield Plan with tax increment revenue 
("TJR") capture expected to commence in 2019. However, Developer reserves the right to delay 
capture as allowed under P.A. 38 J of 1996, as amended. 

Page I of 18 



The purpose of this Plan, to be implemented by the Authority, is to satisfy the requirements for a 
Brownfield Plan as specified in the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, P.A. 381 of J 996, 
as amended, to authorize tax increment financing ("TIF") of eligible activities and the collection 
of tax increment revenue ("TlR"), and to authorize the application for Michigan Community 
Revitalization Program ("CRP") incentive and other available incentives for eligible properties, if 
available, al the option of Developer. 

II. GENERAL DEFINITIONS AS USED IN TIDS PLAN 

All terms used in this Brownfield Plan are defined as provided in the following statutes, as 
appropriate: 

• The Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, 1996 Mich. Pub. Acts 381, M.C.L. 
§ 125.265 I et seq., as amended. 

• The Natural Resources and Environmental Protection Act, 1994 Mich. Pub. Acts 451, 
M.C.L. § 324.20101 et seq., as amended. 

111. DESCRIPTION OF PROJECT 

The property is located at 140 South Saginaw Street (the "Property"), which is part of the interior 
of the Woodward Loop thoroughfare-the area that makes up the downtown district of the City of 
Pontiac. The Property is comprised of one legal parcel that is approximately 1.3 acres in size and 
its predominant architectural feature is a tax reverted and unoccupied seven-story building 
formerly used for commercial purposes. The Property is a prominent feature and southern gateway 
into downtown Pontiac. 

The current very poor condition of the Prope1ty is an impediment to its redevelopment. The 
Property is contaminated at concentrations exceeding the MDEQ GRCC, in addition, the building 
interior and exterior envelope are in vety poor condition with severe interior damage due to water 
intrusion, vandalism, the illicit removal of interior mechanical and plumbing systems, asbestos, 
mold and other hazardous materials, making H unusable in its current condition. Many of the 
building's metal fixtures have been removed illegally and haphazardly by trespassers. Incentives 
are necessaiy to equalize the costs of re-developing the Property (versus developing a Greenfield 
site) and "level the playing field" to make redevelopment of the Property feasible. 

The proposed Project being developed by Developer includes the complete renovation of the 
building and building systems as wel I as the paved parking and landscaped areas. As part of the 
proposed Project, necessary remedial activities will be undertaken by Developer to install 
engineering controls to encapsulate the known existing petroleum hydrocarbon and heavy metal 
contamination and/or remove contaminated soils and groundwater to prevent contact with the soil, 
soil vapor and/or groundwater contamination to render the site safe for its intended use. 

Facility Status of Property 
Based on the Phase I ESA Report prepared by Atwell , LLC (Atwell) under date of December 4, 
2015, At\¥ell identified the following: 

Page 2 of 18 



• Information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, fire 
insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that 
the subject site has been developed with the current commercial office building since 1972. 
Prior to 1972, the subject site was developed with multiple structures (including filling 
stations, automobile repair businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at 
least 1888 (as depicted in the Sanborn Maps). 

• Several subsurface investigations (identified below) have been completed by other 
consultants to address the historical filling station operations at the subject site and north 
adjoining property. Review of previous subsurface investigation repot1s and extensive 
ground penetrating radar (GPR) studies indicates that the historical on-site USTs were 
likely removed as part of site redevelopment activities. 

• During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opportunity to review 
several previous environmental reports completed for the subject site, including: ( I) BEA 
completed by McDowell & Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA 
completed by LFR Levine Fricke (LFR), dated November 11, 2005; Phase II Subsurface 
Investigation report completed by Hillman Environmental Group, LLC (Hillman), dated 
October 6, 2004. RECs identified for the subject site by other consultants include: (I) 
historical gas station and automobile service/repair operations on the northern and eastern 
portions of the prope11y from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) historical battery shop, auto 
repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the property from the 1920s 
through 1950s; (3) a historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 
Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn 
Map; and (4) elevated levels of VOCs and rnetals identified in soil and groundwater at 
concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the completion of several 
subsurface investigations. 

• Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater contamination, the subject site qualifies 
as a "facility" as defined in Part 20 I of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection 
Act (NREPA), 1994. 

According to the Atwell Phase I ESA, the, " ... testing completed during previous subsurface 
investigations did not include a full list of parameters typically associated with automobile 
service/repair stations .. . at each soil boring location; thus did not adequately address historical uses 
of the subject site.» Additional soil, groundwater and soil vapor investigative activities will be 
required as part of pre-development due diligence activities for the Project to determine the full 
extent of tbe contamination and determine tbe specific remedial measures necessary to render the 
site safe for its intended use. 

Tn addition, appropriate environmental precautions will be implemented to prevent exposure of 
hazardous materials to human health, safety, and the environment during the renovation process. 

A. Community Impact/ Public Benefit 

The public benefit of incentivizing the project include the revitalization of the City of Pontiac's 
downtown district. The proposed project involves a minimum capital investment of 
$16,047, I 00.00 including construction costs and Eligible Activities and will result in a dramatic 
increase to the City's tax revenue once the project is complete. In addition, a project on the scale 

Page 3 of 18 



of the Developer's proposal will offer employment opportunities for city residents, and likely 
atlracl new residents, which would boost to the City's housing market. 

The Project will serve to revitalize the City of Pontiac's downtown district by reducing vacancy in 
the heart of the City. The seven-story commercial building on the Property is a key architectural 
feature of Pontiac's downtown district and is generally one of the first images visitors see as they 
approach Pontiac via northbound Woodward Avenue. The project will also significantly increase 
the tax base of the City of Pontiac by placing a blighted and vacant piece of prime real estate back 
on the tax rolls, as well as providing employment opportunities for many of tbe local residents. 

The Property is a key architectural piece of the heart City of Pontiac, as well as the gateway of the 
City for northbound Woodward Ave. commuters, and yel has been vacant over a decade. The 
Developer' s proposed Project is designed to revitalize the south end of the downtown district of 
the City of Pontiac and contribute to the character by enhancing the community's prestige overall, 
in addition to the multiple tax benefits the project will yield to the City. The proposed project 
places a high-profile, but difficult to develop, property back on the tax rolls, whicb will provide 
benefits lo local residents. 

The proposed project will also contribute to a significant increase in the population density of the 
downtown area. This will be a key factor in both the Developer's ability to attract tenants, as wel l 
as the City's ability to attract new development. The proposed project, coupled with other 
redevelopment projects currently unde1way in downtown Pontiac, will not only provide 
revitalization to the individual properties, but to the downtown area as a whole. 

The proposed redevelopment project will be an integral component in the overall effort to build a 
more vibrant and developed downtown Pontiac--a goal tbat every resident can get behind. In fact, 
the Prope11y is referenced in the "Congress for New Urbanism (CNU) - Legacy Charrelle "Vision 
for Revitalized and Transit Ready Downtown Pontiac " Published Spring 2016 ("CNU Report") . 

According to the CNU Report, the Property is located in the area designated as "District 4: South 
District" by the CNU study, which describes the area as follows: 

• Tl1is District is comprised of two office towers, community buildings and vacant lots, cut
off from Downtown. 

• Development Proposals included infill business and residential development, new node 
and improved connections to Saginaw and Transportation Center. 

• The recommended development approach: Principally a private venture (private developer 
and private users). 

• The area has the potential to be a southern gateway into Downtown. 
• A mix of uses would be appropriate, including retail, offices, light industrial and some 

residential. 

Short-term goals are described as: 
• Improve pedestrian connections west to the Transpoltation Center and north to Saginaw; 
• Facilitate easy vehicular access from Woodward Avenue into the District; and 
• Create a new node at the intersection of S. Saginaw and Whittemore St. 

Long-term goals are described as: 

Page 4 of 18 



• In conjunction with the reestablishment of Saginaw and downgrading of the Woodward 
Loop redirect traffic through the South District; and 

• infill blocks with a mix of uses and building types, and retrofit existing buildings 

The proposed Project fulfills several of these short and long term goals simultaneously by 
revitalizing one of the two existing office towers in the District, using a private developer with 
both private capital and public funding (Brownfield TIF, etc.), improving the pedestrian 
connections to Saginaw Street and across Woodward Avenue to the west to the existing 
Transportation Center and stimulating demand in the zoned Downtown District. 

Estimated Amount ofluvcstment 

Developer estimates that total investment for environmental due diligence, soil mitigation 
infrastructure improvements, site remediation/engineering controls, site development, and 
building renovations will exceed $16,047, I 00.00. The total of $16,047, I 00.00 is based upon 
Developer' preliminary construction budget, given the projected scope of the project (not including 
land cost). 

As projected by Developer, it is anticipated that the proposed new development will be 
constructed at an estimated cost that will exceed $16,047, I 00.00, comprised of a minimum of 
$ J 2,982,500.00 of Construction Costs plus an estimated $3,064,600.00 of Eligible Activities. 
Allocated on a per square foot basis for the estimated 160,000 square foot building, the cost 
exceeds $97.62 per square foot, not including soft costs and currently unknown additional 
estimated environmental and site preparation costs. The estimated total investment of 
approximately $15,107,316.00 to re-develop the Property will result in an increase in the existing 
assessed and taxable values, as presented in the table below, as calculated by the millage rates 
provided by the Oakland County Equalization Office. 

Pa.-cel Address Parcel Numbe.- 2018 Assessed 2018 Taxable 2020 Assessed 2020 Taxable 
Value• Vnluc1 Value (Dcvtlopetl as Vnluc (Developed as 

Anticipatctl) 1 Anticipated) 1 

140 S. Saginaw 63-14-32-235-00 l $0 $0 $12,982,500 $3,894,750 
TOTAL $0 $0 $12 982,500 $3 894,750 

1Vah1ts 111·ovidcd by the Oakland County Equalization on January 30, 2018 !Jasetl ou a December 31, 2018 re-valualiou and arc suhjcet 
to further verHiration. 

AsmsodValuo: Tho Assessed ValJe lsdele<mined by a f(opetly'• makelYalJo. TheAS$1lssed ValJo rep,eseo!s50¾ol lhoMattet VillJe or True Cash Va'»a. Sel by lhe ...._, Iha Assessed Val.Ja l"1en 
,n,,llipl6d byt•o-,illglvtl m apjXOl'.mila m.rket yalJ&ol lh9 p,ope,ty. Tha--l•~liona,,, reqv,ed lo set lhoassessed yalJaal 50%ol lho UOJal,.ling poceor '1Jo casl1 val.JG ol lhe p<Of,6<1y. 
A...-ValJe Is gen!<~i'/ lhe &amll as Sta' .. Equalled Va\Je unless an equaizawi lacb h .. been appled by lho cooo1'j n v.hch lho f'ope<1y Is localed or lho Sta!o. 

Slate Equalized Value (SEV): SEV Is lho asses5ed v,lJe lhat h .. bean adJJ$lt,d lolol\1ng oovni'/ and sta:o equellalion. Tho Cooolylloa'd of Coovnlss.'onefs and lhe IFJdllg"' Sla:>1 Ta:c eorm.s&on must r>view 
local assessments and adjust (equalla) ~ ff they ,re allal'e or below lho oonstiMional 50%1ovel of a.ss&lSl!l<nl Slate Equalled V.wa Is geo<1atf ono haV (112) ol lho p,op«ty's True Cao!, Vallo. 

Truo C.sh Valua: TM far mnel valJe or lho usual '81ng r,108 of p,opertf. 

h u ble Value: A p,op«ty's la,abl) vwo Is lho YalJe used l:i< do:«rrin'ng lhe p,operty o•M>G(s ta:c labiity, Miltipiyillg lhe Taxable Valle by tho local 11»lage raiav.11 dolannllle your ta:c iabilly. Ta,_abl) Vam 
lncreasos t om yea, lo year by lhe ra:e ol nllal!on or 51(,, v.hlcl!e,.., ~ low•<. Tranlfe,s of .--,hip and rnp,ovements lo lhe f(operty v,(JJ lnc,ease Ile la>.able val.Je more lh"' Iha raia of n r.alion but MY., m<WO 
than lhe assessed valJo. Ta,ablo Yao, rTllrf nol be too o.m, as lhe property's True Cash Vakio, Assessed ValJe, c, Sia~ Equalzed Valle, but may nol be ~eate< lhan Iha p,opc<ty's Assessed Val.Joo, Sla',a 
Equa-'!1ed ValJe. 

Note that in order to be conse,·vative when calculating the estimated Tax Increment Revenue 
(TIR) payback period, AES further revised this value. The estimated 16 year Plan durntion 
is based ou the estimated investment being $12,982,500.00 and calculating a Ta.xable Value 
by taking fifty percent (50%) of the estimated investment and using a sixty percent (60%) 
valuation reduction factor to adjust for the Pontiac ma,·ket. Based on that formula, 
($12,982,500.00/2)*0.6 = $3,894,750.00 was used to calculate the real property taxes using 

Page 5 of 18 



City of Pontiac millage rates obtained from Oakland County Equalization. Based on the 
estimated new Tax Increment Revenue (TIR) and the total value of Eligible Activities, fixed 
BRA Management Fee of $5,000.00 annually and estimated Local Brownfield Revolving 
Fund (LBRF) capture, 16 years are needed to fu lly reimburse the Developer and allow 1 
partial and 3 years of LBRF capture. 

Full-time Jobs 

According to Developer, the proposed redevelopment will create up to an estimated 400 new Full 
Time Equivalent (FTE) jobs within the City of Pontiac described as fo llows: 

Phase of Job Typicnl Typical Typical Number of Total Annual Duration Tota l Project 
Operation Clussificatiun Hourly II ours Annual Direct Payroll Rclnted of Jobs Related Payroll 

Rate Worked Salary Jobs to Project Created by (snlary/wagcs 
(Wccldy) Related to Project only) 

Project 
(Average 
per year) 

Project 0111cc workers, $30.00 40 $62,400.00 400 $24,960,000.00 Permanent $24,960,000.00 
Completion building 

management, 
grounds 
keeping, 
security and 
other jobs 

New 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 

Total Estimated Jobs and Prnject Payrnll 400 $24,960,000.00 $24,960,000.00 
(Annuallv) 

The proposed job creation will benefit the City of Pontiac as the current reported U3 
unemployment rate for Pontiac is 8.1 % as of September 2017 compared to 4.7% for Michigan 
overall, 5. 1 % for the Detroit/Dearborn/Livonia SMSA and 4.1 % nationally as of January 2018. 

Construction Related Jobs 

According to the General Contractor for Developer, in addition to the full-time jobs created by the 
project, the proposed redevelopment wi ll create up to 90 FTE construction jobs with in the City of 
Pontiac comprised as fo llows: 

Phase of Job Typical Typical Typical Number Tota l Duration of Total Project 
Construction Classification Hourly Hours Annual of Jobs Annualized Jobs in Vcnrs Related Payroll 

Rate Worl<cd Salary Related Payroll Related Created by (salary/wages & 
(Wccldy) lo Project to Proj ect Project (in benefits only) 

(A,•erage years based 
per year) on# months 

construction) 
Site Construction $55.00 40 $ 11 4,400.00 90 $ I 0,296,000.00 1.3 $ 13,384,800.00 
Preparation Trade-smen and 

affiliated 
& Vert ical workers 
Constrnction 
Construction 90 $ 10,296,000.00 1.3 $13,384,800.00 
Phase Total 

Page 6 of 18 



IV. THE PROPERTY ADDRESSED IN THIS PLAN IS ELIGIBLE PROPERTY 

The Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, Public Act 38 1 of 1996, as amended, is: 

"AN ACT lo authorize municipalities lo create a browY/fle/d redevelopment authori~y to facilitate 
the implementation ofbrm11r1fleld plans; to create browr1fleld redevelopment zones; lo promote the 
revitalization, redevelopment, and reuse of certain property, including, but not limited to, tax 
revertec/, blighted, or functionally obsolete properly; lo prescribe the powers and duties of 
brownfield redevelopment authorities; to permit the issuance of bonds and other evidences of 
indebtedness by an authority; lo authorize the acquisition and disposal of certain property; lo 
authorize certain jimds; lo prescribe certain powers and duties of certain slate officers and 
agencies; and lo authorize and pennil the use of certain lax increment financing. " 

M.C.L. § I 25.2652(p) of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act defines "eligible property" 
to include "property for which eligible activities are identified under a brownfield plan that was 
used or is currently used for commercial, industrial, public, or residential purposes, including 
personal property located on the property, to the extent included in the brownfield plan, and that 
is 1 or more of the following: 

(i) Ts in a qualified local governmental unit and is a facility or a site or property as those 
terms are defined in part 2 13, historic resource, functionally obsolete, or blighted and 
includes parcels that are adjacent or contiguous to that property if the development of the 
adjacent and contiguous parcels is estimated to increase the captured taxable value of that 
property. 

(ii) Is not in a qualified local governmental unit and is a facility or a site or property as 
those terms are defined in part 213, and includes parcels that are adjacent or contiguous to 
that property if the development of the adjacent and contiguous parcels is estimated to 
increase the captured taxable value of that property." M.C.L. §125.2652(0). Eligible 
property includes "personal property located on the property." Id. 

(iii) Is tax reverted property owned or under the control of a land bank fast track authority. 

(iv) Ts a transit-oriented development or tra11sit-oriented property. 

(v) Is located in a qualified local governmental unit and contains a targeted redevelopment 
area. 

(vi) Is undeveloped property that was eligible property in a previously approved brownfield 
plan abolished under section 14(8). 

(vii) Eligible properly does not include qualified agricultural property exempt under section 
7ee of the general property tax act, 1893 PA 206, MCL 2 11. 7ee, from the tax levied by a 
local school district for school operating purposes to the extent provided under section 
1211 of the revised school code, 1976 PA 451, MCL 380.1211. 

Page 7 of 18 



M.C.L. § J 25.2652(r) "Facility" means that term as defined in section 20 IO I of the natural 
resources and environmental protection act, 1994 PA 45 J, MCL 324.20 IO I. 

M.C.L § 324.20 IO I (s) "Facility" means any area, place, parcel or p arcels of properly, or 
portion of a parcel ojjJroperly where a hazardous substance in excess of the concentrations 
that sati.~fy the cleanup crileria for unrestricted residential use (emphasis added) has been 
released, deposited, disposed of, or otherwise comes to be located. Facility does not include 
any area, place, parcel or parcels of property, or portion of a parcel of property where any 
of the fo llowing conditions are satisfied: 

(i) Response activities have been completed under this part or the comprehensive 
environmental response, compensation, and liability act, 42 USC 960 I to 9675, that 
satisfy the cleanup criteria for unrestricted residential use. 

(ii) Corrective action has been completed under the resource conse.rvation and 
recovery act, 42 USC 690 I to 6992k, part 11 I, or part 2 13 that satisfies the cleanup 
criteria for unrestricted residential use. 

(iii) Site-specific criteria that have been approved by the department for application 
at the area, place, parcel of property, or portion of a parcel of property are met or 
satisfied and hazardous substances at the area, place, or property that are not 
addressed by site-specific criteria satisfy the cleanup criteria for unrestricted 
residential use. 

(iv) Hazardous substances in concentrations above unrestricted residential cleanup 
criteria are present due only to the placement, storage, or use of beneficial use by
products or inert materials at the area, place, or property in compliance with part 
l 15. 

(v) The property has been lawfully split, subdivided, or divided from a faci lity and 
does not contain hazardous substances in excess of concentrations that satisf)1 the 
cleanup criteria for unrestricted residential use. 

(vi) Natural attenuation or other natural processes have reduced concentrations of 
hazardous substances to levels at or below the cleanup criteria for unrestricted 
residential use. 

M.C.L. § 125.2652(0) "Eligible activities" or "eligible activity'' means I or more of the following: 
(i) For all eligible properties, eligible activities include all of the following: 

(A) Department specific activities. 
(B) Relocation of public buildings or operations for economic development purposes. 
(C) Reasonable costs of environmental insurance. 
(D) Reasonable costs incurred to develop and prepare brownfield plans, combined 
brownfield plans, or work plans for tbe eligible property, including legal and consulting 
fees that are not in the ordinary course of acquiring and developing real estate. 
(E) Reasonable costs of brownfield plan and work plan implementation, including, but not 
limited to, tracking and reporting of data and plan compliance and the reasonable costs 

Page 8 of 18 



incurred to estimate and determine actual costs incurred, whether those costs are incurred 
by a municipality, authority, or private developer. 
(F) Demolition of structures that is not a response activity. 
(G) Lead, asbestos, or mold abatement. 
(H) The repayment of principal of and interest on any obligation issued by an authority to 
pay the costs of eligible activities attributable to an eligible property. 

(ii) For eligible properties located in a qualified local unit of government, or an economic 
opportunity zone, or that is a former mill, eligible activities include: 

(A) The activities described in subparagraph (i). 
(B) Infrastructure improvements that directly benefit eligible property. 
(C) Site preparation that is not a response activity. 

(iii) For eligible properties that are owned by or under the control of a land bank fast track 
authority, or a qualified local unit of government or authority, eligible activities i.nclude: 

(A) The el igible activities described in subparagraphs (i) and (ii). 
(B) Assistance to a land bank fast track authority in clearing or quieting title to, or selling 
or otherwise conveying, property owned by or under the control of a land bank fast track 
authority or the acquisition of property by the land bank fast track authority if the 
acquisition of the property is for economic development purposes. 
(C) Assistance to a qualified local governmental unit or authority in clearing or quieting 
title to, or selling or otherwise conveying, property owned by or under the control of a 
qualified local governmental unit or authority or the acquisition of property by a qualified 
local governmental unit or authority if the acquisition of the property is for economic 
development purposes. 

(iv) For el igible activities on eligible property that is included in a transformational brownfield 
plan, any demolition, construction, restoration, alteration, renovation, or improvement of buildings 
or site improvements on eligible properly, including infrastructure improvements that directly 
benefit eligible property. 

Under MCL § 125.2652(1), "Department specific activities" means baseline environmental 
assessments, due care activities, response activities, and other environmentally related actions that 
are eligible activities and are identified as a part of a brownfield plan that are in addition to the 
minimum due care activities required by part 20 I, including, but not limited to: 

(i) Response activities that are more protective of the public health, safety, and welfare and 
the environment than required by section 20 I 07a, 201 14, or 2 1304c of the natural resources 
and environmental protection act, 1994 PA 45 1, MCL 324.20 I 07a, 324.20114, and 
324.21304c. 
(ii) Removal and closure of underground storage tanks pursuant to part 21 1 or 213. 
(iii) Disposal of solid waste, as defined in part 115 of the natural resources and 
environmental protection act, 1994 PA 451, MCL 324.1 J 501 to 324.11554, from the 
eligible property, provided it was not generated or accumulated by the authority or the 
developer. 
(iv) Dust control related to construction activities. 
(v) Removal and disposal of lake or river sediments exceeding part 20 I criteria from, at, 
or related to an economic development project where the upland property is either a facility 
or would become a facility as a result of the deposition of dredged spoils. 
(vi) Industrial cleaning. 

Page 9 of 18 



(vii) Sheeting and shoring necessary for the removal of materials exceeding part 20 l 
criteria at projects requiring a permit pursuant to part 30 I, 303, or 325 of the natural 
resources and environmental protection act, 
1994 PA 451, MCL 324.30101 to 324.30113, MCL 324.3030 1 to 324.30328, or MCL 
324.3250 l to 324.325 J Sa. 
(viii) Lead, mold, or asbestos abatement wben lead, mold, or asbestos pose an imminent 
and significant threat to human health. 

The Activities ldent(fied In the Plan Are Eligible Activities. The eligible activities are identified in 
Section V(B) of this Plan. 

The Property Was Usedfor Commercial Pwposes. Based on information gathered during the site 
investigation, interviews witb appropriate parties, review of aerial photographs, review of Sanborn 
maps, review of historical address listings, and review of municipal records, the subject property 
was developed for commercial use sometime around 1926. Historical use includes gas 
station/service stations on the eastern and northern parts of the parcel. There is the known use, 
storage and handling of petroleum products and other hazardous materials at the eastern portion of 
the site including fuel oil ASTs, petroleum USTs and dispenser islands, and in-ground hydraulic 
hoists. Previous site assessment conducted at the site confirmed subsurface contamination at 
concentrations greater than the MDEQ Generic Residential Cleanup Criteria (GRCC) qualifying 
the subject site as a "facility" as that term is defmed under Part 20 1. 

Information obtained from the historical records review shows that the Property initially consisted 
of multiple parcels, and that the northern and eastern areas were used for gasoline and service 
station purposes from the mid- I 920s through the 1950s. Uses identified for the subject site 
include: (I) historical gas station and automobile service/repair operations on the northern and 
eastern portions of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) historical battery shop, auto 
repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the property from the J 920s through 
J 950s; and (3) a historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; 
hjstorical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map. ln 1972, the 
multiple parcels were combined, and the seven-story 145,000 square foot building currently on the 
Property was constructed. The Property has been vacant for over a decade and is currently tax 
reverted property owned by Oakland County. 

The Property has been deemed lo qual(fy as a ''facility" due to the presence of petroleum 
hydrocarbon and heavy metal contamination exceeding the MDEQ GRCC. A copy of the Phase 
TT ESA Report is attached as Attachment D. 

Based upon the foregoing, the Property identified by this Plan is therefore eligible under P.A. 381, 
as amended, for reimbursement of the planned activities. 

Page 10 of 18 



V. BROWNFIELD PLAN REQUIREMENTS OF M.C.L. § 125.2663 

M.C.L. § 125.2663 requires several items to be included in a Brownfield Plan. These items are 
addressed below. 

A. Description of Costs to Be Paid for With Tax Increment Revenues 

A description of the costs of the plan intended to be paid for with the tax increment revenues ... " M.C.L. 
§ I 25.2663(2)(a). 

Cost Summa,y. The following summary lists potential costs based on initial preliminary due 
diligence and site investigation results. This plan seeks approval of the following activities, which 
include, but not limited to: (a) Phase I ESA, BEA and Due Care Plan; (b) Additional Due Care 
Phase If ESA activities; (c) Remediation/Soil Vapor Mitigation; (d) Asbestos, Lead and Mold 
Abatement; (e) Demolition; (t) Site Preparation and Infrastructure Related activities; (g) 
Brownfield Plan Preparation; (h) Health and Safety Plan Preparation; and (i) Response Activities. 
Please see Tables I and 2 for a detailed listing of eligible activities. All reimbursements are 
proposed to be obtained from tax increment revenues derived from Local and State School Taxes. 

Tax increment revenues will be used to reimburse the Developer for the eligible activities 
generally described in (a) through (i), above, all eligible activities permitted under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act. The activities would genera lly be implemented in a phased 
approach, in the following order: 

a. As much as $34,800.00 may be spent conducting Baseline Environmental 
Assessment (BEA) activities conducting due diligence for the project (Phase I ESA, Phase TI ESA 
Consulting, BEA, Preliminary Section 7a Due Care Plan, and other environmental due diligence 
activities). 

b. As much as $2,800.00 may be spent preparing a Revised Section 7a Due Care Plan 
for the project; 

c. As much as $30,000.00 may be spent preparing the Brownfield Plan, Act 381 Work 
Plan and Supporting Documents plus Related Consulting, and integral documents, including 
applications, for the project. 

d. As much as $33,500.00 may be spent for completion of the Additional Due Care 
Phase II ESA Activities/Additional Due Care Phase TI ESA Reporting Activities for the project; 

e. As much as $50,000.00 may be spent for Pump & Treat of Contaminated 
Groundwater During Construction for the project; 

f. As much as $25,000.00 may be spent for Soil Verification Sampling for the project; 

g. As much as $2,500.00 may be spent for Health & Safety Plan for the project; 

Page 11 of 18 



h. As much as $15,000.00 may be spent on Project Management activities managing the 
eligible activities; 

i. As much as $3,000.00 may be spent for Remediation related Soil Erosion Measures 
for the project; 

j . As much as $30,00.00 may be spent for Remediation - Greenspace Encapsulation 
Lncremental Costs and relaled Engineering/Deed Restrictions/Institutional Controls for the project; 

k. As much as $50,000.00 may be spent for Re1nediation - Encapsulation of Bui I ding 
and Parking Lot Areas Incremental Costs and related Engineering/Deed Restrictions/Tnstitutional 
Controls for the prnject; 

I. As much as $35,000.00 may be spent for Soil Vapor Assessment and Pilot Test 
activities for the project; 

m. As much as $250,000.00 may be spent for Soil Vapor Barriers/Sub-slab 
Depressurization System and related engineering for tbe project; 

n. As much as $5,000.00 may be spent for Due Care related Engineering Control 
Work Plans, Engineering Specifications and Reports; 

o. As much as $15,000.00 may be spent for Hoist, Trench, and former equipment 
Removal Related Activities for the project; 

p. As much as $25,000.00 may be spent for UST Removal and Closure Related 
Activities for the project; 

q. As much as $12,000.00 may be spent for UST Removal and Closure Observation 
Related Activities for the project; 

r. As much as $4,500.00 may be spent for Additional Response related Work Plans, 
Engineering, Specifications and Reports for the project; 

s. A contingency of $88,965.00 for MDEQ eligible activities approximating 15% of 
estimated project costs is established to address unanticipated conditions that may be discovered 
during the implementation of site activities as required under P.A. 381 of 1996, as amended. 

t. As much as $250,000.00 may be spent for Engineering, Design and Planning 
related to the HMEA, Hazardous Materials Abatement (ACM, LBP, Mold, PCBs, etc.), Air 
Monitoring, and Demolition activities and management; 

u. 
project; 

As much as $ I 0,000.00 may be spent for Bid Specs and Bid Evaluation for the 

v. As much as $35,000.00 may be spent for Pre Demolition Hazardous Materials 
Environmental Assessment (HMEA) for the project; 

Page 12 of 18 



w. As much as $15,000.00 may be spent on site security that may include fencing, 
security guards or other necessary measures to help prevent site access during the Hazardous 
Materials Abatement activities; 

x. As much as $6 17,490.00 may be spent for Pre Demolition Asbestos, Lead and Mold 
(Hazardous Materials) Abatement for the project; 

y. As much as $977,245.00 may be spent for Demolition of Building (Interior and 
Exterior including demolition and disposal, utility disconnect and removal) for the project; 

z. As much as $61,000.00 may be spent for Demolition Engineering, Design and 
Management, Project Management, Bid Specs, Bidding and Bid Evaluation, and Health Safety 
Plan for the project; 

aa. 
project; 

bb. 
project; 

As much as $50,000.00 may be spent for Utility Connection and Installation for the 

As much as $5,000.00 may be spent for Geotechnical Testing & Evaluation for the 

cc. As much as $25,000.00 may be spent for Soil Mitigation Infrastructure related 
activities (testing) for the project; 

dd. A contingency of $306,860.00 for MEDC eligible activities approximating 15% of 
estimated project costs is established to address unanticipated conditions that may be discovered 
during the implementation of site activities as required under P.A. 38 1 of 1996, as amended. 

ee. Certain expenses incurred before approval of the Plan may be reimbursed, at the 
discretion of the Authority, including BEA and other due diligence related activities. Based on 
conversations, emails and meetings with Mr. Brad Hansen of the Authority, pre-plan approval 
expenses have al.ready been incurred. The Authority has agreed that all eligible activities incurred 
prior to Plan approval shall be included in the Plan and for those eligible activities to be reimbursed 
by the Authority. 

ff. Reasonable and actual administrative and operating expenses of the Authority 
permitted to be reimbursed pursuant to Section 136(7) of the Brownfield Redevelopment 
Financing Act or otherwise. For purposes of this Plan, tbe Authority has elected to collect an 
annual fixed Administrative Fee of Five Thousand Dollars and No Cents ($5,000.00) of the local 
TIR for the life of the Plan. 

Activities related to Geotechnically Non-viable Soil Removal, Parking Structure, and Site 
Preparation (excavation, rough and finished grad ing, etc.) were removed from this Plan at the 
request of the Authority and, if such activities and costs are necessary for the Project, the 
Authority has requested Developer to prepare an atnended Pla11 reflecting any such activities and 
costs for review and possible approval. 

Page 13 of 18 



All activities are eligible activities necessary to render the Property safe for its intended use as a 
Mixed-use Office Building are intended to be "eligible activities" under the Brownfield 
Redevelopment Financing Act. 

The estimated costs outlined in a-ff, above, may increase or decrease depending on the nature and 
extent of any unknown or unanticipated conditions on the Property. As long as the total costs, 
including being adjusted by the 15% contingency factor, have not exceeded the total estimated 
eligible activities amount of $3,064,660.00, the line item costs of the Eligible Activities outlined 
above may be adjusted between the Eligible Activities after the date this Plan is approved without 
the need for any additional approval from the City of Pontiac, Oakland County or the Authority, 
to the extent those adjustments do not violate the terms of any MDEQ or MEDC/MSF approved 
work plan, if any. lf necessary, this Plan may also be amended to add eligible activities and their 
respective costs. 

The actual cost of eligible activities in this Plan that will qualify for reimbursement from tax 
increment revenues (TIR) generated from the Property and shall be governed by the terms of the 
Reimbmsement Agreement between the Developer and the Authority (the "Reimbursement 
Agreement"). No costs of eligible activities will be qualified for reimbursement except to the 
extent permitted by the Brownfield Plan in accordance with the terms and conditions of the 
Reimbursement Agreement. The Reimbursement Agreement and this Plan will dictate the total 
cost of eligible activities subject to payment, provided that the total cost of eligible activities 
subject to payment or reimbursement under the Reimbursement Agreement shall not exceed the 
estimated costs set fo1th above by more than 15% without requiring an amendment to this Plan. 
Developer estimates that it will incur up to $7 J 2,065.00 for MDEQ eligible activities and 
$2,352,595.00 for MEDC/MSF eligible activities, including the 15% contingency required under 
the statute. 

Capture of School Taxes. Thjs Plan provides for the capture of taxes levied for school operating 
purposes (State Education Tax (SET) and School Operating Tax) from the Property. However, as 
the approval ofScbool Tax Capture is at the discretion of the MDEQ and MEDC/MSF, all eligible 
activities shall be reimbursable from Local Taxes unless School Tax Capture is approved by the 
agency responsible for the eligible activity(ies), then reimbursement will be from a combination 
of both Local and School Taxes. 

B. Brief Summaiy of the Eligible Activities 

A brief summary of the eligible activities that are proposed for each eligible property.,." M.C.L. § I 25.2663(2)(b). 

The eligible activities will include the activities identified in a-ff, above, and are generally 
summarized as: (a) Phase I ESA, BEA and Due Care Plan; (b) Additional Due Care Phase II ESA 
activities; (c) Remediation/Soil Vapor Mitigation; (d) Site Preparation and Infrastrncture Related 
activities; (e) Brownfield Plan Preparation; (f) Health and Safety Plan Preparation; and (g) 
Additional Response activities. All reimbursements are proposed to be obtained from tax 
increment revenues derived from Local and State School Taxes 

Page 14 of 18 



C. Estimate of Captured Taxable Value and Tax Increment Revenues 

An estimate of the captured taxable value and tax increment revenues for each year of the plan from the eligible 
property. The plan may provide for the use of part or all of the captured taxable value, iucluding deposits in the local 
brownfield revolving fund, but the portion intended to be used shall be clearly stated in the plan. The plan shall not 
provide either for an exclusion from captured taxable value of a portion of the captured taxable value or for an 
exclusion of the tax levy of I or more taxing jurisdictions unless the tax levy is excluded from tax increment revenues 
in section 2(ss), or unless the tax levy is excluded from capture under section 15. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(c). 

See Attachment C for spreadsheets depicting estimated tax increment revenues for each year of 
the plan. Please note that these summaries are based on the renovation of one 145,000 square foot 
building and site improvements and the final projected value for tax purposes will depend upon 
the determination of the City of Pontiac and Oakland County Equalization Office. 

Tbe final site plans, engineering drawings and permits are subject to approval by the City of 
Pontiac. This Plan will be interpreted to incorporate any required or requested changes to the final 
site plan, costs and expenses, etc. without necessitating any other approval or amendment to this 
Plan. 

The initial taxable value of the eligible property shall be based on the 2018 taxable value as 
base year for initial value, currently identified as follows: 

Parcel Address I Parcel Number 2018 Assessed Value1 

140 S. Saginaw I 64-14-32-235-00 l $0 
TOTAL $0 

1\lalurs prnvldtd lly lht Oakland County E<1ualizntio11 on Jamrnry 30, 2018. 

D. Method of Financing and Description of Advances by the Municipalily 

The method by which the costs of lhe plan will be financed, including a description of any advances made or 
anticipated to be made for the costs of the plan from the municipality. M.C.L. § l 25.2663(2)(d). 

lt is anticipated that the Authority will authorize the Plan to capture TJR from the project to 
reimburse the Developer for the actual costs of the eligible activities, as well as up to 5 years of 
TJR Capture for deposit into the LBRF. 1n addition, it is anticipated that the Authority will also 
collect a $5,000.00 annual fixed fee for Administrative Costs. 

The Developer, Authority and LBRF will be reimbursed for the eligible costs solely from tax 
increment revenues from the eligible property pursuant to the terms of the Reimbursement 
Agreement(s) and/or Loan Agreement(s) between the Developer, LBRF and Authority. The 
Authority will reimburse for tbe actual costs only. Although allowed under M.C.L. § 
125.2663( 13b)( 11 )-( 14) Brownfield plan; provisions, payment of interest is not being supported 
by the Authority or City of Pontiac. 

The Authority's obligation to reimburse the eligible costs is subject to receipt of tax increment 
revenues. If there are insufficient tax increment revenues generated on the eligible property to 
reimburse for the cost of all of the eligible activities during the Ii fe of the Plan, the Authority shall 
not be obligated to reimburse the eligible costs beyond the amount of tax increment revenues which 
have been received. To the extent that TIR is not sufficient to pay for the eligible activities in any 

Page 15 of 18 



given year, the balance owing the Developer will be paid from TTR collected in subsequent years 
until the balance is paid in full with no time limit placed on the collection and payment of eligible 
activities, other than the statutory maximum. Should it be necessary, the Developer, LBRF or 
Authority may apply to amend the Plan at a later date to include additional eligible activities or to 
extend the TIR collection period or to amend the collection and deposit of TIR into the Local 
Brownfield Revolving fund ("LBRF") pursuant to Section 8 of the Brownfield Redevelopment 
Financing Act (M.C.L. § 125.2658). The approval of any such Plan amendment is at the 
reasonable discretion of the Authority. 

E. Maximum Amount of Note or Bonded Indebtedness 

The maximum amount of note or bonded indebtedness to be incurred, if any. M.C.L. § I 25.2663(2)(e). 

No bonded indebtedness will be incurred by the City of Pontiac, Oakland County or the Authority 
in connection with this project. The repayment of eligible activities will be governed by the 
Reimbursement Agreement by and between the Developer and the Authority. 

F. Duration ofBrownfield Plan 

A brownfield plan shall not authorize the capture of tax increment revenue from eligible property afier the year in 
which the total amount of tax increment revenues captured is equal to the sum of the costs permitted to be funded with 
tax increment revenues under this act or 30 years from the beginning date of the capture of the tax increment revenues 
for that eligible property, whichever occurs first, except that a brownfield plan may authorize the capture of additional 
local and school operating tax increment revenue from an eligible property if I or more of the following apply: 

(a) During the time of capture described in this subsection for the purpose of paying the costs permitted 
under subsection ( 4) or section 136( 4). 
(b) For not more than 5 years after the date specified in subdivision (a), for payment to the local brownfield 
revolving fund created under section 8. M.C.L. § 125.2663(5). 

The brownfield plan shall include a proposed beginning date of capture. The beginning date of capture of tax increment 
revenues shall not be later than 5 years following the date of the resolution including the eligible property in the 
brownfield plan. The authority may amend the beginning date of capture of tax increment revenues for a particular 
eligible property to a dale not later than 5 years following the dale oflhe resolution including the eligible property in 
the brownfield plan. The authority may not amend the beginning date of capture of tax increment revenues for a 
particular eligible property if the authority has begun to reimburse eligible activities from the capture oflax increment 
revenues from that eligible property. Any lax increment revenues captured from an eligible property before the 
beginning date of capture of tax increment revenues for that eligible property shall revert proportionately to the 
respective tax bodies. If an authority amends the beginning date for capture of tax increment revenues that includes 
the capture of tax increment revenues for school operating purposes, then the authority shall notify the department or 
the Michigan strategic fund, as applicable, withiJJ 30 days after amending the beginning date. M.C.L. § I 25.2663b(l 6). 

The duration of the Plan as proposed is estimated to be eighteen (18) years, with 2019 being 
the proposed start of capture. This duration is based on the estimated investment being 
$12,982,500.00 and calculating a Taxable Value by taking fifty percent (50%) of the estimated 
investment and using a sixty percent (60%) valuation reduction factor to adjust for the Pontiac 
market. Based on that formula, ($12,982,500.00/2)*0.6 = $3,894,750.00 was used to calculate the 
real property taxes using City of Pontiac millage rates obtained from Oakland County 
Equalization. Based on the estimated new Tax Increment Revenue (TTR) and the total value of 
Eligible Activities, estimated BRA Management Fee of $5,000.00 annually and estimated Local 
Brownfield Revolving Fund (LBRF) capture, 18 years are needed to fully reimburse the 
Developer and allow J partial and 3 full years of LBRF capture. The Plan duration may exceed 
18 years if necessary to fuUy reimburse the approved eligible activities and LBRF capture. 

Page 16 of 18 



G. Estimated Impact of Tax Increment Financing on Revenues of Taxing Jmisdictions 

An estimate of the impact oflhe fittnre lax revenues of all taxingjurisdiclions in which the eligible property is localed. 
M.C.L. § 125.26632)(g). 

See Attachment C for an estimate of the impact on all relevant taxing jurisdictions. 

H. Legal Description, Property Map and Persoual Property 

A legal description of the eligible property to which the plau applies, a mr1p showing the location and dimensions of 
each eligible property, a statement of the characteristics that qualify the property as eligible property, and a statement 
of whether personal property is included as part of the eligible property. If the project is on property that is functionally 
obsolete, the taxpayer shall include, with the application, an affidavit signed by a level 3 or level 4 assessor, that states 
that it is the assessor's expert opinion that the prope11y is Ji.111ctio1rnlly obsolete and the 1rnderlying basis for that 
opinion. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(h). 

A legal description of the eligible property is included in Attachment A. Site maps are shown in 
Attachment B. 

The characteristics that qualify the property as eligible property are set forth in Section IV of this 
Plan. 

The eligible property will include personal property to be located within the new faciHty. 

l. Estimates of Residents and Displacement of Families 

Estimates of the number of persons residing on each eligible property to which the plan applies and the number of 
families and individuals to be displaced. If occupied residences are designated for acquisition and clearance by the 
authority, the plan shall include a demographic survey of the persons to be displaced, a statistical description of the 
housing supply in the community, including the number of private and public units in existence or under construction, 
the condition of those in existence, the number of owner-occupied and renter-occupied units, the annual rate of 
turnover of the various types of housing and the range of rents and sale prices, an estimate of the total demand for 
housing in the conummity, and the estimated capacity of private and public housing available to displaced families 
and individuals. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(i). 

There are no persons residing at the property that would be redeveloped under the Plan and there 
will be no families or individuals displaced as result of development under the Plan. No occupied 
residences are involved in the development. 

J. Plan for Relocation of Displaced Persons 

A plan for establishing priority for the relocation of persons displaced by implementation of the plan. M.C.L. § 
I 25.2663(2)U). 

No persons will be displaced as a result of implementation of the Plan. 

K. Provisions for Relocation Costs 

Provision for the costs of relocating persons displaced by implementation of the plan, and financial assistance and 
reimbursement of expenses, including litigation expenses and expenses incident to the transfer of title, in accordance 

Page 17 of 18 



with the standards and provisions of the federal uniform relocation assistance and real prope1ty acquisition policies 
act of 1970, Public Law 91-646. M.C.L. § I 25.2663(2)(k). 

No persons will be displaced as result of this development, and therefore, no relocatiot1 costs will 
be incurred. 

L. Strategy for Compliance with Michigan's Relocation Assistance Law 

A strategy for compliance with 1972 PA 227, MCL 2 13.321 to 2 13.332. M.C.L. § 125.2663(2)(1). 

No persons will be displaced as result of this development. 

M. Description of Proposed Use of Local Site Remediation Revolving Fund 

For not more than 5 years after the date specified ... for payment to the local brownfield revolving fund created under 
section 8. M .C. L. § 125.2663(5)(6 ). 

As discussed above, as allowed pursuant to Section 8 of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing 
Act (M.C.L. § 125.2658), the Authority has elected to capture up to four (4) years of TfR for 
deposit into the LBRF. 

N. Other Material that the Authority or Governing Body Considers Pertinent 

Other material that the authority or governing body considers pertinent to the brownfield plan. J'vf.C.L. § 
I 25.2663(2)(111). 

At this tin1e, other than the above, there are no other materials that the Authority or governing 
body considers pertinent. 

Tt is the intention of the Michigan Legislature to encourage redevelopment of Brown fields using 
the Michigan Community Revitalization Program ("CRP") and MDEQ Grant & Loan Program 
incentives for eligible properties. Both the CRP and MDEQ Grant & Loan Program can be 
approved as a Grant or a Loan to pay for eligible investment or part thereof. lt is the specific 
intention of the OCBRA to authorize and support the application for a CRP and/or MDEQ Grant 
and/or Loan and other available incentives, including PACE, related to the Eligible Investments 
made by Developer as part of this Project. 

Page 18 of 18 



Attachment A 

Legal Description of the Eligible Property 



Legal Description: 

T3N, R10E, SEC 32 ASSESSOR'S PLAT NO 65 ALL THAT PART OF LOTS 9 & 10 
LYING SLY OF RELOCATED JUDSON ST, ALSO LOTS 13 TO 17 INCL EXC THAT 
PART TAKEN FOR WIDE TRACK DR, ALSO LOTS 76, 77, 127 & 128 OF 
'ASSESSOR'S PLAT NO 116' EXC THAT PART TAKEN FOR WIDE TRACK DR, ALSO 
VAC PART OF SAGINAW ST ADJ TO SAME, ALSO ALL OF VAC CHASE ST LYING 
SLY OF RELOCATED JUDSON ST & ELY OF WIDE TRACK DR 

Property Address: 140 S Saginaw, Pontiac, Ml 48342 

Tax Parcel No.: 14-32-235-001 



Attachment B 

Site Maps, Photographs and Site Plan/General Concept Plan 



REFERENCE 
USGS 7.5 MIN TOPOGRAPHIC QUADRANGLE 

PONTIAC, MICillGAN QUADRANGLE 
DATED: 1997 

t 
SCALE: I: 24000 

FIGURE 1: SITE LOCATION MAP 
PROJECT: 2017011601.01 

Mixed-use Commercial Building DATE: 311118 

140 South Saginaw Street PREPARED BY: JAP 

Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan 

N 
Environmental Services • 
Land Development • Real 
Estate Consulting 

6001 North Adams Road, Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills, Michigan 48304 
Tel (248) 203-9898 Fax {248) 647-0526 
Email associatcdcnv@,·0111cast net 
Web: www.assncia1cdc11virrn1me11tal.11ct 



Proposed Office/Mixed-use Development 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac. Oakland County, Michigan 

PROJECT: 2017011601 .01 

DATE: 3/1/18 

PREPARED BY: NGM 
Environmaiml Services • 
Lond Development • Reo.l 
Est:>te Consulting 

6001 North Ad=s Ro:,,:!. Suite 205 
Bloomfield Hills. Michigan 48304 
Tel: (248) 203-9898 
F:,x: (248) 647-0526 
Email: tnsocintedc:nvfa':comcw m,·t 
www :1~o;oc1;nedenv1ronmentr1I net 

NOTES: Property is currently tax reverted and 
~oc.cupied. Mold. Asbestos and Water Damaged 
mtenor. Scrappers have damaged most buildin<> 
Jst:~s;, Site is contaminated and qualifies as ; 

fac1hty as that term is defined in part 201 ofNREPA, 
as amended. 



CONTEXT 

- AREA OF FOCUS 

•• DOWNTOWN PONTIAC 

PHOENIX CENTER 

LOT0 SITE 

CIVIC QUARTER 

SOUTH DISTRICT 

LAFAYETTE SQUARE 

A THE REGIONAL 
V TRANSIT CENTER 

0 HOSPITAL 

8 CENTRAL SCHOOL 

0 LAFAYETTE MARKET 

@ LOCAL BUS STATION 

0. OAKLAND PRESS NEWSPAPER 

e POLICE STATION 

Q) CITY HALL 

~ SCHOOL DISTRICT ADMIN. BLDG 

Q';) DISTRICT COURT 

Q';) OTTAWA TOWERS I & 2 

ii GREAT LAKES ACADEMY 

4ll) PHOENIX PLACE APARTIAENTS 

@ VACANT BUILDING 

l:li) BUILDING OF HISTORICAL 
IMPORTANCE 

fi1) MEDIA ART & TECHNOLOGY 
ACADEMY OF PONTIAC e LIBRARY 

Aerial Image of Existing Conditions 

CNU Legacy Charret te I Downtown Pontiac 17 



1 : 6th Floor - Water Damage (1) 

3 : 6th Floor - Water Damage (3) 

5 : 7th Floor Water Damage (2) 

2 : 6th Floor - Water Damage (2) 

I 

I 

'{l:/i,;' ~ ;l-'-1~ ,-, . .:;1:. . -. 
~, ' ~~ . , ... , .-,, .. , I. . . ... 

r 
I 

4 : 7th Floor Water Damage (1) 

6: Basement - HVAC (1) 



7: Basement - HVAC (2) 8: Basement - HVAC (3) 

9: Basement - HVAC (4) 10: Basement - Block Wall Cracking (1) 

11 : Basement - Electrical (1) 12: Basement - Electrical (2) 

2 



13 : Basement - Electrical (3) 14: Basement - Electrical (4) 

15: Basement - Electrical (5) 16 : Basement - Gas Meter ( 1) 

17 : Basement - Gas Meter (2) 18 : Basement - Hot Water Supply (1) 

3 



19 : Basement - Hot Water Supply (2) 20 : Basement - Hot Water Supply (3) 

21 : Basement - Life & Safety (1) 22 : Basement - Life & Safety (2) 

23 : Basement - Misc (1) 24 : Basement - Misc (2) 

4 



25 : Basement - Misc (3) 26 : Basement - Misc (4) 

27 : Basement - Misc (5) 28 : Basement - Water Supply (1) 

29 : Basement - Water Supply (2) 30 : Basement - Water Supply (3) 

5 



31 : Basement Access Well ( 1) 32 : Building Entrance - East ( 1) 

33 : Building Entrance - East (2) 34 : Building Entrance - North (1) 

35 : Building Entrance - North (2) 36 : Building Facade (1) 

6 



37 : Building Facade (2) 38 : Canopy Water Damage (1) 

39 : Canopy Water Damage (2) 40 : Elevator Equipment (2) 

41 : Elevator Equipment (3) 42 : Elevator Equipment (1) 

7 



43 : Exterior Cracking & Patching (1) 44 : Exterior Cracking & Patching (2) 

45 : Exterior Cracking & Patching (3) 46 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (1) 

4 7 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (2) 48 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (3) 

8 



49 : Exterior Exposed Rebar (4) 50 : Exterior Signage (1) 

51 : Exterior Signage (2) 52 : Exterior Signage (3) 

53 : Exterior Utilities - Electrical (1) 54 : Exterior Utilities - Electrical (2) 

9 



55 : Exterior Utilities (1) 56 : Exterior Utilities (2) 

57 : Flatwork - Misc 58 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (1) 

59 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (2) 60 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (3) 

10 



61 : Flatwork - Ramps -ADA Issues (4) 62 : Flatwork - Ramps - ADA Issues (5) 

63 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (1) 64 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (2) 

65 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (3) 66: Flatwork - Sidewalks (4) 

11 



67 : Flatwork - Sidewalks (5) 68 : Interior - Electrical (1) 

69 : Interior - Electrical (2) 70 : Interior - Electrical (3) 

71 : Interior - Elevators (1) 72 : Interior - Elevators (2) 

12 



73 : Interior - Elevators (4) 74: Interior - Elevators (5) 

75 : Interior - Elevators (6) 76 : Interior - Elevators (7) 

77 : Interior - Elevators (3) 78 : Interior - Emergency Systems (1) 

13 



Elll> 

79 : Interior - Emergency Systems (2) 80 : Interior - Emergency Systems (3) 

81 : Interior - Light Fixtures (1) 82 : Interior - Light Fixtures (2) 

83 : Interior - Main Entrance (1) 84 : Interior - Main Entrance (2) 

14 



85 : Interior - Misc (1) 86 : Interior - Misc (2) 

87 : Interior - Misc (3) 88 : Interior - Misc (4) 

89 : Interior - Misc (5) 90 : Interior - Misc (6) 

15 



91 : Interior - Misc (7) 92 : Interior - Restrooms - ADA Issue (1) 

93 : Interior - Restrooms - ADA Issue (2) 94 : Interior - Restrooms (3) 

95 : Interior - Restrooms ( 4) 96 : Interior - Restrooms (5) 

16 



97 : Interior - Restrooms (6) 98 : Interior - Restrooms (7) 

99 : Interior - Restrooms (8) 100 : Interior - Secondary Entrance 

101 : Interior - Stairwell - ADA Issue (1) 102 : Interior - Stairwell (2) 

17 



103 : Interior - Stairwell (3) 104 : Interior - Structure ( 1) 

105 : Interior - Structure (2) 106 : Interior - Windows ( 1 ) 

107 : Interior - Windows (2) 108: Landscape - Broken Limbs 

18 



109 : Landscape - Typical 110 : Paving - Approach ( 1) 

111 : Paving - Approach (2) 112 : Paving - Approach (3) 

113 : Paving - Approach ( 4) 114 : Paving (1) 

19 



115 : Paving (2) 116: Paving (3) 

117 : Paving (4) 118 : Paving (5) 

119 : Paving (6) 120 : Paving (7) 

20 



121 : Paving (8) 122 : Paving (9) 

123 : Plexi Secured Window 124: Roof - Damage (1) 

125 : Roof - Damage (2) 126 : Roof - Drains & Vents (1) 

21 



127 : Roof - Drains & Vents (2) 128 : Roof - Drains & Vents (3) 

129: Roof - HVAC (1) 130: Roof - HVAC (2) 

131 : Roof - HVAC (3) 132: Roof - HVAC (4) 

22 



133: Roof· HVAC (5) 134 : Roof - Penthouse ( 1) 

135 : Roof• Penthouse (2) 136 : Roof - Penthouse Damage ( 1) 

137 : Roof - Penthouse Damage (2) 138 : Roof ( 1 ) 

23 



139 : Roof (2) 140: Roof (3) 

141 : Roof ( 4) 142: Roof (5) 

143 : Roof (6) 

24 



Attachment C 

Estimated Tax Increment Revenues 

(These estimates are based on the attached cost estimates to rehabilitate and 
redevelop a seven-story commercial building (totaling 145,000 square feet) into a 

state-of-the-art mixed-use office development with an estimated new investment of 
$16,047,160.00 or more. This also assumes that the all final City, County and State 

of Michigan approvals, if any, will not substantially change the project and the 
project will be developed with substantially the same characteristics as 

contemplated by Developer. 



TABLE I -TOTAL PROPOSED I\IDEQ ELIGIOLE ACTMTY COSTS 
DROWNFfELI) PLAN 

PROPOSED 140 S. SAGINAW STREET REDEVELOPMENT 
CITY OF PONTIAC, OAl{LAND COUNTY, I\IIC HIGAN 

July 31 , 2018 

l .lil!ihh· \,·1h ii~ Dr,r1 i111iu11 Broll nfh-hl l11 up1·rt~ ( ·"'1 

DEPARTMENT SPECIFIC ACTIVITIES (I\ICL §12S.26S2(2)(1)) ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS 

Duseline Environmental As$cssments (MCL §125.26$2(2)(1) LocalTJF Stutc 1md LocRI 
TOTAL 

Capture Only l 'W CRpturt 
Phase I Environmental Sile Assessment $0 $3,500 $3,500 

Phase II Environmenlal Sile Assessment $0 $25,000 $25,000 

Baseline Environmental Assessment $0 $4,500 $4,500 

7a Due Care Plan $0 $1,800 $1,800 

Oue Care Activities (MCL §125.26S2(2)(1) and (m)) 

Section 7aCA Due Care Plan - Revisions $0 $2,800 $2,800 

Additional Due Care Phase II ESA Environmental Due Diligence Activilics $0 $30,000 $30,000 

Additional Due Care Phase II ESA Environmental Due Diligence Reporting Activities $0 $3,500 $3,500 

Pw11p & Treatmcnl/Disposal of Contaminated Groundwater During Construction (if necessary) $0 $50,000 $50,000 

Soil Verification Sampling (if necessary) $0 $25,000 $25,000 

I lcalth & Safety Plan $0 $2,500 $2,500 

Project Management $0 $ 15,000 $15,000 

Soil Erosion Measures $0 $3,000 $3,000 

Incremental Costs for Greenspace Encapsulation (as necessary) $0 $30,000 $30,000 

lncremenlal Costs for Encapsulation (Engineering controls for Building and Parking) $0 $50,000 $50,000 

Soil Vapor Assessment and Pilot Test $0 $35,000 $35,000 

Soil Vapor Barrier/ Sub-slab Depressurizalion System $0 $250,000 $250,000 

Work Plans, Engineering, Specifications and Reports $0 $5,000 $5,000 

Response ActMtics (MCL §125.2652(2)(1) and (oo)(I) and (ii)) 

Hoisl, Trench and OU1er fom1cr Equipment Removal Related Activities (if present) $0 $15,000 $15,000 

UST Removal and Closure (if identified during excavation) $0 $25,000 $25,000 

UST Removal Observation, Sampling and Report (if identified during excavation) $0 $12,000 $ 12,000 

Work Plans, Engineering, Specifications and Reports $0 $4,500 $4,500 

ENVIRONMENTAL COSTS SU81'0TAL $0 $593, 100 $593,100 

TOTAL ELIGIRLE ACTIVITY COSTS PLUS CONTrNGENCV AND ADMTNlSTRATrVE COSTS 

Conlingcney 

Contingency (15% of Subtotal NOT including completed BEA Activities) $0.00 $88,965 $88,965 

Brownfield Plan, Act 381 Work Plan and Related Documents (I\ICL §l2S.2652(2)(o)(l)(D)) $30,000 $30,000 

ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS SUBTOTAL so $712,065 $712,065 

Agency Administrative Costs 

Slate Act 38 I Work Plan Review (No longer charged by Stale) $0 so $0 

OC-ORA Adlninislrativt end Opcr111ing Cosli! (Flud Frr orS5,000.00 A11111111lly) S90,000 $0 $90,000 

GRAND TOTAL S90,000 S712,06S S802,06S 



TABLE 2 - TOTAL PROPOSED MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS 
PROPOSED 140 S. SAGINAW STREET REDEVELOPMENT 

CITY OF PONTIAC, OAKLAND COUNTY, MICHIGAN 

Eligible Acth it~ Description 

ELIGIBLE ACTIVITIES (MCL 125.2652(2)(0)) MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS 

Lead, Asbestos and Mold Abatement (MCL §125.2652(2)(o)(i)(G)) 

Pre Demolition Hazardous Materials Environmental Assessment (HMEA) 
Bid Soecs and Bid Evaluation (for HazMat Abatement) 
Lead. Asbestos and Mold Abatement Consulting, Management, Desi= and Planning, Air Monitoring 
Site Security (HazMat Abatement and Demolition) 
Pre Demolition Asbestos, Lead and Hazardous Materials Abatement 

Demolition Activities (MCL § 125.2652(2)(o)(i)(F)) 

Demolition Engineering. DesiPn and MancU!ement, Bid Specs and Evaluation 
Demolition of Building (Interior and Exterior. Incl Demo & Disp, utility disconnect and removal) 

Infrastructure Improvements (MCL §125.2652(2)(o)(ii)(B)) 

Utilitv Connection & Installation 
Parking Structure (Developer will determine the necessitv, and if so. Quantify cost for BP Amendment) 

Site Preparation (MCL §125.2652(2)(o)(ii)(C)) 

Geotechnical Testing & Evaluation (Site Preo/Soil Mitigation/Non-viable Soils) 
Soil Miti1ration activities 
Geotechnicallv Non-viable Soils Removal (Developer will identify the necessity and, if so. quantify cost for BP Amendment) 
Site Preoaration (Exe .. Grading, Utilitv Removal/ Re-install. etc.) <Developer will identify and. if present. quantifv cost for BP Amendment) 

MSF ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS SUBTOTAL 
TOT AL ELIGIBLE ACTIVITY COSTS P_LUS CONTINGENCY 

Contingencv O 5% of Subtotal) 
GRAND TOTAL 

July 31 , 2018 

Bro,\ nficld Propcrt~ Cost 

$35,000 
$ 10.000 

$250,000 
$15,000 

$617,490 

$61 ,000 
$977,245 

$50,000 
$0 

$5,000 
$25,000 

$0 
$0 

$2,045.735 

$306,860 
$2.352.595 



Tu lncn-ment Rewnue Captun: EstimatH 
TABLE 3 140 South S,,Jgin:iw Partnen-., UC 

140 South S-1gin.:1w Strcct 
Pont.Jac. Michigan 
Fcbrwry 23, 2018 

£.itlmat~ Tu.able- YAiu,: rrYl lnC.ri!!Mae ll•te: 
1" P!?r~ar ---- ----

PbnYHr 0 (lbse V~ar) • 8 10 11 12 

Gllend,;ar Vc.:1r 2018 2019 2020 2021 2022 2023 2024 2025 2026 20 27 2028 2029 2030 
1111 B.l~ T~ble Value so.oo so.co $0.00 $0,00 SO.00 S0.00 so.co so.oo so.oo so.oo so.co so.oo so.co 

E...."llmatcd New TV S 3,894,7S0 s 3,933,698 3,973,034 4,0l 2,7GS s 4,0S2.892 s 4,093,421 4,134,356 4,175,699 4,217,4S6 4,259,631 s ,,302.221 s 4,345,249 

lnacment.11 Olffcrence (New TV• 8.>~e 'TV) l,894,750 5 3,933,&.lS 3,973,034 4,012.765 5 4,0S2,892 s 4,093,421 s 4,134,356 4,17S,G!:>9 4,217,456 .:,259,631 $ 4,302,227 4,345,249 

MIiia R.1te 

1 Stolte EduQtion T;lX (SET} 6.0000 23.369 23.602 23,838 24,on 24,317 24,561 24,806 s 25,054 25,JOS 25,SSS s 25,813 26.071 
2 School Opcr..:i:tlne T.))( 18.0000 s 70,106 70.807 71.51$ 72.230 s 72,952 s 73,682 s 74,418 s 7S,1G3 75,914 7G,G73 s n,440 78,214 

School Total 24.0000 s 93,47.Q 94,409 95,353 96,306 s 97,269 s 98,242 $ 99,225 $ 100,217 101.219 102,.231 s lOl,253 104,286 

I Ca Milla R,t, 

3 City Opcr.itlng 18.4935 s 72.028 72,748 $ 73,47S 74,210 74,952 $ 75,702 76,4S9 n,223 s n.996 78,ns 5 79,563 80,359 
4 0.1kland County Tr.,ns'it Authonty 1.0000 s 3,895 3,934 3,973 4,013 4,0Sl s 4,093 $ 4,134 4 ,176 $ 4,217 4,260 $ 4,302 4,345 
S 0.lkbnd County O~tlng 4,0400 lS,735 lS.892 16,0Sl 16,212 16,374 s 16,537 16,703 16,870 17,039 17.209 s 17,381 17,555 
6 0,1kbnd Countv P.;i.r-b 0.2349 91$ 924 933 943 952 s 962 971 981 991 1,001 $ 1,011 1.021 
7 Huron Olnton Metropoltt.:an Authority 0.2129 829 837 S46 854 863 s 871 880 889 898 s 907 $ 916 925 
a 0,11c.i.1nd County 150 3.2S13 U,780 12.908 13,037 13,167 s 13,299 $ 13,432 13,566 13,702 13,S39 $ 13,9n $ 14,117 l4,2S8 
g Slnlclne Fund 2.8700 11.178 11,290 11.403 11.517 $ 11.632 s 11.748 ll,866 s 11,984 12.104 12,225 s 12..347 12.471 

10 0.:1lcland County Community College l.5431 G,01D 6,070 6.131 6,192 $ 6,254 $ G,317 6,380 $ 6.444 6,508 6,S73 s 6,639 6,705 

LocalTot.,l 31.6757 123,369 124,603 125,840 $ 127,107 128,371 $ 129,662 $ 130,9S9 132,268 133,591 s 134,927 $ 136,276 137,639 

11 M~s.a Judgment s 1,558 1,573 1,589 s 1,GOS $ 1.621 1.637 1,654 1.6 70 1.687 1.704 1.721 1.738 

12 O.llcl.1nd County DIA 0.194$ s 7S8 765 nl $ 780 $ 788 796 S04 812 820 s 828 s 837 845 

13 o.,1ir.,~nd Countv Zoo 0.0982 s 382 386 390 s 394 $ 398 $ 402 s 406 s 410 ••• s 4lt $ 422 427 

Total Non-Glpturabk! Tnes 0.6927 $ 2,6911 $ 2,725 2,752 $ 2,780 $ 2,8D7 2,836 $ 2,864 s 2,E93 2,921 $ 2,951 s ,...,, $ 3,010 

lOTAL MIUS (Per Oakbnd County Equ.,llutlo $6.3684 

14 Total T.ax lnacment Revenue (TIR) Av•lbble for Capture 200,1$9 s 202,210 $ 204,2B2 $ 206,37S s 208,419 $ 210,624 $ 212,780 s 21'1,9SS s 217,157 $ 219,379 s 221,623 $ 223µ9 

July 31, 2018 



PbnYe:Jr 

CllcndJrYc.1,r 

•a.,~ Tax:ible V.:sluc: 

Estlm.:sted New TV s 
lncr~ffi<'nUI Orffc:rcnce {Nrw TV - &,;,~ 1V) s 

M11bgc Rai~ 

St:ltc Eduatlon T.1x (SET) 6.0000 $ 

School Opc-r:t.tinC T.1x Ul.0000 s 
SchoolToul 24.0000 $ 

•--·"·-··- M1U .. ccbtu 
Oty Operating l8.493S s 
O:akl.1nd CountyTr~m;lt Authority 1.0000 s 
O:ikl.ind County Operating 4.040() s 
O:ikbnd County P:irt~ 0.2349 s 
Huron Clinton Metropolitan Authority 0.2129 s 
O:akl.:ind County ISO 3.2813 s 
SlnlclnzFund 2.8700 s 
0.1kl.:ind County Community Corle-gc: 1.$431 $ 

Loe.al Total 31.67$7 s 

._, __ '"-- - ·rah&. M il'ir- M1l!.-,sr ltate 

Mc:ss.1 Judgment 0.4000 s 
Oakbnd County CIA 0.1945 s 
0.1kl,1nd County Zoo 0.0982 s 

Tot;il Non--Captunble T~M 0.0927 s 

TOTAL MIUS (Per 0-ubnd County Equal~tio 56.3684 

Total T::sx lncn:mcnt Re-venue (TIR) A~lbibte for Captu~ S 

Tax lntn!'nwnt Rownue Capture Estl~k'S 
140 South S:lgln.llw P.:,.rt~rs. LLC 

140 South 5.>gln.iw StrcC't 

Ponti.)(. Mlchic;tn 

Fcbru.1ry 23, 2018 

13 14 15 

2031 2032 2033 

so.oo so.oo so.oo 
4,388.702 s 4,432,589 s 4,476,915 

4,388,702 s 4,4.32.589 s 4,476,915 

26,332 s 26.596 s 26,661 

78,997 $ 79,787 $ 80,SS4 

1OS.329 s 106,382 s 107,446 

Sl,162 s 81.974 s S2.794 

4,389 s 4,433 s 4,4n 

17,730 s 17,908 s 18,087 

l.O31 s 1.041 s 1.0S2 

934 s 944 s 9$3 

14,401 $ 14,54.S s 14,690 

12.$96 s 12.722 s 12.849 

6,n2 $ 6,840 $ G.908 

139.015 s 140#405 $ 141.1')9 

1.7S5 s 1,nl s 1.791 

854 s 662 s 871 

431 s 43$ s 440 

3,040 s 3,070 s 31101 

s 
s 

s 
s 
s 

s 
s 
s 
s 
s 
s 
s 
s 
s 

s 
s 
$ 

s 

226,17& S 221,490 S 230,a2S $ 

TABLE 3 

I - ---
16 17 ~ TOTAL 

2034 2035 2036 

so.oo $0.00 so.oo 
4.521.684 s 4,566,901 s 4,612.570 

4,$21,684 $ 4,$66.901 s 4,6US70 

27,130 s 27,401 s 27,67S s 4SS.367 

81,390 s 82,204 s 83.026 $ 1,37$,102 

101,520 s 109,606 s 110,702 s 1.133,409 

83,622 s &4,4SS s SS,303 s 1,412,802 

4.522 s 4.567 s 4,613 s 76,39$ 

Ul.268 s 18,450 s 1S.63S s 301,634 

1,062 s 1.073 s 1.083 s 17.945 

963 s 972 s 9S2 $ 16.264 

14,837 s 14,985 s 15,13S $ 250,673 

12,9n $ 13,107 s 13,238 s 219,252 

6,9n s 7/J47 $ 7.W $ l17,8S4 

143,221 s 144,660 $ 146,106 s 2,4l3,8SO 

1,I09 s 1,827 s l.S45 s 30,5S8 

879 s s.ss s 897 s 14.959 

..... s 448 s 4$3 5 7,~2 

3,132 s 3,163 s 3,l!lS s $2,911 

233,183 S 235,565 S 237,970 S 3,934,136 

July 31, 2018 



2D 

21 

l2 
2J 
24 

v.~, 

2S Tot:il S~ l~enul ~nuc 
2£ SWtt Brown:fic1d ~lt"los,~nt t\md (~ of S(TJ 
27 St.ate TIRAwilbble for ~r,.cm~t 

l8 Tot.11 t.oc.,l lncreffiC'n~I Rt"Wnuc 

29 BRI\ Ac:n1ru-.tr.Hr.lt' Ftt {ft.lt••~j 
JO Looi TIA •~u~e <or R(oltW\l:N.arwment 

11 Tot:IJSQta&Loe.llTIRA~ 

Oev~lopcr Mairlmum 
Rtfmbl.irwtl'!Cn\ 

Sbt, 

'-' 
TOTAL 

MOEQ. -

k:clnnlns 
DEVELOPER 6.111.lince 

s 

Pt.opor1lon;,l1tv 

..uci" 
!i9.JM' 

23% 

"" 
1 ~· 93,474 s 94,409 
11,W, s ll,801 
11,790 Ill.GO& 

W,l69 s 124,603 

S,000 s 5.000 
l.lJI.W, s U,,£03 

,00,159 ZOU10 

School & l..a<.al l.OQI-Ontv 

"'"' To,.-, 

s ·= s Ul2.36S 

s 712.0tiS 
s 2,3S.2.59S 

9S.3S3 9(.i,306 

.:l,91!1 12.0)8 

s 13.434 14,:'8 

US,649 U7,107 

5.000 ~.000 
120,MO 1.22.107 

20<.W 20G..J7S 

T.u: lnaemcnt ""'-"" ltl!lm~mentAllocaUon T.abwi 

140 South ~ RiNiw P.>~. u.c 
140.So4.rthS-l;:IN'WStr~ 

s 
s 

• s 

s 

Pontl.x, O;)1cbnd C.0...nty, Mlehlg;in 

ToUI 

1.252.295 
l.812..lGS 

7U.06S 
2.3S2.S9S 

97.2G9 
12.159 
as.111 

128.378 

~.000 
Ul,371 $ -

Marth 31. 2018 

9'.242 s 
12,280 s ...... 

129,662 
S,000 ,.,....., 

210,624 

EstlrTtJte-d Tot::11 
Ve.11"!.of Pl.:ln: 

99.225 s 100.217 
lV'.03 s 12,527 

sun s 17.6~ 

130,959 1.32,268 
s,coo S,000 

US,959 l%7.2Ga 

212.71!0 214,,.....a 

TABLE4 

rErtl~ted Dewiopcr Op~ (DEQ. Ms.Fl Is 3.0G4.5Co0 
18 IAdmlnll'tntlftiem Is 90.000 

!sc.te arownrcld ~10i,1MM: Fund I s 719,1&4 
loal 8 l'OWftncdd -.WM~ fund s 869,411, TOTAi.- ,.,o ' .f--2 .. Jn.9 

10 u " u .. :'. ,. 
" "' 101.219 lJ>Ull 103,253 104,286 s lOS,329 s lOG.)&2 $ 107,44 1oa.s20 s 109,606 

u.&~ i.,,rn u,m ll,OlG :3,: 66 u.~s 1) .01 lJ.:.t.~ 1 ... 101 
s 18,567 s 89,452 00.)47 •=• .,., .. 93,0:4 94,015 94,9SS 

.,_ 
l l3.S91 134,927 l36.27G lJ7,63? 139.015 s l40,40S 141,809 14.l.22:S 1 44,6(,() 

~.!XlD S,000 $,000 S,000 S.000 s 5,000 S,000 !..CU S,000 
12D.5?1 12Sl,9%7 i.n.-...,, s 132.'3• llA,015 s U.S,405 s lJ<,IIOO ue:.,ua s u,,GGO 

217,1!.7 s ug.)79 lll.£23 ....... s llS,171 228,490 ,....,. m,lAl us.us 

l2 DINtt.OPCRtt.dmtMr:sanffl18ol0tttt l."'4..660 IS l.O"f~ S 'l,,JIU.SOl S Z.li6Z,..Z'll ! S Z..CS,.00, $ U'Sl.'31 $ 2.0CJ..lAS S 1.,l3Z,5Z1 S J.6J9,7,fJ: IS JAD4.7aJ S J.1.67,QS I S Hl,.Z'6 j S 7'6,QJ S 52Zl3'C S 2'1S,SS6' I S QJJlil 

NETPAYMCNTTOOEVELOl'fR - --- ----------- $ :oo..zsg S _ 20l,.Zl0 S - - .20f.,2l2 S ~ S _ 2CW.Al9 $ _ ZJ.0,6U S 112.1'0 s _ ~-.'ISi s _ 1.17;157 s __ W.J,, $ W..QJ' s _ 2D..,, $ UG,J71' S --"23..ffO $ _ _ Q.061 --- --- ------

33 f • n~ US2.S9'i s J53.6S2 I S BS.227 I S 156.818 1SllA2S I S 160.1)47 s l lil.686 s 16.3~1 s 16S.013 s 166,702 s ]68,407 s 170,129 s 171.869 s 173,Qti s 175A01 s SUS> 
l4 Sbteo Ta. RiNnbvr-Arm-r,t I s 62,7&6 I S GJ.4J0 I s 64,0to 64,736 I S 65.39? I s 66.069 s 66,7'!15 s '7.428 s Ga.118 s '8,815 I S G,.s1? s 70.230 1 S 70,9(8 s 71.673 s 2.~1 1 
'5 l.OQI Tax Relmbur~ent s 00,8116 I S 91,79s I s 92.7l8 93,638 s ...... ,s 9S.617 s , • .s .. , s '7.SIS IS 90.SSl l S 9'.S92 I S 100.610 l s 101.639 I S 102,61a I s Wl.721 I s 30.000 I 
36 Total MSf Rrlmburscmc-m: aaaanu s 2.1,s,943 I s 2.04l.71S I S l.88l5.&97 1,721!.473 s 1.S-68.426 f S 1.406,740 I s l,243,l!>!J ! S 1,078.l&S s 911.684 I S 743.277 l S S73.l.43 I S 40-1,.:79 t S 227.652 s 52,252 s ., 

AVAILULEJTR(AFrUOnirlot,rrRdmbufSffnfflt/ 

Tl -~,g~~!ll!::OEill ~tl 712.0C.S ! S 46,506 s <6.9&3 j S 47.464 Is 47.951 I s 4&.442 I S ....... s 4'),A:J9 s 49,945 \ S S0.456 1 S so.>n s Sl.4'33 I S S2.020 I S 52,SS2 s SJ,089 Is lS.815 I .. St.l~TaxRelm tM.i~ment Is 19.004 I s '9.198 s 1'.39S s 19 .S94 I $ l9,79S s !9.')97 s 20.202 1 s 20,409 I S 20.618 I s 20.82> s 21,041 1 S 21.2.57 I s 21.AN I s 21.693 I S 6.4G2 I 

"' Loc:.11 T.U. Rc-lm~mc;nt s 27.SO> I S 27,785 s 23.0G9 s 2B.3S7 I s 28.647 I s 23.941 I s >9.237 I s 2'.SJ6 I s 29.838 15 30,144 I s 30,4S2 I S 30.763 s JU,71! j S 31.39s I s 9 .lSl ! .., Total MDfQ ltrlmbuncrnent l,Jl;ance s 6GS.SS9 s li18.S76 I S 571.111 1 S 523,lbl s 474.719 I s 4.2.5.781 I S 376..342 1 S llG,397 t S 275,!)41 I s 22.4,969 s 113,416 I s 121.45G s 6$.904 s 1.S,SB t S ., 
AVAU.ADU nR (AFrClf Ditwlo,-r blmbutNmrnt} 

41 L~ lgQ~~i · I s • , s - 1 S · I s • I $ · ' S ·Is s • , s s s s .. Loc:.1! T:,,ii: Rdmbun.c-mcn1 

43 Tot31 t..oQI Only Ral'mburwmcnt Baanoa I s - 1 S s · I s s s · I s s # J s s · I S s 
44 TotAIAMu,r,l~~mant I s 200.is9 I s 202,210 , .. .,., I s Z06,37S IS ,..,... I s 210,02, I s == Is 21A.osa I s 211.m I s W.J7' 1S 22U23 IS :w .... l s 226,178 221,,,. I s Ga.o67 I 

AVA/LA8LE 7'llf (AITCR OrwloNr ~ s s 

"' "6L8,Rft>es,ostt,• s s s s s s s s s s s s 162.7SI s DUil == 
'7 Sat e T~ic capture I 6G,S07 .. ., .. %.ZSIJ .. ~ITaC.,pl\lre s ~,1Sl J.J>.899 ?.39,307 
49 Tour LDRf Capture s 162,7S8 395.!Ul s SJJ..SOS 
SO • Up to rlYC° yrars of c p:ure for t.SRF °"'pcx.lts .:ifi:er eUg!ble .xtlvlties .arr- rr-fmbYDCd. M.:iy be blc.cn from OEQ.& Loa.! TIR only. 

Per Or.id H.:aruen, M.)n.Jtt'f", OC8RA, tho ocaRA 1-...s clectc-d 10 on.tv c.,ptu~ for 4 ~,1r-.,.. 

1=:~lnlSll'.\tlYI.- Fee I,;~ Fbtc-d Fee of SS,000.00 prr vru. 
LB.RF IYe!~r2-4) 706,:,U O!!Yt'lo~ Prind0,11 S l.o&Q,6(,0 

LB.SF t'.lt l ) 162,75& Ot-Ycloper lntt're-..t SD 
Total 167,476 Tot31 S l~OG4.560 

btla ... 1'11/T~ r-c.WIM P 

July 31, 2018 



T.u lnaement RawnlH! bl~ment Alloatlon nblt' 

140 SOUth 5.1gil\ilW P.tl'tM'l"t, UC 

140 South S.1t,!Mw Strc«:t 
Pon.tl.x. Oalcl.:ind Countv, Mktllp n 

~reh 31,, 2018 

Totoll SUteo lncremeoncl Rcvenut 

~ta1e- Brownl,l!'ld ~rtor,ml"nt Fi.ind (~ of :,n, 
Sate TIRA-.oU.tble for ReltntM.lrKfflt'nt 

T0t.:1l locll lncrt'~tJI ~ cnt.l<' 

8AA Adm1n.•,:r.1:1Y~ Fr-1• (n.l:•lttl 
1.oc,JITIR A~lb.blo for Rdmbuncmc:M 

DEi/HOPER 
OEVUOPOr RflfmbufSffltfflt Golott0r 

14G,106 
S.C:00 --

s 
HfT'AYMCNTTOOCVElOH.R' ~----------- s __ ~ _ 

~ -ti I 
~u-T~ Rerm~nl I 
LoQI Tax Relmbu~nl I 
To~l MSF Relmburvrncm D.21.inc:e I 

AVAII.A/U£ T11f (AFTUt .0.W-IDP("r lklmb!llkmfflt) 

M"" ..,; .-nr.'11 I 
.scu-Tolle Relmbu~en1 I 
I.Dal T:u: Relmbutsemt":nt I 
Tow MDEQ Jtelml::lunemeflt aoJ.mcc I 

AVAlt.ADU'nR (AFTVf Dtrwlooer fltlltrrbur'kmmt) 

·---, I 
Looi T.u: Rc-lmbu™"ment 

Tobi Local Onty llte~t B.llonce I 

T°"I AMY,;tl O.Wktpe, iit.\mlNIIUmeM 

AVA.ltAILC T11t (AFTER ~ ~lmlwrwmrnt) 

. ,.. l.c.u., "-.C.VUI.VI .... U l"V .... V 

LORF'Depo~• s 
!:totltc TJ,: Clpru~ I S 
l..oQIT.n:C,ptU~ s 
TO'tll L.aRf ~ptu.-. I S 

Up to five ~o1rs of aptureforLBRF DeposJU .1fterN 
Pt!r Br.:,d H.1nsen, Mlnag-er, OCOAA. the OCBAA 1'1.1~ elc 

~ lnlstr.ltNt-~ l~Ji Fb:i:d Fei:ot.S.S,000.00 J:: 

s U!il.S9S 
s 9<Ull 
s U,1,267 

5 · ! 

s 712.0<S 
s 2'0:,(i1 

s -5 · I 

s · I 

s · I 

s 3,0G4,r.GO 

s 

237.,71) $ 169,476 
!JJ,14J s l :iS.20 

140,130 s SlA,W 
869 • .:76 s 869,476 

TABLE 4 

July 31, 2018 



' ' 
\ , • I l 1

! . 
J'~• I ' •: 

' c.__.. J 
Attachment D 

r .,-r 

Phase II ESA Report with a Descripti~t\ ~~ -Conditions 
And •·.,. :-!..:. 

BEA Determination of "facility" Status 



ON!: COMW1NY. 
INI 11\ll I ( !>01 ll I IONS 

December 4, 2015 

Adorno Poccinini 
Walbridge 
777 Woodward Avenue, Suite 
Detroit , MI 48226 

L 

Atwell, LLC Project Number: 15002193 

RE: Phase I ESA for the buildins and property located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, 
Oakland County, Michigan (subject site) 

Dear Mr. Pocci.nini, 

AtwelJ, LLC is pleased to submit its report on the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment 
conducted at the above referenced site. 

The project objective was to perfonn a specified scope ofresearch, evaluate the data, and render 
a professional opinion on environmental conditions at the site. The information and opinions 
included in this report are exclusively for the use of Walbridge and Oakland County. 

We appreciate the opportunity to be of service to you on this project. Should you have any 
questions or desire further information, please contact us at (248) 447-2000. 

Sincerely, 
ATWELL,LLC 

AIJan R. Longyear, PG 
Project Manager 

h~u .,. , .. •f'l 1•114 u It t l}O, ~ ,,,. , •• , t 11, tl~f•U• h ' IU ..,~, JUUO I ~ · /..ttt 14 / bo1 
'Nn ... • •••ll•tJIO<Jp,<om 



ATWELL 

PHASE I ENVIRONMENTAL SITE ASSESSMENT REPORT 
140 SOUTH SAGINAW STREET 

PONTIAC, Ml 48342 

Prepared for 

WALBRIDGE 
ADORNO POCCININI 

777 WOODWARD AVENUE, SUITE 
DETROIT, Ml 48226 

DECEMBER 04, 2015 



Table of Contents 

1.0 General Infor1nation ................................................................................................................ l 
2.0 Executive Sunimary ................................................................................................................. 3 
C11rrent Use of Property ................................................................................................................ 3 
Database/Records Revie,v ....................................... ,, ............................................... , ...............•.. ,. 3 

Historical/Doc111nent Review ......................... , .................................................................... ,,.,,, ... ,.4 
Site Reconnaissance Findings .................................•..... , .. , ............................................................ 4 

Otl1er Environmental Considerations .......................................................................................... 5 

Findings and Opinions ................................................................................................................... 5 

Conclusions ..................................................................................................................................... 5 

Suggested Actions to Address Business Environmental Risk ..................................................... 5 

Disclaimer ...................................................................................................... , .... ,, ....................... , .. 5 

3.0 lntrodt1ction ................................................................ ,,., ......•................................................... 6 

3.1 Purpose ................................................................... ,, .•..................•.•.......................................... 6 

3.2 Scope ofWorlc .................................................. , ....................................................... , .... , •.....•.... 6 

3.3 Significant Assumptions ........................................................................................................ ,. 7 

3.4 Limitations and Exceptions .............................................................................................. , ...... 7 

3.5 Deviations Fro1n the ASTM Standard ................................................................................... 7 

3.6 Special Terms and Conditions ................................................................................................. 8 

3.7 Reliance ..................................................................................................................................... 8 

4.0 Site Description ........................................................................................................................ 8 

4.1 Location and Legal Description .............................................................................................. 8 

4.2 Site and Vicinity Description ........................................................... , ....................................... 8 

4.3 Current Use of Property .......................................................................................................... 8 

4.4 Description of Structures and Other Improvements ............................................................ 8 
4.5 Current Adjoining Property Information .............................................................................. 9 

5.0 User Provided Information ................................................................................. , ................... 9 

5.1 Title Records ............................................................................................................................. 9 

5.2 Environmental Liens and Activity/Use Limitations .............................................................. 9 

5.3 Specialized Knowledge ......................................................................................................... , .. 9 

5.4 Purchase Price and Market Value Comparison .................................................................... 9 

5.5 Valuation Reduction for Environmental Issues ..................................................................... 9 

5.6 Owner, Property Manager, and Occupant Information ....................................................... 9 

5.7 Reason For Performing Pltase 1 .............................................................................................. 9 

6.0 Records Review ........................................................................................................................ 9 

6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources ............................................................................ 9 

6.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources ......................................................................... 12 

6.3 Pltysical Setting Sources ........................................................................................................ 13 
6.4 Historical Use Information .................................................................................................... 13 

Atwell,LLC 

15002193 



Table of Contents 

6.4.l Historical Summaiy .............................................................................................................. 13 

6.4.2 City Directories ..................................................................................................................... 14 

6.4.3 Aerial Photos ......................................................................................................................... 14 

6.4.4 Sanborn/Historical Maps ...................................................................................................... 15 

6.4.5 Other Environmental Reports ............................................................................................... 15 

7.0 Site Reconnaissance ............................................................................................................... 16 
7.1 Methodology and Limiting Conditions ................................................................................ 16 
7.2 General Site Setting ........................... ,, .................................................................................. 16 
7.3 Site Visit Findings .................................................................................................................. 16 
7.3.1 Hazardous Substances ........................................................................................................... 16 

7.3.2 Petroleum Products ............................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.3 USTs ..................................................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.4 ASTs ...................................................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.5 Other Suspect Containers ...................................................................................................... 17 

7.3.6 Equipment Likely to Contain PCBs ...................................................................................... 17 

7.3.7 Staining/Corrosion ................................................................................................................ 17 

7.3.8 Discharge Features ................................................................................................................ 18 

7.3.9 Pits, Ponds, And Lagoons ..................................................................................................... 18 

7.3.10 Solid Waste Dumping/Landfills .......................................................................................... 18 

7.3.11 Stained Soil/Stressed Vegetation ......................................................................................... 18 

7.3.12 Wells .................................................................................................................................... 18 

8.0 Interviews ................... , ................. , .......................................................................................... 18 
9.0 Other Environmental Considerations .................................................................................. 18 
9.1 Controlled Substances ....................... ,, .................................................................................. 18 
9.2 Continuing Obligations ......................................................................................................... 19 
9.3 Asbestos-Containing Materials ............................................................................................. 19 

9.4 Lead-Based Paint ................................................................................................................... 19 

9.5 Radon ...................................................................................................................................... 19 
9.6 Wetlands ....................................................................................................... , .......................... 19 

9.7 Mold Evaluation ..................................................................................................................... 19 

9.8 Items of Non-Compliance ...................................................................................................... 19 

9.9 Clie11t-Specific ltems ......................................................... , .................................................... 19 
10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions .................................................................. , .......... 19 
10.1 Report Findings and Opinions .......................................................................... , .. , .. , ........... 19 
10.2 Conclusions .................................................................................................................. , ........ 21 

Atwell,LLC 

15002193 



Table of Contents 

Appendices 

Appendix A: References .............................................................................................................. 22 

Appendix B: Qualifications ......................................................................................................... 24 

Appendix C: Figu1·es .......................................................................................................... , ••••••••• 27 

Appendix D: Photograplis ........................................................................................................... 30 

Appendix E: User Provided Information ................................................................................... 41 

Appendix F: Historical Researcl1 Documentation .................................................................... 45 

Appendix G: Regulatory Records Documentation, ............................................•...... , .. , .......•..• 67 

Appendix H: Records Docun1entation., ................................................................................... 247 

Appendix I: Interview Docu,nentation .................................................................................... 268 

Appendix J: Miscellaneous Information ... , .................................................................... , ......•.• 270 

Atwell,LLC 

15002193 



1.0 General Information 

Project Information: 
Pontiac, Michigan - Phase I ESA 
15002193 

Consultant Information: 
Atwell, LLC 
Two Towne Square 
Southfield, MI 48076 
Phone: 248-447-2000 
Fax: 248-447-2001 
E-mail Address: ALongyear@atwell-group.com 
Inspection Date: 11/18/2015 
Report Date: 12/04/2015 

Site Assessor: 

Senior Reviewer: 

General Notes: 

Rebecca M. Harbison 
Environmental Consultant 

Allan R. Longyear, PG 
Project Manager 

Site Information: 
Pontiac Place 
140 South Saginaw Sh·eet 
Pontiac, MI 48342 
County: Oakland 

County 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Latitude, Longitude: 42.632800, -83.291100 
Site Access Contact: NI A 

Client Information: 
Walbndge 
Adorno Poccinini 
777 Woodward Avenue, Suite 
Detroit , Ml 48226 

Atwell conducted the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (ESA) in order to provide an 
independent, professional opinion of the possible presence of Recognized Environmental Conditions 
(RECs) or other possible environmental concerns (if any) associated with the subject site as pa1t of 
environmental due diligence. 

An REC is defined as the presence or likely presence of any hazardous substance or petroleum 
products in, on, or at a property: (1) due to any release to the environment; (2) under conditions 
mdicative of a release to the environment; or (3) or under conditions that pose a material threat of a 
future release to the environment. 

A Controlled REC (CREC) is defined as an REC resulting from a past release of hazardous substances 
or peh·oleum products that has been addressed to the satisfaction of the applicable regulatory authority, 
with hazardous substances or petroleum products allowed to remain in place subject to the 
implementation of required controls. 

A Historical REC (HREC) is defined as a past release of any hazardous substances or petroleum 
products that has occmTed in connection with the prope1ty and has been addressed to the satisfaction of 
the applicable regulatory authority, without subjecting the property to any required conh·ols. 

In accordance with the United States Environmental Protection Agency, 40 Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 312, "All Appropriate Inquhy" (AAI), Atwell is providing the following 
Environmental Professional (EP) declarations. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page I o/797 



EP Certification: 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, Ml 
Walbridge 

I declare that, to the best of my professional knowledge and belief, I meet the definition of 
Environmental Professional as defmed in 312.10 of this part. 

Ni--
Allan R. Longyear, PG - Project Manager 

AAI Certification: 
I have the specific qualifications based on education, training, and experience to assess a property of 
the nature, history, and setting of the subject property. I have developed and pe1formed the all 
appropriate inquines in confol'lllance with the standards and practices set f011h in 40 CFR Paii 312. 

Ni--

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 

Allan R. Longyear, PG - Project Manager 

Page 2 o/797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

2.0 Executive Summary 
CuITent Use of Property 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed the subject site to be comprised of approximately 
1.3-acres of developed land located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. The subject site 
includes one, approximately 145,000-square foot, seven story commercial office building situated in 
the central _p01t1on of the prope1ty, with the remaining portions consisting of asphalt covered parking 
areas and hmited maintained landscaping. The sh·ucture consists of office space around the perimeter 
of each floor, with the core of the building housin~ the resh·ooms, stairwells, elevators, and mechanical 
rooms. The strncture also has a full basement, which houses most of the mechanical equipment as well 
additional office space. During the site inspection, Atwell observed the subject site to be vacant of 
occupants and operations. The interior of the subject building was observed to be in poor condition, 
with significant water inhusion and mold growth visible in the basement, sixth floor, and seventh floor. 

Database/Records Review 

Atwell retained Environmental Data Resources (EDR) of Shelton, Connecticut, to review federal, 
tribal, state and EDR proprietary records related to the subject site and nearby prope1ties within the 
American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) approximate minimal search radius. Atwell's 
evaluation of RECs includes circumstances where migration of hazardous substances or petroleum 
products in solid or liquid form at the surface or subsurface (including vapors) could reach the subject 
site. 

Atwell. LLC 

/5002193 

• The EDR report identified RCRA-Non Generator, Facility Index Systems (FINDS), Baseline 
Environmental Assessment (BEA), MI Inventmy, and Waste Data System (WDS) listings 
associated with the subject site, EDR identified numerous database listings associated with the 
subject site. According to the repo1t, the subject site was a registered RCRA facility from 1991 
tlu·ough 2005 and no regulatmy violations have been reported to date. Records indicate that two 
BEA reports were prepared for the subject site in 2005 and 2008. A BEA is completed for 
contaminated prope1ty in Michigan to limit liability for new owners. Atwell submitted a records 
request to the Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) to review the BEA 
reports and determined that elevated levels of volatile organic compounds (VO Cs) and metals 
were identified in the subject site soils and $roundwater at concenh·ations exceeding applicable 
MDEQ criteria. The contamination is associated with historical filling station and automobile 
service ol?erations that occmTed on the northeast pmtion of the subject site in the 1930s through 
1950s. It 1s the opinion of the BP that the documented contamination at the subject site represents 
an REC. 

• EDR also identified 22 sites of known or suspect contamination located within one-qua1ter mile 
of the subject site. Based on a review of the EDR repmt, Atwell determined that these sites have 
no repo1ted violations or releases, achieved MDEQ approved closure, are located hydraulically 
down or cross gradient to the subject site, or are not located within close proximity (i.e., 
one-eighth mile) of the subject site. Therefore, it is the opinion of the BP that the nearby sites do 
not represent RECs. 

• In addition, Atwell reviewed the EDR Orphan Summa1y (list of sites with inadequate address 
information) and did not identify any sites of known or suspect contamination located within 
one-quarter mile of the subject site. 

• Atwell conducted a preliminmy vapor migration assessment of the property. The purpose of this 
assessment was to determine any potential risk related to volatile constituents associated with 
known soil or groundwater contamination in close proximity to the site buildin$ that may 
adversely impact indoor air quality. Based on a review of subsurface investigallon repo1ts 
completed for the subject site indicating elevated levels of VOCs in the groundwater at the 

Page3of797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

2.0 Executive Summary (continued) 
Database/Records Review ( continued) 

subject site, it is the opinion of the EP that there is a moderate potential for vapor migration 
concerns to be present on the subject site. 

Historical/Document Review 

Based on information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, fire 
insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that the subject 
site has been developed with the current commercial office building since 1972. Prior to 1972, the 
subject site was developed with multiple strnctures (including filling stations, automobile repair 
businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at least 1888 ( as depicted in the Sanborn 
Maps). Several subsurface investigations (identified below) have been completed by other consultants 
to address the histolical filling station operations at the subject site and north adjoining property. 
Review of previous subsurface investigation reports and extensive ground penetrating radar (GPR) 
studies indicates that the historical on-site USTs were likely removed as part of site redevelopment 
activities. 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opp01tunity to review several previous 
environmental rep01ts completed for the subject site, including: (I) BEA completed by McDowell & 
Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA completed by LFR Levme Fricke (LFR), dated 
November 11, 2005; Phase II Subsurface Investigation rep01t completed by Hillman Environmental 
Group, LLC (Hillman), dated October 6, 2004. RECs identified for the subject site by other consultants 
include: (I) historical gas station and automobile service/repair operations on the northern and eastern 
portions of the property from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) historical batte1y shop, auto repair shop, and 
paint/linoleum store on the eastern p01tion of the prope1ty from the 1920s through 1950s; (3) a 
historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted 
at the east adjacent prope1ty in the 1924 Sanborn Map; and (4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals 
identified in soil and groundwater at concentrations exceedmg applicable criteria following the 
completion of several subsurface investigations. Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater 
contamination, the subject site qualifies as a "facility" as defined in Part 20 I of the Natural Resources 
and Environmental Protection Act (NREPA), 1994. It is the opinion of the EP that the documented 
contamination at the subject site represents an REC.In Atwell's professional opinion, the testing 
completed during the previous subsurface investigations did not mclude a full list of parameters 
typically associated with automobile se1vice/repair shop operations [i.e., solvents, polynuclear aromatic 
hydrocarbons (PNAs)] at each soil boring location; thus did not adequately address the historical uses 
of the subject site. 

Site Reconnaissance Findings 

During the site recoffilaissance, Atwell evaluated the subject site for the potential presence of 
Recognized Environmental Conditions as defined by ASTM Designation: E 1527-13. 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell obse1ved the following REC: 

Atwell, LLC 
/5002/93 

• Atwell inspected the subject site for the presence of oil-cooled electrical equipment that may 
contain polychlorinated biphenyls (PCBs ). During the site recoffilaissance, Atwell obse1ved 
several electrical transfo1mers and two elevator mechanical units stored within concrete vaults in 
the subject building's basement. The vaults were filled with water and the transformers were 
overturned and appeared to be in various stages of disrepair. Based on the a!le of the strncture 
(repo1tedly constructed in 1972), the possibility exists for the elech'ical eqmpment to contain 
PCBs. Based on the obse1ved condition of the equipment, it is likely that the electrical equipment 
has leaked onto the nearby concrete surfaces; thus representing an REC. 

Page4of797 



2.0 Executive Summary (continued) 
Site Reconnaissance Findings ( continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

In addition, Atwell identified several hundred fluorescent lighting bulbs stored within a basement 
office of the subject building during the site recomiaissance. Fluorescent bulbs often contain hazardous 
levels of mercury or other metals. If these bulbs are not recycled, they must be tested to verify that they 
are not hazardous waste before disposal as solid waste. If the bulbs are recycled, the waste 
characterization requirements would not apply. Atwell recommends that all fluorescent bulbs and 
ballasts (if any) be properly disposed or recycled in accordance with State and Federal regulations. 

Other Environmental Considerations 

No evaluation for other enviromnental considerations was conducted during the course of this Phase I 
ESA. 

Findings and Opinions 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell identified and evaluated several potential environmental 
concerns and it is the opinion of the EP that the following RECs have been identified for the subject 
site: 

• The documented soil and groundwater contamination at the subject site; and 

• The potential impact to the subject site resources from leaking electrical equipment in the subject 
building basement. 

Conclusions 

Atwell has performed this Phase I ESA in general conformance with the scope and limitations of 
ASTM Practice El527-13 and AAI specifications for the building and property located at 140 South 
Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. During the course of this Phase I ESA, the EP identified RECs 
associated with the subject site as previously identified. Therefore, Atwell recommends that a Limited 
Phase II Subsurface Investigation be conducted to determine the nature, extent and materiality of the 
RECs. In addition, Atwell recommends that new owners prepare a Baseline Environmental Assessment 
within 45 days of purchase. 

Suggested Actions to Address Business Environmental Risk 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include providing suggested actions to address 
business environmental risk. 

Disclaimer 

This repmt was prepared solely for the benefit of Walbridge and Oakland County and no other party or 
entity shall have any claim against Atwell due to the performance or nonperformance of the services 
presented herein. Only Walbridge and Oakland County may rely upon this repmt for the sole purpose 
of obtaining financing, obtaining refinancing, acquisition of the subJect site, lease of the subject site, or 
sale of the subject site. Any other parties seeking reliance upon this repmt must obtain Atwell's prior 
written approval. Atwell specifically renounces any and all claims by patties asserting a third party 
beneficimy status. 

Atwell, L/,C 
15002193 PageSo/797 



3.0 Introduction 
3.1 Purpose 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell conducted the Phase I Environmental Site Assessment (BSA) in order to provide an 
independent, professional opinion of the possible presence of Recognized Environmental Conditions 
(RECs) or other possible environmental concerns (if any) associated with the subject site as part of 
environmental due diligence. As defined in American Society for Testing and Materials (ASTM) 
Designation: E 1527-13, the term Recognized Environmental Conditions means "the presence or likely 
presence of any hazardous substance or petroleum products in, on, or at a property: (1) due to any 
release to the environment; (2) under conditions indicative of a release to the environment; or (3) or 
under conditions that pose a material threat of a future release to the environment". 

Performance of the Phase I BSA was intended to reduce, but not eliminate, uncertainty regarding the 
existence of Recognized Environmental Conditions in connection with the subject site. 

3.2 Scope of Work 

Atwell perfotmed the Phase I BSA while using standards typically adhered to by other environmental 
consulting professionals. Atwell adheres to such professional standards in an effmt to maintain 
innocent landowner defense options for sellers, bona fide prospective purchasers, lenders and/or 
contiguous property owners under guidelines set forth in the Federal Comprehensive Environmental 
Response, Compensation, and Liability Act (CERCLA). The Phase I BSA was perfotmed to meet the 
standard of "All Appropriate Inquiry" (AAI) as promulgated by the United States Environmental 
Protection Agency (USEP A) to qualify for the CERCLA innocent landowner defenses. 

The Phase I BSA was conducted in general conformance with the ASTM Designation: E 1527-13, 
Standard Practice For Conducting Environmental Site Assessments and 40 Code of Federal 
Regulations (CFR) Part 312, AAI. 

This Phase I BSA was performed to evaluate environmental risk and does not include any investigation 
involving business environmental risks. 

The Scope of Work for the Phase I ESA included: 

A visual inspection of the subject site on November 18, 2015, and all improvements thereon to evaluate 
general environmental condit10ns; 

Establishing the present and past land uses at and adjacent to the site through the review of: (1) 
historical aerial photographs; (2) city directories; (3) the local topographic map; (4) local 
Assessment/Building DepartmentlTax records; ( 5) historical Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps, if available; 
( 6) the local Fire Department, and (7) interviews with present and past owners, operators and/or 
occupants, when available; 

A review and evaluation of the following databases of federal, tribal, state, and local known or 
suspected sites of environmental contamination within the applicable ASTM recommended distance 
from the subject site, including but not limited to: (1) The United States Environmental Protection 
Agency's (USEP A's) National Priority List (NPL) records including, current NPL sites, proposed NPL 
sites, de-listed NPL sites and NPL recove1y (Superfund Liens) sites; (2) The USEPA's Comprehensive 
Environmental Response, Compensation and Liability Act (CERCLA) list of known or suspected 
hazardous waste sites; (3) The USEP A's Comprehensive Environmental Response, Compensation and 
Liability Information System (CERCLIS)-No Fmther Remedial Action Planned (NFRAP) list of 
known or suspected hazardous waste sites; (4) The USEPA's Resource Conservation Recovety Act 
(RCRA) Corrective Action Report (CORRACTS) list for facilities that produce small quantities, large 
quantities, or transpmt, store, or dispose (TSD) of hazardous materials that are subject to corrective 
action under RCRA; (5) The USEPA's Resource Conservation Recovet)' Information System (RCRIS) 
Non-CORRACTS notifier list for facilities that generate small quantities, large quantities, or TSD of 

Atwell. LlC 
15002/93 Page6of797 



3.0 Introduction (continued) 
3.2 Scope of Work (continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

hazardous materials; (6) The USEPA's Emergency Response Notification System (ERNS) list for 
reported releases of oil and hazardous substances; (7) USEP A's listin$ of sites with activity use 
limitations (AUL), engineering controls (US Eng. Controls), or sites with mstitutional controls in place 
(US Inst. Controls); (8) USEPA's listing ofBrownfields sites; (9) state and tribal-equivalent, priontized 
listing of known sites of environmental contamination [State Hazardous Waste Sites (SHWS)]; (10) 
state and tribal-equivalent listing of NPL sites; (11) state and tribal-equivalent listing of CERCLA 
sites; (12) state and tribal-equivalent listing of current and formerly licensed and/or unlicensed landfill 
and disposal facilities (SWF/LF); (13) state and tribal-equivalent listing of Leaking Underground 
Storage Tank (LUST) sites; (14) state and tribal-equivalent listins of Rei-1istered Aboveground or 
Underground Storage Tanks (AST/UST); (15) state and tribal-equivalent listing of sites subject to 
engineering controls (Eng Controls); (16) state and tribal-equivalent listing of sites which are subject to 
institutional controls (Inst Controls); (17) state and tribal-equivalent listing of Voluntary Clean-up 
Sites (VCP); (18) state and tribal-equivalent listing of sites listmg of Brownfield sites; (19) proprietary 
and state-specific environmental database sites within one-quaiter mile of the subject site, and 

Atwell has also provided a list of references used to complete the project (Appendix A). 

The Phase I ESA was conducted between the period of November 13, 2015 to December 4, 2015. 

This Phase I ESA was completed by Ms. Rebecca M. Harbison, Environmental Consultant of Atwell, 
under the supervision of Mr. Allan R. Longyear, Project Mana&er and Environmental Professional 
(EP). The EP's involvement includes the project plannmg; supervision; reviewing and interpreting all 
data collected; formation of findings and opinions; rep01t review, and recommendations for any further 
investigations, if warranted. Personnel resumes are included in Appendix B. 

3.3 Significant Assumptions 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, no significant assumptions were made. 

3.4 Limitations and Exceptions 

During the site reconnaissance, interior visual observations were limited due to the lack of power to the 
subject site. These saps, conditions and/or absences of info1mation represent data failure in records 
pertaining to the subJect site. 

The information obtained from external sources, to the extent it was relied upon to form Atwell's 
opinion about the environmental condition of the site, was assumed to be complete and correct. Atwell 
cannot be responsible for the quality and content of inf01mation from these sources. However, based on 
a review of readily available and reasonably ascertainable information, Atwell concluded that these 
limitations/data gaps should not materially limit the reliability of the rep01t and that a thorough 
documentation of the subject site's environmental condition has been conducted. 

3.5 Deviations From the ASTM Standard 

No deviations from the recommended scope of ASTM Standard E 1527-13 or AAI were performed as 
part of this Phase I ESA with the exception of any additions noted in Detailed Scope of Services or any 
additional items addressed in Section 9.0 (Other Environmental Considerations). 

Atwell, LlC 

/5002193 Page 70/797 



3.0 Introduction (continued) 
3.6 Special Terms and Conditions 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Authorization to perform this assessment was given by the client on November 13, 2015. Instructions 
as to the location of the property, access, and an explanation of the property and facilities to be 
assessed were provided by Mr. Adorno Piccinini of Walbridge. 

3.7 Reliance 

Atwell stipulates that, as of the date of the report, the information and opinions included in this Phase I 
ESA may be used and relied upon by Walbridge and Oakland County. 

4.0 Site Description 
4.1 Location and Legal Description 

The subject site is located in the northeast quarter of Section 32, Township 3 North, Range 10 East, in 
the City of Pontiac, Oakland County, Michigan. A legal description (Parcel Number 
64-14-32-235-001) for the subject site is presented in Appendix H. The location of the subject site is 
presented on the Site Location Map in Figure 1 (Appendix C). 

4.2 Site and Vicinity Description 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed the subject site to be comprised of approximately 
1.3-acres of developed land located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. The subject site 
includes one, approximately 145,000-square foot, seven sto1y commercial office building situated in 
the central port10n of the property, with the remaining po1tions consisting of asphalt covered parking 
areas and limited maintained landscaping. The building consists of office space around the perimeter of 
each floor, with the core of the building housing the restrooms, stairwells, elevators, and mechanical 
rooms. The strncture also has a full basement, which houses most of the mechanical equipment as well 
additional office space. The area sun-ounding the site is primarily commercial. The Site Plan View is 
included as Figure 2 (Appendix C). 

4.3 Current Use of Property 

During the site inspection, Atwell observed the subject site to be vacant of occupants and operations. 
The interior of the subject building was observed to be in poor condition, with significant water 
intrnsion and mold growth visible in the basement, sixth floor, and seventh floor. 

4.4 Description of Strnctures and Other Improvements 

With the exception of the subject building, paved parking areas, and public utilities, no other 
improvements are located on the subject site. Refer to Section 6.2 for further mformation. 

Buildin Use Heat Source 
Natural Gas 

T e su ~ect building is conshucte of a concrete aca e over steel framing, wit composite stee -concrete 
floors, aluminum frame windows, and aluminum & steel door assemblies. Interior fm1shes were generally 
observed to be in poor condition (i.e., water damaged or othe1wise destroyed) and include: carpet, 
ceramic tile, and laminate flooring; drywall, tile, and CMU block walls; and acoustic tile and d1ywall 
ceilin s. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page8o/797 



4.0 Site Description (continued) 
4.5 Current Adjoining Property Information 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

The subject site is bordered to the north by West Judson Sh·eet, with the Phoenix Center (a mutli-tenant 
commercial office building and parking strncture) beyond; to the east by South Saginaw Street, with 
First United Methodist Church beyond; to the south by Jackson Street, with a vacant lot beyond; and to 
the west by Woodward Avenue, with the Amh·ak Train Station and railway beyond. During the site 
reconnaissance, Atwell did not observe any RECs associated with the adjacent prope1ties. 

5.0 User Provided Information 
5 .1 Title Records 

Atwell was provided limited title records for the subject site during the course of this Phase I ESA, 
which indicated that the cmTent prope1ty owner for the subject site is Oakland County. Please refer to 
Section 6.2 for current and historical ownership/use of the subject site. 

5.2 Environmental Liens and Activity/Use Limitations 

The client/user indicated that they had no knowledge of any environmental liens or activity/use 
limitations associated with the subject site. 

5.3 Specialized Knowledge 

No specialized knowledge in connection with the current or historical use of the subject site, facility 
operations or adjacent properties was identified by the user/client. 

5.4 Purchase Price and Market Value Comparison 

The user/client stated that the purchase price appears to be lower than the fair market value, based on 
the property being purchased following a foreclosure. 

5.5 Valuation Reduction for Environmental Issues 

No environmental issues were identified by the user/client that could result in property value reduction. 

5.6 Owner, Prope1ty Manager, and Occupant Infmmation 

No other pe1tinent information in connection with the subject site was provided by the owner, the 
prope1ty manager or the occupant. 

5.7 Reason For Performing Phase I 

The Phase I ESA is being conducted for Walbridge as pa1t of environmental due diligence prior to 
prope1ty transfer. The User Provided Infonnation questionnaire is included in Appendix E. 

6.0 Records Review 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources 

Atwell retained EDR of Shelton, Connecticut, to review federal, tribal, state and EDR proprietary 
records related to the subject site and nearby prope1ties within the ASTM approximate mmimum 
search radius (as seen on the table below). However, Atwell typically reviews local, state, tribal or 
federal database records of those sites of known environmental contamination (i.e., SHWS, LUST, 

Atwell, LLC 
/5002/93 Page9of797 



140 South Saginaw Stt·eet 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources ( continued) 

CERCLIS, and NPL sites) within a one-quaiter mile radius of the subject site. Atwell considers sites 
within this specified search radius as having the most potential to impact the subject site. Also, Atwell 
typically reviews local, state, tribal or federal database records of those sites of suspected 
environmental contamination (i.e., UST, Indian UST and RCRA generator sites), which adjoin the 
subject site, or, in the professional opinion of Atwell, are of such nature and proximity to the subject 
site to represent RECs. Atwell's evaluation of RECs includes circumstances where migration of 
hazardous substances or petroleum products in solid or liquid form at the surface or subsurface 
(including vapors) could reach the subject site. 

• The EDR report identified RCRA-NonGen, Facility Index Systems (FINDS), BEA, MI 
Inventmy, and Waste Data System (WDS) listings associated with the subject site. According to 
the report, the subject site was a registered RCRA facility from 1991 through 2005 and no 
regulatory violations have been repotted to date. Records mdicate that two BEA reports were 
prepared for the subject site in 2005 and 2008. A BEA is completed for contaminated propetty in 
Michigan to limit liability for new owners. Atwell submitted a records request to the MDEQ to 
review the BEA reports and determined that elevated levels of volatile organic compounds 
(VOCs) and metals were identified in the subject site soils and groundwater at concentrations 
exceedmg applicable MDEQ criteria. The contamination is associated with historical filling 
station and automobile service operations that occurred on the nmtheast pmtion of the subject site 
in the 1930s through 1950s, as discussed in Section 6.4.2 and 6.4.4. It is the opinion of the EP 
that the documented contamination at the subject site represents an REC. Previous environmental 
reports are completed for the subject site discussed in further detail in Section 6.4.5. 

• EDR also identified 22 sites of known or suspect contamination located within one-qua1ter mile 
of the subject site, with listings that include: UST, LUST, RCRA-CESQG, RCRA-NonGen, MI 
Inventory, BEA, US Brownfields, EDR US Historical Auto Station (EDR US Hist Auto), EDR 
US Historical Cleaners (EDR US Hist Clean), FINDS, and WDS. Based on a review of the EDR 
report, Atwell determined that a majority of the sites have no reported violations or releases, 
achieved Michigan Department of Environmental Quality (MDEQ) approved closure, are located 
hydraulically down or cross gradient to the subject site, or are not located within close proximity 
(i.e., one-eighth mile) of the subject site. Therefore, it is the opinion of the EP that a majority of 
the sites do not represent RECs. The remaining sites are discussed in further detail below. 

• In addition, Atwell reviewed the EDR Orphan Summary (list of sites with inadequate address 
information) and did not identify any sites of known or suspect contamination located within 
one-quarter mile of the subject site. 

• Atwell conducted a preliminaty vapor migration assessment of the property. The purpose of this 
assessment was to determine any potential risk related to volatile constituents associated with 
known soil or groundwater contamination in close proximity to the site building that may 
adversely impact indoor air quality. Based on a review of subsurface investigation reports 
completed for the subject site indicating elevated levels of volatile organic compounds (VOCs) in 
the groundwater at the subject site, it is the opinion of the EP that there is a moderate potential for 
vapor migration concerns to be present on the subject site. Previous environmental repmts 
completed for the subject site are discussed in Section 6.4.5. 

The EDR Radius Report with GeoCheck Report is included in Appendix G. 

Map Findings Summary 

Database 

Atwell, LLC 

15002193 

. 

target Search_ 
Property Distance 

(Miles) 

. <1/8 1/8-1/4 1/4.-1/2 1/2-1 - >l Total 
Plotted 

Page JO o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources (continued) 

NPL 
CERCLIS 
CERCLIS-NFRAP 
CORRACTS 
RCRA-TSDF 
RCRA-LOG 
RCRA-'-'"G 
RCRA-CESOG 
US ENG CONTROLS 
US INST CONTROL 
ERNS 
US BROWNFIELDS 
FINDS X 
EDR US Hist Auto Stat 
RCRA NonGen I NLR X 
SHWS 
SWF7LF 
LUST 
UST 
AST 
AUL 
BROWNFIELDS 
BROWNFIELDS 2 
SWRCY 
BEA X 
INVENTORY X 
PART?0l 
WDS X 
INDIAN LUST 
INDIAN UST 
INDIANVCP 
INDI" "' ODI 
INDIAN RESERV 
EDRMGP 

Site Name: 
Databases: 
Address: 

VACANT LOT 
WDS, LUST, UST 
147 S SAGINAW 

1 
0.5 
0.5 
1 

0.5 
0.25 
0.25 
0.25 
0.5 
0.5 
TP 
0.5 
·1p 

0.125 
0.25 

I 
0.5 
0.5 

0.25 
0.25 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
0.5 
1 

TP 
0.5 

0.25 
0.5 
0.5 
1 
1 

Distance: 
Direction: 

Adjoining beyond South Saginaw 
Northeast 

Elevation: Lower 

0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
2 0 
0 0 
0 0 

NR NR 
0 I 

NR NR 
1 NR 
5 4 
0 0 
() 0 
4 2 
3 2 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
1 5 
7 10 
1 0 

NR NR 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
0 0 
1 0 

0 
0 
0 
0 
0 

NR 
NR 
NR 
0 
0 

NR 
7 

NR 
NR 
NR 
0 
0 
9 

NR 
NR 
3 
0 
0 
1 
5 
14 
I 

NR 
0 

NR 
0 
0 
0 
0 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

0 NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 

I NR I 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 2 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 8 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 10 

0 NR 0 
NR NR () 

NR NR 15 
NR NR 5 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 3 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 12 
NR NR 32 

I NR 3 
NR NR 1 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
NR NR 0 
0 NR 0 
0 NR 1 

Comments: According to the report, the southeast adjacent property (147 South Saginaw Street) is 
listed in the UST, LUST, RCRA-NonGen, FINDS, and WDS databases. Records indicate 
that two, 550-gallon USTs of unknown contents were removed from the property in March 
1998. A release (Leak No. C-0824-96) was reported from one or both of the USTs in 
October 1996 and achieved unrestricted residential closure status in April 1998. Closure 
status indicates that subsurface investigations/corrective actions have been completed to 
render the contaminants to within applicable MDEQ criteria. Based on this information, it 
is the opinion of the EP that the southeast adjacent prope1ty does not represent an REC to 
the subject site. 

Atwell, LLC 
/5002/93 Page 11 o/797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.1 Standard Environmental Records Sources ( continued) 

Site Name: 
Databases: 
Address: 
Distance: 
Direction: 
Elevation: 
Comments: 

GM TRUCK & BUS EAST 
LUST, WDS 
31 E JUDSON ST 
236-feet 
Northeast 
Lower 
Records indicate that a release (Leak No. C-0677-85) was repmted at the northeast 
adjacent property (31 East Judson Street) in November 1988. The release achieved Type B 
closure status in September 1995, which indicates that contaminants were detected above 
laboratmy detection limits but below all ap_Plicable MDEQ criteria. There was no 
information (installation/removal dates, capacity, contents) available pertaining to the 
USTs at the northeast adjacent prope1ty. Based on the closure status, it is the opinion of the 
EP that the n01theast adjacent property does not represent an REC to the subject site. 

6.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources 

Atwell reviewed current and historical files maintained by the City of Pontiac municipal offices for the 
subject site. The review of municipal records was conducted in order to identify possible environmental 
concerns (e.g., suspect building materials, USTs, ASTs, etc.) associated with the subject site. Assessing 
Depattment and Building records indicate that the subject site was formerly developed with a one stmy 
batte1y shop owned by L.M Angleton (1923-1926), and developed with other structures owned by John 
Foster (1927-1928), First National Bank (1935-1941), Sam's Unclaimed Freight Store (1942-1945), 
Fields (1948), City of Pontiac Urban Renewal Project (1963), and Telander Redevelopment and 
Construction (1971-1978). 

The City of Pontiac Buildin$ Department records indicate that the subject site has been occupied by 
multiple tenants since 1983, mcluding" Prudential Life INC (suite 101), Byron and Trerris (smte 201) 
and Wilco Corp show up in 1983. The subject site has been owned by New York Life Insurance 
Company (1981-1986), Lambrecht (1985), Troy Design (1985-1986), Pontiac Place Restaurant (1988), 
Terrice Management (1989), Thrifty Drugs of Pontiac (1991-1993), GM Truck and Bus (1992), Bric 
Inc. (1997), LDM Tech (1999), Nucorp, Inc. D/B/A Manpower Automotive (1995) and UAW - GM 
Legal Services (2007). There was no information on file pe1taining to the current/former presence of 
suspected USTs, ASTs, at the subject site. 

Atwell contacted the City of Pontiac municipal offices to determine the zoning specifications for the 
subject site. The subject property is currently zoned C-2 Downtown. 

Atwell submitted a freedom of information act (FOIA) request to the Waterford Township Fire 
Depa1tment for info1mation regarding current or former USTs or ASTs at the subject site, as well as, 
any hazardous material storage, spill response records or commonly known info1mation that may be 
available from fire depatiment representatives. Fire department records did not identify any items 
indicative of environmental concern for the subject site. 

The subject site is not currently connected to any municipal or public utilities. Municipal sewer and 
water is available through the City of Pontiac, and electricity is available through DTE. According to 
the online Consumers SIMS database, natUl'al gas services were connected to the subject site in 1972 
(when the current buildin\\ was constructed). No records of past heating sources for the historical 
structures were readily available. 

The Oakland County Environmental Health Department (OCEHD) maintain environmental files for 
sites throughout Oakland County. The files contain field inspection reports from city inspectors, 
reported environmental problems, results of right-to-know programs and other miscelfaneous data. 
Atwell submitted a FOIA request to the OCEHD for any information regarding water wells, septic 

Atwell, LLC 
IS00l/93 Page 12 o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.2 Additional Environmental Record Sources (continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

systems, hazardous material storage or any commonly known information that may be available from 
OCEHD representatives. OCEHD indicated that no such records are on file for the subject site. 

Atwell reviewed the MDEQ, Remediation and Redevelopment Division (RRD) Perfected Lien List, 
dated September 24, 2015 (most recent version available), regarding any recorded environmental liens 
for the subject site. Atwell did not identify any RRD environmental liens on file for the subject site or 
parent parcel. 

Interview documentation is included in Appendix I. Records documentation is included in Appendix 
H. 

6.3 Physical Setting Sources 

Atwell reviewed the USGS 7 .5 Minute Topographic Map of the subject site and surrounding area. The 
topographic map reviewed was the 1907, 1943, 1952, 1968, 1973, 1983, and 1997 Pontiac, Michigan 
Quadrangle. The subject site and surrounding areas are depicted as densely developed urban land in the 
1907 through 1997 topographic maps. Notable features depicted include a railroad to the west and a 
church property to the east of the subject site. 

Surface drainage at the subject site appears to be generally to the east/noitheast, towards Clinton River 
and Spring Lake. According to the EDR, Physical Setting Source Summary, no groundwater flow 
direction data has been rep01ied within one q_uarter mile of the subject site. Unless othe1wise noted, the 
surface drainage flow dlfection has been mferred from a review of regional topographical data. 
Site-specific conditions may vaty due to a variety of factors, including geologic anomalies, utilities, 
nearby pumping wells (if present), and other developments. 

According to the United States Depaitment of Agriculture (USDA) online Web Soil Survey, the subject 
site soils are primarily composed of urban land. Urban land has been so developed that soil 
characteristics are undefined. However, review of previous subsurface investigations completed for the 
subject site indicate that the site soils are composed of clayey fill soil underlain by silty clay. 

6.4 Historical Use Infmmation 

6.4.1 Historical Summary 

Based on information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, fire 
insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that the subject 
site has been developed with the cmTent commercial office building since 1972. Prior to 1972, the 
subject site was developed with multiple strnctures (including filling stations, automobile repair 
businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at least 1888 ( as depicted in the Sanborn 
Maps). Several subsurface investigations have been completed by other consultants to address the 
historical automobile service, repair, and filling station operations at the subject site and north 
adjoining propetty. Based on a review of analytical results provided in the most recent BEA prepared 
for the subject site, it is the opinion of the BP that the documented contamination in the site soils and 
groundwater represents an REC. Previous environmental rep01ts completed for the subject site are 
discussed in fmther detail in Section 6.4.5. 

Atwell, LLC 
/5002193 Page 13 o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.4 Historical Use lnfotmation ( continued) 

6.4.2 City Directol'ies 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbl'idge 

Atwell retained EDR to conduct a review of historical cross-index directories on file for the subject site 
and immediately adjoining properties. Bresser's, Cole's, and Polk's Cross-Index Directories compile 
historical addresses for sites located throughout southeastern Michigan. EDR reviewed the Oakland 
County area indexes in approximately five-year intervals for the time period of 1931 to 2013. The EDR 
City Directory Abstract is included in Appendix F. 

During the review of historical address directories, Atwell identified the subject site as being occupied 
by the following: Holland Furnace Company, Shell Petroleum Company, Economx Lunch, Nicholas 
Angelo soft drinks, and private residents ( 1931); Narrin's Service Station, Miller 011 & Gas, Posey & 
Son's auto repairs, Long Geo used cars, Traicoff restaurant (1939); Sucher's Bros filling station, Butch's 
Collision Service/auto repair, GoodY.ear Service Store, Sam's Unclaimed Freight, Milliman used cars 
(1945); Oakland County Gas & 011, H&H Industrial Sewer Cleaners, Bodner paints and linoleum, 
Milliman used car lot, Pete's Lunch (1952); Oakland County Gas & Oil, Seat Cover Mait, Harold's 
Pain & Linoleum, Owens used cars, Pete's Place restaurant (1957); Oakland County Gas & Oil, Pontiac 
Undercoating Auto, Auto Reconditioning Service, Liquidation Mart Used Cars, Pete's Place restaurant 
(1962); and general commercial office, restaurants, and physician's offices from 1977 through 2013. 

The north adjoining property was formerly pait of the subject site and was listed as being occupied by 
various filling stations ( as previously listed above) from 1931 to 1962. The east adjacent property was 
listed as being occupied by various churches from 1931 through 2013, and the west adjacent property 
was either not listed or listed as being occupied by private residents until 2003, when the current bus 
and train station was initially listed. The south adjacent property was listed as being occupied by 
private residents, commercial retail businesses, and auto sales businesses from 1931 to 1962. 

It is the opinion of the EP that city directories have identified the historical automobile service and 
filling station operations at the subject site and north adjacent property as occupants of environmental 
concern. 

6.4.3 Aerial Photos 

Atwell reviewed aerial photographs for the years 1940, 1949, 1956, 1963, 1974, 1980, 1990, 1997, 
2000, 2005, 2010 and 2014 on file with the Oakland County One Stop Shop and DTE Aerial 
Photograph Collection. Aerial photographs are included in Appendix F. 

No evidence of landfilling activities, waste dumping, unexplained excavation, or hazardous material 
storage activities were obse1ved during the review of historical aerial photographs. 

The aerial photograph review is as follows: 

The subject site is depicted as developed with small commercial buildings and paved parking areas in 
the 1940 through 1963 aerial photographs. By 1974, the subject site is depicted as developed with the 
current commercial building, and further developed with the cmTent parking areas in 1980. 

The surroundings properties appear to consist of small commercial buildings, and residential homes in 
the 1940 to 1963 aerial photographs. In 1974 the land n01th and south of the subject site is undeveloped 
and the property to the east is occupied by two large commercial buildings. By 1990, the adjacent 
properties to the north and east are depicted as developed with large commercial buildings and paved 
parking lots. In the 1997 aerial photograph, the east adjacent property appears developed similar to the 
present. The south adjacent prope1ty appears to consist of undeveloped land in the 1974 to 2014 aerial 
photographs. The western adjacent property is depicted as a parkmg lot from 1980 to 2010, and as 
developed with the cmrnnt commercial building in 2014. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 14 o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.4 Historical Use Information ( continued) 

6.4.4 Sanborn/Historical Maps 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Atwell submitted a request to EDR for copies of available Sanborn Fire Insurance Maps that cover the 
subject site and sml'Ounding adjacent properties. These historical maps may provide information 
pertaining to adverse land uses and the presence and/or location of USTs. EDR concluded that 
Sanborn/Fire Insurance Maps for the years 1888, 1892, 1898, 1903, 1909, 1915, 1919, 1924, 1950, and 
1970 were available for the subject site. The Sanborn Maps are included in Appendix F. 

During the review of the historical fire insurance maps, Atwell identified historical filling station and 
auto repair operations (with five associated USTs) at the subject site and north adjoining property. 
Review of previous subsurface investigation repmis and extensive ground penetrating radar (GPR) 
studies indicates that although contamination is present in the site soils and groundwater, historical 
USTs appear to have been removed as part of site redevelopment activities. Refer to Section 6.4.5 for 
finiher discussion regarding previous environmental repmis completed for the subject site. 

A review of the Sanborn Maps is as follows: 

During the review of the historical fire insurance maps, Atwell identified the subject site as developed 
with as many as four residential dwellings and associated outbuildings in the southern portion of the 
property and a lumber yard in the northeastern portion of the property from 1888 to 1903. In addition, a 
public roadway (initially named "Rail Road" and later renamed "Chase Street") is depicted traversing 
east-west through the northern portion of the property from 1888 to 1950. From 1909 to 1915, two 
buildings associated with the lumber yard are depicted overlapping the northern portion of the property, 
and by 1919 only the small building (labeled "auto repair" remains. The 1924 Sanborn Map depicts the 
subject site as developed with a filling station (with two associated USTs) in the northeast portion of 
the property, two commercial storefronts in the eastern and southwestern portions of the prope1iy, a 
residential dwelling in the western portion of the property, and a battery shop and furnace store in the 
central portion of the property. By 1950, the subject site is depicted as developed with two filling 
stations (and five assoc1ated USTs) in the nmiheastern po1iion of the propeiiy, an automobile sales and 
service shop in the nmihern portion of the property, a residential dwelling in the western portion of the 
property, and tln·ee commercial storefronts/restaurants in the central and southern po1iions of the 
prope1iy. The 1970 Sanborn Map depicts the subject site as a vacant, undeveloped lot. 

The east adjacent prope1iy (beyond South Saginaw Street) is depicted as developed with a church 
building from 1888 to 1970. The south adjacent property (beyond West Jackson Street) is depicted as 
developed with residential dwellings and a ~rain elevator company from 1888 to 1950, and as 
undeveloped land in 1970. The west adjoinmg prope1iy appears undeveloped until 1898, when 
residential dwellings and outbuildings appear through 1950. The west adjoining property is depicted as 
undeveloped land in 1970. 

6.4.5 Other Environmental Reports 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the or1p01iunity to review several previous 
environmental repmis completed for the subject site, including: 1) BEA completed by McDowell & 
Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA complete by LFR Levme Fricke (LFR), dated 
November 11, 2005; and (3) Phase II Subsurface Investigation rep01i completed by Hillman 
Environmental Group, LLC (Hillman), dated October 6, 2004. Copies of all or portions of these 
reports are presented in Appendix J. 

RECs identified for the subject site by other consultants include: (I) historical gas station and 
automobile service/repair operations on the nmihern and eastern portions of the property from the 
1920s through 1950s; (2) historical batte1y shop, auto repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the 
eastern portion of the property from the 1920s tln·ough 1950s; (3) a historical UST depicted at the east 
adjacent property in the 1924 Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted at the east adjacent property in the 

AMel/,LLC 

15002193 Page 15 o/797 



6.0 Records Review (continued) 
6.4 Historical Use Information ( continued) 

6.4.5 Other Environmental Reports ( continued) 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

1924 Sanborn Map; and ( 4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals identified in soil and groundwater at 
concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the completion of several subsurface 
investigations. Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater contamination, the subject site 
qualifies as a "facility" as defined in Part 201 of the Natural Resources and Environmental Protection 
Act (NREPA), 1994. It is the opinion of the EP that the documented contamination at the subject site 
represents an REC. In Atwell's professional opinion, the testing completed during the previous 
subsurface investigations did not include a full list of parameters typically associated with automobile 
se1vice/repair shop operations [i.e., solvents, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PNAs)] at each soil 
boring location; thus did not adequately address the historical uses of the subject site. 

7.0 Site Reconnaissance 
7.1 Methodology and Limiting Conditions 

On November 18, 2015, Ms. Rebecca Harbison, Environmental Consultant for Atwell, conducted a 
walking reconnaissance of the subject site. During the site reconnaissance, Atwell evaluated the subject 
site for the potential presence of the following Recognized Environmental Conditions: (I) hazardous 
substances; (2) petroleum products; (3) evidence of the presence of underground storage tanks (USTs); 
(4) evidence of the presence of aboveground storage tanks (ASTs); (5) other suspect containers; (6) 
polychlorinated biphenyl (PCB)-containing equipment; (7) interior or exterior staming/co1Tosion; (8) 
discharge features (i.e., current or former septic/leaching fields, floor drains, oil/water separators); (9) 
pits, ponds or lagoons; (I 0) evidence of excavation and/or landfilling activities; (11) evidence of 
surface soil/surface water stains and/or stressed vegetation; (12) water supply and/or groundwater 
monitoring wells, and (13) obse1vations of adjacent property uses and potential evidence of adverse 
environmental impacts associated with adjoining properties (addressed in Section 4.5). 

The weather condition at the time of the site reconnaissance was raining and approximately SO-degrees 
Fahrenheit. The visual reconnaissance consisted of observing the boundanes of the property and 
systematically traversing the site to provide an overlapping field of view, wherever possible. The 
periphe1y of the on-site strncture was observed along with interior accessible common areas, storage 
and maintenance areas. During the site reconnaissance, interior visual observations were limited due to 
the lack of power to the subject site. Photographs of pertinent site features identified during the site 
reconnaissance are included in Appendix D. 

7 .2 General Site Setting 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed the subject site to be comprised of approximately 
1.3-acres of developed land located at 140 South Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. The subject site 
includes one, approximately 145,000-square foot. seven st01y commercial office building situated in 
the central port10n of the prope1ty, with the remaining portions consisting of asphalt covered parking 
areas and limited maintained landscaping. The Site Inspection Environmental Checklist is included in 
AppendixJ. 

7.3 Site Visit Findings 

7.3.1 Hazardous Substances 

No significant quantities (i.e., greater than typical residential use) and/or bulk storage of hazardous 
substances were identified on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

Atwell, LlC 

/5002193 Page 16 o/797 



7.0 Site Reconnaissance {continued) 
7.3 Site Visit Findings (continued) 

7.3.2 Petl'oleum Products 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

No significant quantities (i.e., greater than typical residential use) and/or bulk storage of petroleum 
products were identified on the subject site dunng the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.3 USTs 

Atwell evaluated the subject site for the possible presence of USTs. Typical indicators of USTs 
include: (1) gas pumps or pump islands; (2) vent pipes; (3) fill ports; or (4) unusual depressions. 
During the site reconnaissance, Atwell did not observe any readily apparent evidence of the 
current/fmmer presence of USTs at the subject site. However, as discussed m Section 6.1 and 6.4.5, 
Atwell is aware of the former presence ofUSTs at the subject site. 

The lack of visible evidence of any other potential USTs and the fact that the individuals and agencies 
identified in this report were not aware of or did not have record of the presence of any other USTs 
does not preclude the possibility that other USTs could be present at the subject site property. Visible 
evidence of USTs, such as fill ports or vent pipes, may have been obscured from view and other USTs 
could have been used at the subject site property without the knowledge of the current owner/operator, 
site contact or government agency. 

7.3.4ASTs 

No readily apparent evidence of ASTs was identified on the subject property during the site 
reconnaissance. 

7.3,5 Other Suspect Containers 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell identified several hundred fluorescent lighting bulbs stored 
within a basement office of the subject building. Fluorescent bulbs often contain hazardous levels of 
mercmy or other metals. If these bulbs are not recycled, they must be tested to verify that they are not 
hazardous waste before disposal as solid waste. If the bulbs are recycled, the waste characterization 
requirements would not apply. Atwell recommends that all fluorescent bulbs and ballasts (if any) be 
properly disposed or recycled in accordance with State and Federal regulations. No other suspect 
containers were identified on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.6 Equipment Likely to Contain PCBs 

Atwell inspected the subject site for the presence of oil-cooled electrical equipment that may contain 
PCBs. During the site recmmaissance, Atwell observed several electrical transformers and two elevator 
mechanical units stored within concrete vaults in the subject building's basement. The vaults were 
filled with water and the transformers were ove1turned and appeared to be in various stages of 
disrepair. Based on the age of the structure (reportedly constructed in 1972), the possibility exists for 
the electrical equipment to contain PCBs. Based on the observed condition of the equipment, it is likely 
that the electrical equipment has leaked onto the nearby concrete surfaces; thus representing an REC. 

7.3.7 Staining/Corrosion 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell observed staining/cmrnsion on and near the electrical 
equipment and elevators located in the subject building's basement. It is the opinion of the EP that 
potential impact to the subsurface environment from leaks and spills of hazardous materials represents 
an REC to the subject site. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 17 o/797 



7.0 Site Reconnaissance (continued) 
7 .3 Site Visit Findings ( continued) 

7.3.8 Discharge Features 

140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

With the exception of floor drains within the lavatories and basement, no discharge features (septic 
systems, catch basins, oil/water separators, etc.) were observed on the subject site during the site 
reconnaissance. 

7.3.9 Pits, Ponds, And Lagoons 

No pits, ponds or lagoons were observed on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.10 Solid Waste Dumping/Landfills 

No readily apparent evidence of solid waste dumping (i.e., unusual mounding, debris piles, or 
depressions), suspect fill material, or landfilling was identified on the subject site during the site 
reconnaissance. 

7.3.11 Stained Soil/Stressed Vegetation 

No stained soil or stressed vegetation was observed on the subject site during the site reconnaissance. 

7.3.12 Wells 

No evidence of water supply or groundwater monitoring wells was observed on the subject prope1ty 
during the site reconnaissance. 

8.0 Interviews 

With the exception of previously mentioned interviews and/or information received from the Client, 
owner, occupants and/or municipal offices, no other interviews were conducted during the course of 
this Phase I ESA. 

9.0 Other Environmental Considerations 
9 .1 Controlled Substances 

The presence of controlled substances on the subject site must be evaluated if the client is applying for 
or has been awarded a grant under CERCLA/EP A or if the property is considered abandoned. 

The term "conh·olled substance" means a chug or other substance, or immediate precursor, included in 
schedule I, II, III, IV, or V of part B of 21 US Code 802. The drugs include but are not limited to 
ephedrine and pseudoephedrine, which are suppressants that are used in common over-the-counter 
weight control and decongestant drugs, as well as, acetone, toluene and other solvents. These 
"conh·olled substances" are used to manufacture various drugs for recreational use. Unusually large 
quantities (i.e., cases of cold tablets, diet pills, unexplained containers of solvents) would be observed 
if the substances were being misused and site use should be taken into account when evaluating for 
"conh·olled substances". The term does not include distilled spirits, wine, malt beverages, or tobacco, as 
those terms are defined or used in subtitle E of the Internal Revenue Code of 1986. 

During the site reconnaissance, Atwell did not observe any evidence for the presence of controlled 
substances on the subject site. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 18 o/797 



9.0 Other Environmental Considerations (continued) 
9.2 Continuing Obligations 

140 South Saginaw Sh"eet 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

Owners or operators of real property may be subject to certain land use restrictions or institutional 
controls as part of continued occupancy of a site. These obligations may include resource restrictions; 
conducting reasonable steps with respect to hazardous substance releases; provide full cooperation, 
assistance, and access to persons that are authorized to conduct response actions or natural resource 
restorations; comply with federal information requests and administrative subpoenas, and provide all 
legally required notices. During the site reconnaissance and review of reasonably ascertainable 
records, Atwell identified the presence of documented contamination at the subject site. Therefore, it is 
the opinion of the EP that the current and/or future site owner may be subject to continuing obligations. 

9.3 Asbestos-Containing Materials 

The scope of se,vices for this Phase I ESA did not include an inspection or sampling of suspect ACMs. 

9.4 Lead-Based Paint 

The scope of se1vices for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation of the presence of lead-based 
paint on the subject site. 

9.5 Radon 

The scope of se1vices for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation for the potential presence of 
Radon in the area of the subject site. 

9.6 Wetlands 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation of suspect wetland areas on 
the subject site. 

9.7 Mold Evaluation 

The scope of services for this Phase I ESA did not include a mold evaluation on the subject site. 

9.8 Items of Non-Compliance 

The scope of se1vices for this Phase I ESA did not include an evaluation of items of non-compliance 
with applicable local, state, or federal regulations. 

9.9 Client-Specific Items 

The scope of se1vices for this Phase I ESA did not include addressing any client-specific items for the 
subject site. 

10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions 
10.1 Report Findings and Opinions 

During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell identified and evaluated several potential environmental 
concerns and it is the opinion of the EP that the following RECs have been identified for the subject 
site: 

Atwell, LLC 
15002/93 Page 19 o/797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions (continued) 
10.1 Report Findings and Opinions ( continued) 

Atwell, LLC 

/5002/93 

• Based on information gathered during the site investigation and a review of aerial photographs, 
fire insurance maps, historical address indexes and municipal records, Atwell concluded that the 
subject site has been developed with the cunent commercial office building since 1972. Prior to 
1972, the subject site was developed with multiple strnctures (including filling stations, 
automobile repair businesses, residential dwellings, and restaurants) back to at least 1888 ( as 
depicted in the Sanborn Maps). Several subsurface investigations have been completed by other 
consultants to address the historical automobile service, repair, and filling station operations at 
the subject site and north adjoining property. Review of previous subsurface investigation rep01is 
and extensive ground penetrating radar (GPR) studies indicates that the historical on-site USTs 
were likely removed as pati of site redevelopment activities. Based on a review of analytical 
results provided in the most recent BEA prepared for the subject site, it is the opinion of the EP 
that the documented contamination in the site soils and groundwater represents an REC. In 
Atwell's professional opinion, the testing completed during the previous subsurface investisations 
did not include a full list of parameters typically associated with automobile service/reP.air shop 
operations [i.e., solvents, polynuclear aromatic hydrocarbons (PNAs)] at each s01I boring 
location; thus did not adequately address the historical uses of the subject site. 

• During the course of this Phase I ESA, Atwell was provided the opportunity to review several 
previous environmental repo1ts comJ?leted for the subject site, including: ( 1) BEA completed by 
McDowell & Associates (McDowell), dated April 22, 2008; (2) BEA completed by LFR Levine 
Fricke (LFR), dated November 11, 2005; Phase II Subsurface Investigation report completed by 
Hillman Environmental Group, LLC (Hillman), dated October 6, 2004. RECs identified for the 
subject site by other consultants include: (I) historical gas station and automobile service/repair 
operations on the 1101thern and eastern portions of the propetiy from the 1920s through 1950s; (2) 
historical battery shop, auto repair shop, and paint/linoleum store on the eastern portion of the 
property from the 1920s through 1950s; (3) a historical UST depicted at the east adjacent 
prope1ty in the 1924 Sanborn Map; historical UST depicted at the east adjacent propetiy in the 
1924 Sanborn Map; and ( 4) elevated levels of VOCs and metals identified m soil and 
groundwater at concentrations exceeding applicable criteria following the completion of several 
subsurface investigations. Based on the demonstrated soil and groundwater contamination, the 
subject site qualifies as a "facility" as defined in Part 20 I of the Natural Resources and 
Environmental Protection Act (NREP A), 1994. 

• Atwell inspected the subject site for the presence of oil-cooled electrical equipment that may 
contain PCBs. During the site recollllaissance, Atwell observed several electrical transformers 
and two elevator mechanical units stored within concrete vaults in the subject building's 
basement. The vaults were filled with water and the transformers were overturned and appeared 
to be in various stages of disrepair. Based on the age of the strncture (rep01iedly conshucted in 
1972), the possibility exists for the electrical equipment to contain PCBs. Based on the observed 
condition of the equipment, it is likely that the electt·ical equipment has leaked onto the nearby 
concrete surfaces; thus representing an REC. 

• During the site recollllaissance, Atwell identified several hundred fluorescent li$hting bulbs 
stored within a basement office of the subject building. Fluorescent bulbs often contam hazardous 
levels of mercmy or other metals. If these bulbs are not recycled, they must be tested to verify 
that they are not hazardous waste before disposal as solid waste. If the bulbs are recycled, the 
waste characterization requirements would not apply. Atwell reco1111nends that all fluorescent 
bulbs and ballasts (if any) be properly disposed or recycled in accordance with State and Federal 
regulations. 

Page 20 o/797 



140 South Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, MI 
Walbridge 

10.0 Phase I Findings/Opinions/Conclusions (continued) 
I 0.2 Conclusions 

Atwell has performed this Phase I ESA in general conformance with the scope and limitations of 
ASTM Practice El 527-13 and AAI specifications for the building and property located at 140 South 
Saginaw Street, Pontiac, Michigan. Any exceptions to, or deletions from, this practice are described in 
Section 3.4 of this report. During the course of this Phase I ESA, the EP identified RECs associated 
with the subject site as previously identified. Therefore, Atwell recommends that a Limited Phase II 
Subsurface Investigation be conducted to determine the nature, extent and materiality of the RECs. In 
addition, Atwell recommends that new owners prepare a Baseline Environmental Assessment within 45 
days of purchase. 

Atwell, LLC 
15002193 Page 21 o/797 



K-TECH ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. 

Mr. Adorno Piccinini 
Walbridge 
777 Woodward Ave 
Suite# 300 
Detroit, Michigan 48226 

Ref: Mold Bulk Sampling & Analysis 
(Vacant Office Building) 
140 S. Saginaw Street 
Pontiac, Michigan 48342 

Dear Mr. Piccinini: 

November 18, 2015 
Project No.: 1511-4659 

This report presents the results of the mold bulk sampling performed at the above referenced 
building in Pontiac, Michigan. Sampling was conducted by K-Tech Environmental 
representative, Rawlins Stivers Jr. on November 16, 2015 and then submitted them to Apex 
Research Inc. for laboratory analysis. The purpose of the bulk sampling was to identify 
mold/fungus spores and determine the existence "if any" of Stachybotrys spores, known as 
"black mold" on the walls and floor debris of the basement and 7th floor of the building. 

Five bulk samples were collected from drywall materials and floor debris consisting of ceiling 
tiles located inside the basement of the building for fungal organism identification. Also, it was 
observed that the drywall located on the 7th floor, north side, contained mold and a sample was 
collected from this area. Sample designations, description and location of the samples, along 
with the laboratory results are included in the table below. 

The bulk samples were analyzed for Microscopic examination using light microscopy analysis at 
600X with Calbera's stain to identify the mold/fungus spores that may be present in the bulk 
samples. Official laboratory results are attached for your reference. 

It was noted that the 7th floor drywall had sustained water damage and now are hosting 
mold/fungus colonies. Water damage materials should be cleaned and environmental conditions 
should be changed to prevent fmther growth of the mold. 

The analytical lab test results for the bulk samples revealed the presence of mold spores, conidia 
or hyphae (Cladosporium, Stachybotrys, Penicillium/Aspergillus and Alternaria) in the form of 
growth with 51 %-75% of the drywall & ceiling tiles debris contains mold spores (please see 
attached lab results). Stachybotrys which sometimes referred to as "black mold" was found in all 
five bulk samples. 

The mold sampling data results presented in this repo1t are indicative of the conditions of the 
building environment, as they existed on the day of the inspection and at the time of sampling 
only. 

19500 Middlebelt Rd. • Suite 111E • Livonia, Ml 48152 • Ph. (248) 426-7600 , Fax (248) 426-7665 



In conclusion, at this time, based on the laboratory test results of the bulk samples, K-Tech 
Environmental recommends that all affected materials be removed and water sustained walls & 
floor areas be cleaned with 5% bleach solution products and anti-fungus solution be applied to 
prevent any mold/fungus growth in the future. 

Also, K-Tech Environmental highly recommends that the workers performing the cleanup must 
wear personal protective equipment including at least half face air purifying respirators with 
HEP A filters during the cleanup operations. 

K-Tech Environmental appreciates the oppottunity to provide you with our services. Should you 
have any questions or require any additional information concerning this report, please do not 
hesitate to contact our office at (248) 426-7600. 

Respectfully submitted, 
K-Tech Environmental 

Nick Kobrossi 
Vice President 

NK/mk 

Attachments 



K-TECH ENVIRONMENTAL CONSULTANTS, INC. 
Bulk Sampling & Analysis for Mold Spores 

Location: 140 S. Saginaw Street, Pontiac, MI 

Project No.: 1511-4659 

Date Collected: November 16, 2015 

SAMPLE DESCRIPTION/LOCATION MOLD TYPE 
# 

1 Bulk Sample/ Basement, Drywall Materials on wall Please 

2 Bulk Sample/ Basement, Drywall Materials on wall See 

3 Bulk Sample/ Basement, Ceiling Materials on floor Attached 

4 Bulk Sample/ Basement, Ceiling Materials on floor Lab 

5 Bulk Sample / 7th floor, Drywall Materials on North wall Test Results 

•Refer to the attached Lab Repott for results. 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. 111 E 
Livonia, Ml 48152 

Lab ID# M19874-1 
Client ID: 1 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

ARL Report # 15-M 19874 
Date Collected: 11/ 16/1 5 
Date Received: 11/16/1 5 
Date Analyzed: 11/ 17/1 5 
Date Reported: 11 / 17/15 

Location: Basement- Wall (Drywall) 
Sample: Bulk 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/1 7/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachyboh)'s 
Cladospori11111 
Hypha/ Fragments 
Penicillium/Aspergil/us 
Altemaria 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Ill SLZA n G tl 

Sflmc fungi, )'el.Sb, molds, arc not ab!.c lo be identified by mi<:roscoric cx;:i.min:lfion, aJI identifiC-Jlions arc presumpli\e and ~oofim,Stion o fJpc."ciJic n~Old.s, fungi, ur ye.ut or bacteria !llhouJJ be \.'\mfinm:d hy 

culturing Al'HX Rcseardt is not responsible for the sample collection or inlt>rprl'latil>n of n.-sult.s. The re.sul~ an; prc.sumplin: anJ anal)•~~ to rc-lkct tho_01.1ndirions al the mom rot tcsttd with unJe-nta.nding that 

resulu may , ·ary ,,ith time and space, Th,c abon::cffli.ficah; of analysis rdates only to the samples lcstcJ a,uJ lo inSUrc the inlegrity ofr(lliulli ina:, ontY~heproduced in full. Li lbility limitt<l hl ..-oi t of analysis. 

Apex Research Laboratories Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48 189 (734) 449-9990, f'ax (734) 449- 999 1. 
Page I ors 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511 -4659 

Reporl to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. 111 E 
Livonia, MI 48152 

A RL Report # l 5-M 19874 
Date Collected: 11/ 16/1 5 
Date Received: 11/ 16/ 15 
Date Analyzed: 11/ 17/15 
Date Reported: 11 /17/15 

Lab ID# M19874-2 
Client ID: 2 
Location: Basement Wall (Drywall) 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachybohys 
Myxomycetes 
Hyphal Fragments 
Penicillium/Aspergillus 
Chaetomi11111 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1,3 
1 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/1 7/ 15 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from larges t to smallest. 

Some fungi, yc.asls, molds, arc not .1blc lo be idcntifo,•d by mi..:msc\Jric i.=camin:uion, all iJeoliitc-ations arc pn:~mrtiYc and confinnation uf spedfic molds, fung,i, or )'<'a.st or baclc-ril sbouJd be contirmcJ by 

cultu ring Al'E..\'. ltcscar,ch is not r<sponsibfo ror the sarnr!c collec tion or in1crpn:.1atit1n ,H~ re.suits . The re.suits arc pr<sun:ir11i,c anJ aoalyn·l to n.-Occi the co~ditirms at 1he momml leslOO wi th uoderstanJing lhJI 

rcsult"l mJ)' \ 'tH)' \\ith lime and sp-a.1i.·c. }OI.:: ah1.1,·cccr1ifo.·4li.; of an:<lysis n:l:110: on!)· to 1hie SJmrles l(".Sft'J ar1J to inwru lhcin11,.wity of~l1-. m~~· only bc~produt.·<.-J in full. U ..1.h ilj[)' llilli!l:<l to cost c,f :m1ly_sis 

Apex Rrsenrch Laboratories Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48189 (734) 449-9990, l'ox (734) 449- 999 1. 
Page2of 5 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. 111 E 
Livonia, Ml 48152 

ARL Report II- 15-M l9874 
Date Collected: 11 / 16/ 15 
Date Received: I 1 / 16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/1 7/15 
Date Reported: 11/17/15 

Lab ID# M19874-3 
Client ID: 3 
Location: Ceiling Tile on Basement Floor 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Stachybohys 
Hypha/ Fragments 
Cladosporium 
Pe11icilliu111/Aspergil/us 
Uloc/adium 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1 
1 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Some fungi. )'~ts. molds, are not ab le 10 be idenlitlC'd by rnicroscori~ ('.'(3..min.:Hion , a.JI idrn tifi'l;ations aru rre.sumrth·c 3.nJ ~mfumation of sp«-ific molds, fungi, <'r ) 'f'.l~t or hlcttri:t should be «.'OO.fin11("J by 

culturing API~ Resc::3.rch is not n:sJ)(\nsibk for the ~pfc t-olk~lion or int1;rpr"·lati•,,1n of ~ult.s, The rci;ults a.re pres:umpth·c and analyzed .to rellccl'Lhe conditions at the momcnl 1csfl'J \\ilh undl~rs1anding thal 

n:-su/1.s. 111ayvary n ith l ime anJ space. Tht: abovccertific;il\; o f anafysi.s 1c'31es only lo thc ! a.mpks lesteJ aod to insun: the integrity \"lf ~ uhs "'!l only he ~c,p~ui:ed in full Li:lbilit)' limited lo cost l1f 3Jlalysis 

-~ ,, r.;. .... ·~ ... 

Apex Resenrch L~boratories Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48 189 (734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449- 9991 
Page 3 of5 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, lnc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. I I IE 
Livonia, Ml 48152 

ARL Report ff 15-M 19874 
Date Collected: 1 I/ 16/15 
Date Received: 11 / 16/ 15 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
Date Reported: 11/1 7/15 

Lab ID# M19874-4 
Client ID: 4 
Location: Ceiling Tile on Basement Floor 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

Ulocladium 
Cladosporium 
Hyphal Fragments 
Acremonium 
Stachybollys 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 
1,3 
1,3 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11 /17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Some fung.i, yeasts, mo!ds, are no t able to be ~kntificJ by mlcros~pic l-:-taminati<m, all identifications a.re r reaimptivt and confumtttion of spccifo.: mtllJ s, fung~ or y,·ast or bacteri1 s hould ht ronfirmc:J by 

rulluring. APEX lh:scan:.h is not n:s poruibk for the samph: rnlkccion or inll:rpretati(ln o f rc_suhs . TI1e n-sulls arc presumplh"\.· aoJ analyzed to n"llct't tJ1c conditions a11he m\lmrot 1c.s1cJ \\ith ui:iJ c.Nl31lding Iha.I 

rnull.s ma)' \'at)' wi th lime anJ SJl3'"°· lbl!abovc(crt ifkah: o f :inal)·sis rd.31~ onJy to lhc j,llmples tc..ste<l ;1nd lo insure 1h1; inl~ ily o f rcsuhs m.ay only be n·produccJ in full. l.iability limited to cosl of an:t.l)•sis . ~-. . 
•-:' 0 

~ ./ . .. .• · 0-.. 

Apex Resenrrh La_boratorics Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48189 (734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449- 999 1. 
Page 4 of5 



Certificate of Laboratory Analysis 
Test Method, Pollen/Fungal/Dust Mite Analysis 

Project: 140 S. Saginaw St. Pontiac 
Project#: 1511-4659 

Report to: 
Mr. Nick Kobrossi 
K-Tech Environmental Consultants, Inc. 
19500 Middlebelt Rd, Ste. 111 E 
Livonia, MJ 48152 

ARL Report # 15-M 19874 
Date Collected: 11/ 16/15 
Date Received: 11/16/15 
Date Analyzed: 11/17/15 
Date Reported: 11/ 17/ 15 

Lab ID# M19874-5 
Client ID: 5 
Location: 7th Floor (Drywall N Office) 
Sample: Bulk 
Type: Tape 

Genus/Particle Observed 

StachybollJ1s 
Ulocladiwn 
Hyphal Fragments 
Cladosporium 

Observations: 

Comments 

1,3,8 
1,3,8 
1,3 
1,3 

Image of Sample 
Date: 11/17/15 

Magnification: 600x 

Mold Rating: 4 

Genera are listed according to amount observed, from largest to smallest. 

Some fungi, )'ea!ls , mo!ds, an: no1 able lo be it.lcntifk d h}• microscopic cxamin:lfioo, 3.11 idc-otificat ion.s an: p~simpfae and ccnfirma lion of specific mu!J s, fungi, o r )'t'l.."-1 o r bactcri~ should be oonfirm eJ b} 

colluring APEX Rc.scan:h i~ nol rci;,ponsible for lhe sample; (."olkction or int('rJ'lrci3Lion of r.:sufls . 'lhc rl.-sulls are presumptive :ind :an :iJyz-..-J tn rctk~l the C(mdilion~ at the monll'n l ltsla.l wi th unJcr,.tanJing thal 

f'C.."'Ulls moy V3.I)' wi th l ime and sp:scc. ·inc a.tto, '.: \."ertificatc of analysis rd af'"5 tinly lo thl.'. ~ pies lcsteJ and to inAm.· 1hci~ttgri1y o r rcwl1.-. m3y only be rern~uccd in full. Liab ility lim ited to rus t of an:ilysis. 
• ~'1- i 

Apex Rrsrarch La_boratorics Inc., 11054 Hi Tech Drive, Whitmore Lake, Ml 48 I 89 (734) 449-9990, Fax (734) 449- 9991 
Page 5 of5 



Mold Spore Rating 

Mold Description Interpretation 
Rating 

No 1-.fold Spore, Hyphae, The sample consists of environmental debris that is not 
0 Conidia were detected microscopically iden tified with mold or fungi. 

Trace amount of mold The sample consists of environmental debris ,vith 
l spores, conidia or hyphae random appearances of mold debris. 

present 
Up lo 25% of the material The sample consists of environmental debris with a 

2 0 11 the bulk samples arc noticeable amount of mold present. A consistent 
mold spores, conidia or accumulation (.rom a nearby mold source. 
hvohae 
26%-50% of the material The sample consists of environmental debris 

3 on the bulk sample are intermingled with mold that may or may not be in a.· 
mold spores, conidia or growth phase. 
hyphae 
51%-75% of the material - The sample consists of a mold growth that has some 

4 on the bulk sample arc environmental dcbrb. 
mold spores, conidia or 
hyphae 
>75% of the material on The sample consi~:ts primarily of mold or relaled 

5 Lhe bulk sample are mold structures indicating a colony o [ established mold. 
spores, conidia or byphae 

Co111ments For Mold Bulk Re orts 
J. This is a known allergen. 

2 . These are known allergens. 

3. There is accttlllttlation observed in this sample. 

4 . There is an amplification of mold in this sample. 

5. No mold was observed. 

6. Heavy debr is notcd,in sample. 

7. Culturing required for positive identification. 

8. The presence of fruiting structures observed in Lliis sample sugges ts 

possible fu ngal contam ination or growth. 

9. Growth was observed. 

Jo. There was a presence of loose fungal spores which can be considered 

., as background, mosl like ly in dust accumulations. 



RESOLUTION 
#6 



(' 

) 
l 

STATE OF MICHIGAN (. -
COUNTY OF OAKLAND c-, 

r 
rn 

CITY OF PONTIAC ~ 
. ' 

RESOLUTION CONCURRING WITH THE PROVISIONS OF 
A BROWNFIELD PLAN ADOPTED BY THE OAKLAND COUNTY 

BROWNFIBLD REDEVELOPMENT AUTHORITY FOR THE 
140 SOUTH SAGINAW STREET 

RE CI T AT I O N S: 

,._, 
= 
u::J 

c..... 
., ,.. •· 

:l>• iil % 
I C) 
+ I~ 

< 
~ 1·1·1 

9 1.::i 

~ 

WHEREAS, the Oakland County Board of Commissioners, pursuant to and in accordance with the 
provisions of the Brownfield Redevelopment Financing Act, being Act 381 of the Public Acts of the State of 
Michigan of 1996, as amended (the "Act"), have established a Brownfield Redevelopment Authority and Board 
(OCBRA) to facilitate the clean-up and redevelopment of Brown:fields within Oakland County' s communities; 
and 

WHEREAS, the property located at 140 South Saginaw (Property), a site in the City of Pontiac is an 
environmental hazard, a "facility' under state statute; and 

WHEREAS, a Brownfield clean-up and redevelopment plan (the "Plan") has been prepared to restore the 
environmental and economic viability to this parcel which the OCBRA has reviewed and approved; and 

WHEREAS, pursuant to OCBRA by-laws, a local committee has been appointed, participated in 
discussions regarding the proposed plan and project, reviewed the plan, and recommends its approval; and 

WHEREAS, the OCBRA, pursuant to and in accordance with Section 13 of the Act, shall consider 
recommending that the Oakland County Board of Commissioners approve the Brownfield Plan to be carried out 
within the City of Pontiac, relating to the redevelopment of 140 South Saginaw; and 

WHEREAS, the City has reviewed the Plan, and have been provided a reasonable opportunity to 
express theii- views and recommendations regarding the Plan in accordance with Sections 13(13) of the Act; and 



NOW THEREFORE BE IT RESOLVED THAT, the City of Pontiac hereby concurs with the provisions 

of the Plan including approval of the Plan by the Oakland County Board of Commissioners and implementation 

of the Plan by the Oakland County Brownfield Redevelopment Authority. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THA Tshould any secliou, clause or phrase of this Resolution be declared 

by the courts to be invalid, the same shall not affect the validity of this Resolution as a whole nor any part thereof 
other than the pa11 so declared to be invalid. 

BE IT FURTHER RESOLVED THAT all resolutions or parts of resolutions in conflict with any of the 

provisions of this Resolution are hereby repealed. 

AYES: 
NAYS: 
ABSTENTIONS: 
ABSENT: 

CERTIFICATION 

It is hereby ce11ified that the foregoing Resolution is a trne and accurate copy of the Resolution adopted 
by the City Council of the City of Pontiac at a meeting duly called and held on the __ day of November, 2018. 

CITY of PONTIAC 

By: _______________ _ 
Garland Doyle, INTERIM CLERK 



RESOLUTION 

#7 



MEMORANDUM 
City of Pontiac 

Controller's Office 
47450 Woodward Avenue 
Pontiac, Michigan 48342 

Telephone: (248) 758-3 118 
Fax: (248) 758-3 197 

DATE: 01/16/2019 

TO: Honorable Mayor and City Council 

FROM: Danielle Kelley, Plante & Moran - Controller's Office 

THROUGH: Jane Bais DiSessa - Deputy Mayor 

SUBJECT: Budget amendment FY 2018-2019 - Phoenix Center settlement payment 

After reviewing our budgeted appropriations for the FY 2018-2019 (current year) we have 
determined that the appropriations in the General Fund need to be increased by $3,550,000 due 
to the payment executed on 11/15/2018 in relation to the Phoenix Center litigation settlement 
agreement. 

Initial payments in accordance with the settlement agreement were as follows: 

$1,750,000 
$1,750,000 
$ 350,000 
$ 700,000 
$4,550,000 
($1,000,000) 
$ 3,550,000 

Ottawa Towers II, LLC 
North Bay Drywall, Inc. 
Final attorney fees 
First installment of 5 year amortized payment to North Bay Drywall, Inc. 
Total due at settlement 
Insurance coverage by MMRMA 
Paid through City funds 

The increased appropriation will be funded by use of the accumulated fund balance in the 
General Fund. This fund balance was assigned for in the audited fiscal year 2018 financial 
statements and will not cause the General Fund to be in violation of the fund balance policy. 

If Council agrees with the budget amendment above, then the following resolution would be in 
order: 

Whereas, the City of Pontiac timely approved the 2018-2019 budget on June 8, 2018, and; 



Whereas, payments due in regards to the Phoenix Center settlement in the amount of $3,550,000 
were not known at the time the 2018-2019 budget was approved, and; 

Whereas, there is a need to increase appropriations in the amount of $3,550,000 in general 
government appropriations in relation to this payment, and; 

Whereas, the Mayor is proposing to the City Council to increase general government 
appropriations for the current fiscal year 2018-2019 for the General Fund in the amount of 
$3,sso;ooo for the Phoenix Center as necessary to fully account for this fiscal year expenditure in 
this fund, and; 

Whereas, the increased appropriations will not cause the fund balance in the general fund to go 
below the policy mandated thresholds. 

Now therefore, be it resolved that the City Council of the City of Pontiac approves the budget 
amendment in the amount of $3,550,000 for the fiscal year 2018-2019 for the Phoenix Center 
litigation payment as requested by the Mayor and detailed in the attachment labeled exhibit A. 

2 



EXHIBIT A 
General Fund - 101 2018-2019 2018-2019 
ESTIMATED REVENUES Current budget Proposed Amendment Amended _[ludget 

Property Taxes 7,912,643 7,912,643 
Income Taxes 13,450,000 13,450,000 
Licenses and Permits 195,000 195,000 
Federal Grants 115,000 115,000 
State Grants 9,962,707 9,962,707 
Charges for Se,vlces 1,115,600 1,115,600 
Fines and Forfeits 108,000 108,000 
Interest and Rents 376,000 376,000 
Other Revenue 2,433,704 2,433,704 
Transfers In and Other Uses 240,000 240,000 

TOTAL ESTIMATED REVENUES 35,908,654 35,908,654 

APPROPRIATIONS 

General Government 5,286,826 3,550,000 8,836,826 
Public Safety 20,009,581 20,009,581 
Public Works 2,681,356 2,681,356 
Health and Welfare 150,000 150,000 
Community and Economic Development 2,439,432 2,439,432 
Recreation and Culture 700,610 700,610 
Other Functions 2,452,662 2,452,662 
Transfers Out and Other Uses 2,188,182 2,188,182 

TOTAL APPROPRIATIONS 35,908,649 3,550,000 39,458,649 

General Fund 

NET REVENUES/APPROPRIATIONS 5 (3,550,000) (3,549,995) 

Audited- Nonspendable fund balance FY 18 15,278 15,278 
Audited - Committed fund balance FY 18 3,200,000 3,200,000 
Audited - Assigned fund balance FY 18 3,550,000 
Audited - Unassigned fund balance FY 18 10,593,924 10,593,929 
Estimated fund balance 2019 17,359,207 13,809,207 

Unassigned fund balance as a percentage of expenditures 30% 27% 
Fund Balance policy 15% 15% 

3 


	20190118155518364
	20190118155621729
	20190118155717953
	20190118155755392
	20190118155908987
	20190118155951569



